

UNIVERSIDADE D COIMBRA

Luana Madalena Oliveira da Silva de Sousa

PERIPHERAL IMMUNE STATUS OF TRABECTEDIN VERSUS ANTHRACYCLINE-BASED CHEMOTHERAPY IN SOFT TISSUE SARCOMA

Dissertação no âmbito do Mestrado em Bioquímica orientada pelo Dr. Paulo Rodrigues Santos e pelo Professor Doutor Paulo Fernando Santos e apresentada à Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade de Coimbra

Outubro de 2021



Luana Madalena Oliveira da Silva de Sousa

PERIPHERAL IMMUNE STATUS OF TRABECTEDIN VERSUS ANTHRACYCLINE-BASED CHEMOTHERAPY IN SOFT TISSUE SARCOMA

Dissertação no âmbito do Mestrado em Bioquímica orientada pelo Dr. Paulo Rodrigues Santos e pelo Professor Doutor Paulo Fernando Santos e apresentada à Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade de Coimbra

Outubro de 2021

Agradecimentos / Acknowledgements

A presente dissertação representa muito mais do que apenas um projeto, representa o encerrar de um percurso académico, durante o qual detive o privilégio de contar com o apoio de diversas pessoas, sem as quais este trabalho não seria possível.

Em primeiro lugar gostaria de agradecer ao meu orientador, Dr. Paulo Rodrigues Santos, pela oportunidade de integrar o grupo de investigação do Laboratório de Imunologia e Oncologia do Centro de Neurociências e Biologia Celular da Universidade de Coimbra. Obrigada por toda a partilha de conhecimento e entusiasmo, por ter depositado em mim confiança e liberdade, e pela disponibilidade e apoio que demonstrou. Aqui lhe exprimo a minha gratidão.

Agradeço também ao meu orientador interno, Professor Doutor Paulo Fernando Santos, pela total disponibilidade quando solicitada.

Estendo os meus agradecimentos ao Professor Doutor José Manuel Casanova, diretor da Unidade de Tumores do Aparelho Locomotor (UTAL) do Centro Hospitalar e Universitário de Coimbra (CHUC) e aos Drs. Paulo Freitas Tavares e Joana Rodrigues, responsáveis pela componente clínica deste trabalho. Agradeço toda a colaboração e apoio fundamentais.

Um especial agradecimento à mestre Jani Sofia Almeida, cujo apoio foi fulcral ao longo de todo o ano. Um sincero obrigada pela dedicação, paciência, companhia e ajuda incondicional.

Agradeço igualmente a todos os meus amigos pela inesgotável amizade e pelo constante incentivo, não podendo deixar de salientar a Simaura e a Sofia. Obrigada pela vossa sincera amizade.

Gostaria ainda de agradecer ao Hugo por todo o apoio, carinho e, acima de tudo, pela amizade durante todos estes anos.

Por último gostaria de dirigir um agradecimento à minha família, em especial aos meus pais, irmã, tia e avós. Obrigada por me terem ajudado a crescer e pelo esforço constante para que eu possa seguir os meus sonhos. Um obrigado nunca será suficiente. Dirijo ainda um agradecimento especial à minha mãe pela inigualável dedicação, apoio, preocupação e amor incondicional. Mãe, a ti dedico este trabalho.

Resumo

A avaliação do *status* imunológico de doentes com cancro tem sido o foco de vários estudos. No entanto, o seu valor de prognóstico ainda não é claro em doentes com sarcomas de tecidos moles (STS). Além disso, a maioria dos estudos tem como foco a análise imunológica apenas no microambiente tumoral e não considera o efeito da terapia.

O presente estudo teve como objetivo comparar o efeito de terapias baseadas em trabectedina *versus* antraciclinas no *status* imunológico no sangue periférico de doentes com STS. Foi também objetivo avaliar os efeitos do tratamento de longa duração com trabectedina (>20 ciclos), de modo a compreender melhor o seu efeito imunomodulador. Por último, a capacidade preditiva da sobrevida global dos elementos do *status* imunológico foi avaliada.

A análise da frequência e do reportório de células imunes foi realizada por citometria de fluxo, a expressão de genes relacionados com a resposta imunitária foi quantificada por PCR em tempo real e, para a quantificação dos níveis de fatores imunes solúveis, foi utilizada a tecnologia *Multiplex Analyte Profiling* (xMAP®).

Os resultados mostraram diferenças no status imunológico dos doentes com STS quando as terapias e o número de ciclos de trabectedina foram comparados. Nos doentes submetidos a terapias baseadas em trabectedina, os níveis de células T duplas negativas, células T CD4 ativadas, células T reguladoras de memória, células Natural Killer expressando PD-1 e a expressão dos genes IL1B, FCGR3A e SELL foram encontrados aumentados quando comparados com os doentes submetidos a terapias baseadas em antraciclinas. Pelo contrário, os níveis das células T CD4 naïve, early myeloid-derived supressor cells (e-MDSC) e os níveis de expressão dos genes CCL3 e CCL4 foram encontrados diminuídos. Quando analisámos o efeito do tratamento de longa duração (>20 ciclos) com trabectedina, os níveis das células CD56^{dim} Natural Killer, das células T duplas positivas, os níveis solúveis de programmed death-ligand 2 (PD-L2) e B7-H2, e os níveis de expressão de CXCL1 foram encontrados aumentados quando comparados com os pacientes submetidos a ≤20 ciclos de trabectedina. Pelo contrário, as células dendríticas plasmacitóides, as células CD3^{brigh} NKT-like ativadas e a expressão de FGF2 foram encontradas diminuídas. Considerando o valor prognóstico dos fatores com diferenças estatisticamente significativas, encontrámos os níveis solúveis elevados de PD-L2 e B7-H2 associados a uma sobrevida global mais longa.

Em suma, estes resultados demonstraram o impacto da trabectedina no *status* imunológico dos doentes com STS. Os resultados sugerem ainda que os níveis de PD-L2 e o B7-H2 no plasma podem vir a ser usados como biomarcadores preditivos de bom prognóstico em doentes com STS submetidos a terapias de trabectedina de longa duração. Estudos posteriores com maior número de doentes serão necessários para confirmar os dados preliminares do presente trabalho.

Palavras-chave: sarcoma dos tecidos moles; trabectedina; antraciclinas; monitorização imunológica; imunofenotipagem; citocinas; quimiocinas; fatores de crescimento; *immune checkpoints*; expressão génica.

Abstract

The assessment of the immunological *status* of cancer patients has been the focus of several studies. Yet, its prognostic value in soft tissue sarcomas (STS) remains unclear. In addition, most studies focused only on the analysis of the tumor microenvironment (TME) and did not consider patient therapy.

The present study analyzed peripheral blood from patients with STS in order to compare the effects of trabectedin with anthracycline-based therapy on the immunological *status*. To better understand the immunomodulatory role of trabectedin-based therapies, we assessed the immunological *status* considering the duration of therapy (>20 cycles *versus* \leq 20 cycles). In addition, the predictive role of the peripheral immune elements, considering the patient therapy, was also evaluated.

We analyzed the repertoire and frequency of immune cells using flow cytometry, the expression of immune-related genes was performed by real-time PCR, and the quantification of soluble immune-related factors by Multiplex Analyte Profiling (xMAP®) tecnology.

The results showed differences in the immunological *status* of STS patients when the therapies and the number of trabectedin cycles were compared. The levels of doublenegative T cells activated CD4 T cells, memory regulatory T cells, PD-1 Natural Killer cells, and the expression of IL1B, FCGR3A, and SELL were found increased in the group of patients who had undergone trabectedin-based therapy, when compared to anthracycline-based therapy. On the contrary, the levels of *naïve* CD4 T cells, early myeloid-derived suppressor cells (e-MDSC), and the expression of CCL3 and CCL4 were found decreased. When we analyzed the patients on long-term trabectedin therapy (>20 cycles), the frequencies of CD56^{dim} Natural Killer (NK) cells and double-positive T cells, the levels of soluble programmed death-ligand 2 (PD-L2) and B7-H2, and the expression of CXCL1 were found increased when compared with ≤20 cycles of trabectedin. Contrary, plasmacytoid dendritic cells, activated CD3^{brigh} Natural Killer T-like cells, and the expression of FGF2 were decreased. Concerning the prognostic value of the immunerelated factors statistically altered, we found that higher levels of the soluble immune checkpoints PD-L2 and B7-H2 were correlated with longer overall survival.

In conclusion, these results suggest an impact of trabectedin-based therapy on the immunological *status* of STS patients. Moreover, the levels of PD-L2 and B7-H2 in

plasma could be used as good predictive biomarkers for STS patients undergoing longterm trabected in therapy. Further studies with a larger number of patients will be necessary to confirm the preliminary data of the present study.

Keywords: soft tissue sarcoma; trabectedin; anthracyclines; immune monitoring; immunophenotyping; cytokines; chemokines; growth factors; immune checkpoints; gene expression.

Table of Contents

A	gradeci	imentos / Acknowledgements	I
R	esumo .		V
A	bstract	L	VII
L	ist of Fi	igures	XI
L	ist of Te	-9	XIII
•			VIII
A	DDrevia	ations	A V
1	Intr	oduction	
	1.1	The Immune System	
	1.1.1	The Innate Immunity	4
	1.1.2	The Adaptive Immunity	9
	1.2	Immuno-Oncology	
	1.2.1	Interactions cancer-immune system.	
	1.2.2	Immunotherapy	13
	13	Soft Tissue Sarcoma	15
	131	Classification and diagnosis	15
	1.3.2	Soft Tissue Sarcoma Current Therapies	
	14	Soft Tissue Sarcoma and the Immune System	19
	141	Immunotherany in STS	
	1.4.2	Immune Monitoring in STS	
2			25
2	Obje	ectives	
3	Mat	terial and Methods	
	3.1	Study Design	
	3.2	Flow Cytometry	
	3.2.1	Whole blood staining and sample acquisition	41
	3.2.2	Analysis of immune cells populations	42
	3.3	Quantification of immune-related gene expression	
	3.3.1	Sample preparation	48
	3.3.2	RNA isolation, quantification, and purity assessment	48
	3.3.3	cDNA synthesis	49

	3.3.4	Gene expression analysis	
	3.3.5	Analysis and quantification	
	3.4	Multiplex Analyte Profiling (xMAP) of plasma	
	3.4.1	Sample preparation	51
	3.4.2	Assay protocol	
	3.4.3	Analysis and quantification	
	3.5	Statistical analysis	
4	Resu	ılts	57
	4.1	Immunophenotyping of STS patients according to treatment	57
	4.1.1	CD4/CD8, activated, and memory T cell subsets	
	4.1.2	Natural Killer and Natural Killer T-like cells	60
	4.1.3	Dendritic cells	61
	4.1.4	Regulatory T cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells	
	4.2	Immune-related gene expression profiling	63
	4.3	Plasmatic levels of soluble immune-related factors	67
5	Disc	ussion	71
	5.1	Immunophenotyping of STS patients according to therapy	72
	5.1.1	CD4/CD8, activated and memory T cell subsets	72
	5.1.2	Natural Killer and Natural Killer T-like cells	74
	5.1.3	Dendritic cells	75
	5.1.4	Regulatory T cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells	76
	5.2	Immune-related gene expression profiling	77
	5.3	Plasmatic levels of soluble immune-related factors	79
6	Con	clusion	85
R	eferenc	es	
C	ınnlam	entary Material	113

List of Figures

Figure 1 | Cancer and the immune system.

Figure 2 | Chemical structure of trabectedin.

Figure 3 | Expression levels of immune cells subtypes, cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and soluble receptors and their prognostic value in STS.

Figure 4 | Prognostic value of immune checkpoints in STS.

Figure 5 | Studies correlating the expression of immune-related genes with the patient prognosis in STS.

Figure 6 | T cells gate strategy.

Figure 7 | Ths and Tcs gate strategy.

Figure 8 | Tregs gate strategy.

Figure 9 | B cells gate strategy.

Figure 10 | NK cells and NKT-like cells gate strategy.

Figure 11 | Monocytes and DCs gate strategy.

Figure 12 | MDSC gate strategy.

Figure 13 | Major populations of leucocytes and lymphocytes in the ANTH *vs* TRAB and TRAB < 20 *vs* TRAB > 20 group of patients.

Figure 14 | T cells in the ANTH vs TRAB and TRAB ≤ 20 vs TRAB > 20 group of patients.

Figure 15 | NK cells in the ANTH *vs* TRAB and TRAB ≤ 20 *vs* TRAB > 20 group of patients.

Figure 16 | NKT-like cells in the ANTH *vs* TRAB and TRAB≤20 *vs* TRAB>20 group of patients.

Figure 17 | DC in the ANTH vs TRAB and TRAB <20 vs TRAB >20 group of patients.

Figure 18 | Suppressive cells in the ANTH *vs* TRAB and TRAB ≤ 20 *vs* TRAB>20 group of patients.

Figure 19 | Expression of immune-related genes in ANTH vs TRAB patients.

Figure 20 | The effect of the number of trabected in cycles in the expression of immunerelated genes.

Figure 21 | The effect of the number of trabected in cycles in the levels of soluble immune-related factors.

Figure 22 | The effect of therapy and number of trabectedin cycles in the peripheral immunological status of STS patients.

List of Tables

Table I | World Health Organization classification of STS.

Table II | Completed Clinical Trials for Immunotherapy in Soft Tissue Sarcoma.

Table III | Demographic and clinicopathological composition of the cohort included in this study.

Table IV | Eight-color antibody panel.

Abbreviations

ANTH	Group of patients who had undergone anthracycline-based therapy
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
BTLA	B- and T-lymphocyte attenuator
CCL2	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2
CCL5	Chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5
cDC	Conventional dendritic cell
cDC1	Conventional dendritic cell type 1
cDC2	Conventional dendritic cell type 2
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CNRQ	Calibrated normalized relative quantification
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4
DC	Dendritic cell
DN	Double negative (T cell)
DP	Double positive (T cell)
e-MDSC	early myeloid-derived suppressor cells
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EMA	European Medicines Agency
FDA	United States Food and Drug Administration
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FSC	Forward scatter
FSC-A	Forward scatter area
FSC-H	Forward scatter height
G-CSF	Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
HLA-DR	Human leucocyte antigen-DR isotype
ICOSL	Inducible co-stimulatory ligand
IDO-1	Indoleamine-pyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase 1
IFN	Interferon
IgD	Immunoglobulin D
IL	Interleukin
IRF4	Interferon regulatory factor 4

IRF8	Interferon regulatory factor 8
LAG3	Lymphocyte-activation gene 3
LIF	Leukemia inhibitory factor
M-CSF	Macrophage-colony stimulating factor
M-MDSC	Monocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells
M1	Classically activated or inflammatory (macrophage)
M2	Alternatively activated or anti-inflammatory (macrophage)
MDSC	Myeloid-derived suppressor cells
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NK	Natural killer
NY-ESO-1	New York esophageal squamous cell carcinoma-1
OS	Overall survival
PAP-GM-CSF	Prostatic acid phosphatase GM-CSF
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PCA	Principal component analysis
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PD-1	Programmed death-1 receptor
PD-L1	Programmed death-ligand 1
PD-L2	Programmed death-ligand 2
pDC	Plasmacytoid dendritic cell
PMN-MDSC	Polymorphonuclear myeloid-derived suppressor cell
PTX3	Pentraxin 3
RGMB	Repulsive guidance molecule B
RIG	Retinoic acid-inducible gene
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
Sirpa	Signal regulatory protein α
SSC	Side scatter
STS	Soft tissue sarcomas
TAM	Tumor-associated macrophages
TAN	Tumor-associated neutrophils
Tc	Cytotoxic T cell
TCGA	The Cancer Genome Atlas

TCR	T-cell antigen receptor
Th	T helper
TIGIT	T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains
TILs	Tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes
Tim-3	T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TME	Tumor microenvironment
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TRAB	Group of patients who had undergone trabected in-based therapy
TRAB>20	Group of patients who completed >20 trabected in cycles
TRAB≤20	Group of patients who completed ≤20 trabectedin cycles
TRAIL	Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
Tregs	Regulatory T cells
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WHO	World Health Organization
xMAP	Multiplex Analyte Profiling
APRIL	A proliferation-inducing ligand
BAFF	B-cell activating factor
BLC	B lymphocyte chemoattractant
ENA	Epithelial neutrophil activating peptide
I-TAC	Interferon-inducible T cell alpha chemoattractant
МСР	Monocyte chemotactic protein
MDC	Macrophage-derived chemokine
MIF	Macrophage migration inhibitory factor
MIG	Monokine induced by gamma interferon
TSLP	Thymic stromal lymphopoietin
TWEAK	TNF-related weak inducer of apoptosis
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
IP-10	Interferon gamma-induced protein 10
MIP	Macrophage inflammatory protein
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
NGF	Nerve growth factor
SDF	Stromal cell-derived factor

SCF	Stem cell factor
GITR	Glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor
HVEM	Herpes virus entry mediator
MIC	MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence
PVR	Poliovirus receptor
TACTILE	T Cell-activated increased late expression protein
ULBP	UL16 binding protein
TIMD	T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain containing
VISTA	V-domain Ig suppressor of T cell activation

Chapter **J INTRODUCTION**

1 Introduction

1.1 The Immune System

It is clear that we need a defense mechanism to protect our bodies from the constant aggressions that we are exposed to. Simplistically, this defense is composed of 3 levels. The first, immediate, consists of anatomic and physical barriers, such as intact skin, vigorous mucociliary clearance mechanisms, low stomach pH, and bacteriolytic lysozyme in tears, saliva, and other secretions^{1,2}. Any pathogen that has the ability to overcome this first level encounters two further ones, the innate induced and the adaptive system^{1,3}.

Immunologists have been trying to uncover the complex physiological processes involved in an immune response, proposing diverse theories over the decades⁴. First, Burnet proposed the clonal selection theory, where the antigen selects the appropriate cell to bind to, depending on the antibody receptor on the cell surface, promoting the cell proliferation and the specific antibody production⁵. At that time, immunology was very different from what is today, comprising mostly antibody production and specificity⁶. The view of the immune system as an immune network of interacting lymphocytes and antibodies was first described in the idiotypic network theory⁷. However, both theories only described the role of the immune system as a simple safeguard against pathogens. Its role in homeostasis and disease tolerance was then described by Medzhitov *et al.*⁸. Later, the discontinuity theory described that the immune system responds to sudden alterations in antigenic stimulation⁹. More recently, the S(c)ensory Immune System Theory was proposed by Veiga-Fernandes and Freitas⁴. They proposed that immune responses incorporate sensory immune functions adapted to the environment, ensuring systems physiology, homeostasis, and perpetuation of its replicating molecules.

The last years have witnessed an increased interest in the immune system. In the beginning, our distant predecessors protected themselves from a microbe or a parasite by releasing chemicals, producing a barrage of defensive protein molecules, or unleashing phagocytic cells. The evolution of these primitive components led to innate immunity^{10,11}. The adaptive immunity evolved much later, developing in the context of a functioning innate immunity. So, the immune system takes advantage of two types of responses: innate and adaptive. They differ from each other mainly in speed and specificity. Besides

the differences, both are composed of an organization of cells and molecules specialized in defending against infection and usually work as a team³.

1.1.1 The Innate Immunity

Innate immunity protection encompasses all tissues and is a task performed by cells of both hematopoietic and nonhematopoietic origin. With a hematopoietic origin, the innate response uses phagocytic cells, such as macrophages, neutrophils, mast cells, eosinophils, dendritic cells (DC), and Natural Killer (NK) cells¹. Nonhematopoietic cells, such as skin and the epithelial cells lining the respiratory, gastrointestinal, and genitourinary tracts, are also involved in innate immunity protection. Furthermore, innate immunity also counts with a humoral component to enhance these cellular defenses. The humoral component includes several molecules, such as cytokines, chemokines, complement proteins, lipopolysaccharide-binding protein, C-reactive protein, and other pentraxins, collectins, and antimicrobial peptides².

1.1.1.1 Monocytes

The myeloid cells family comprises three major subtypes of mononuclear phagocytes: DC, macrophages, and monocytes¹². The last subtype derives from precursors in the bone marrow and circulates in the blood, playing a critical role in supporting tissue homeostasis, initiating and propagating the response to pathogens, and resolving immune responses to avoid tissue damage^{13–15}. These cells comprise a heterogeneous system of cells with diverse functions¹⁴. Nowadays, three subsets have been established: classical monocytes, nonclassical, and intermediate monocytes^{16,17}. Common monocyte progenitors are converted into classical monocytes and then into nonclassical monocytes, being the intermediate monocytes a transition state¹⁸. Although most nonclassical monocytes seem to derive from classical monocytes, there is a possible existence of a progenitor able to differentiate directly into nonclassical monocytes¹⁹.

Classical monocytes are recruited to inflamed tissues and have the ability to recruit other immune cells through secreted cytokines and antimicrobial factors¹⁴. Besides the monocyte's functions mentioned early, they have emerged as important regulators of cancer development and progression^{20–22}. Within the tumor microenvironmental, classical monocytes can directly kill malignant cells by phagocytosis or cytokine-mediated induction of cell death, for example, Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-

inducing ligand (TRAIL) or antibody-dependent cytotoxicity. However, their cytotoxicity is limited by the tumor microenvironmental. Cancerous cells can shield themselves, for instance, through the expression of CD47, avoiding phagocytosis. Furthermore, numerous cancer cells are resistant to TRAIL-mediated apoptosis. Tumor-educated monocytes could differentiate into tumor-associated macrophages (TAM) that promote immune suppression^{14,23–27}.

Nonclassical monocytes primarily remain in the vasculature during homeostasis. These patrolling monocytes scavenge endothelium-derived cellular debris and flagdamaged endothelial cells through the recruitment of neutrophils²⁸. Nonclassical monocytes appear to also extravasate during inflammation but at a lower rate when compared to classical monocytes. The fate of this subtype of monocytes during cancer requires further investigation¹⁴.

1.1.1.2 Macrophages

Elie Metchnikoff introduced the term 'macrophage' that means 'big eater', due to its phagocytic nature^{29,30}. For many years, it was thought that macrophages emerged from the differentiation of circulating monocytes^{31,32}. However, recently this hypothesis was refuted due to the morphological and functional differences between these two cells³³. In fact, macrophages are seeded before birth, and their maintenance is independent of monocytes^{33–35}.

These cells play an essential role in the innate immunity response¹¹. Besides this function, macrophages are important in almost every aspect of an organism's biology, including cancer³².

In addition to the functional diversity, macrophages are characterized by a considerable plasticity³⁶. This plasticity allows macrophage polarization, a process whereby they acquire distinct functional phenotypes depending on environmental cues. At the time of polarization, these cells may acquire a classically activated or inflammatory (M1), or an alternatively activated or anti-inflammatory (M2) phenotype. The M1 macrophages are responsible for removing pathogens through nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase activation and reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation. In addition, this phenotype is responsible for anti-inflammatory function of M2 macrophages. With the M2 phenotype, macrophages are responsible for the regulation of

5

inflammation. Furthermore, in cancer, M2 macrophages promote tumor formation and progression³⁷.

1.1.1.3 Dendritic Cells

DC are the most efficient antigen-presenting cells (APC). Playing a role in the innate response, these cells recognize and respond to pathogen and danger-associated signals. Moreover, they capture, process, and present antigens to T cells through major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules, bridging the innate and the adaptive response. Although this is their main characteristic, they are a population phenotypic heterogeneous^{38,39}.

DC could be found in two distinct functional states: mature and immature. Within the immature state, DC have low expression of surface stimulatory molecules, surface chemokine receptors, and do not release immunostimulatory cytokines. Moreover, these immature cells have a high expression of inhibitory molecules, such as programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) and cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) and secrete anti-inflammatory cytokines. These features condition the antigen-specific induction of *naïve* T cells but are essential to prevent responses against healthy tissues^{40–42}. Although their poor ability to perform cross-presentation, immature DC have a high endocytic capacity, being important sentinels, capturing apoptotic and necrotic cells^{43–47}.

When exposed to extracellular factors, immature cells suffer significant alterations in surface proteins, intracellular pathways, and metabolic activity, turning to mature DC^{48–51}. A long series of transcriptional adaptations are involved in DC maturation. However, the complete set of the factors responsible for this maturation is not precisely defined yet⁵². After maturation, DC migrate from peripheral tissues to secondary lymphoid organs and activate T lymphocytes through antigen presentation. Furthermore, DC, influenced by interactions with other immune cells, can secrete cytokines and other factors responsible for modifying ongoing immune responses^{53,54}.

It is clear that the main characteristic of these cells is the ability to present antigens to T cells. However, besides their maturation state, DC comprises a variety of subsets with different phenotypes. Rising from committed DC precursors in the bone marrow, DC could differentiate into specialized subsets, including plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC), conventional dendritic cells type 1 (cDC1), and conventional dendritic cells type 2 (cDC2). This differentiation is controlled by a specific repertoire of transcription

factors, notably the interferon regulatory factor 8 (IRF8) and the interferon regulatory factor 4 (IRF4). The DC subset and the type of stimulus received define the nature of downstream T cell responses^{38,39,55–59}. Human cDC1 have the most potent antigen presentation abilities via MHC class I, sharing a superior capacity to induce CD8 T cell immune responses. Furthermore, through interleukin (IL)-12, cDC1 promote T helper (Th) 1 and NK responses^{38,60–62}. cDC2 have a wide range of receptors, allowing cross-presentation with appropriate activation. cDC2 seem to induce Th1, Th2, and Th17 responses and regulatory T cells (Tregs), frequently having regulatory roles^{38,57,63–65}. Unlike cDC, pDC express low levels of MHC class II and express a narrow range of receptors for cross-presentation. This subset is characterized by the secretion of high levels of IFN- α/β and plays a central role in viral infections^{66–69}.

These circulating subsets of DC appear to be affected in cancer. It has been observed a decreased total number and phenotypic and functional alterations in DC^{70-78} .

1.1.1.4 Granulocytes

Being a category of white blood cells, granulocytes have long been solely considered players during innate immune responses. However, recently, it became clear that this group of cells also has a vital role in the adaptive response^{79,80}. The granulocyte family includes neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, and mast cells. All of them appear to migrate to peripheral and lymphoid tissues during inflammation^{81–85}.

Neutrophils are the subset most abundant and are classically characterized by their ability to act as phagocytic cells and release lytic enzymes, playing a primary role in the clearance of extracellular pathogens^{79,86,87}. Over the last decades, an extensive range of studies has been reporting neutrophils as a highly versatile and sophisticated group of cells with functional and phenotypic heterogeneity. Furthermore, their function goes far beyond the elimination of pathogens⁸⁰. Besides their role in the innate response, there is recent evidence that neutrophils are also involved in activating and regulating adaptive immune cells, differentially influencing the immune response⁷⁹.

Contrary to neutrophils, eosinophils are a minor subpopulation of granulocytes⁸⁸. Despite their lower levels, these cells are receiving growing interest due to their complexity and complex role in health and diseases like cancer⁸⁹. Eosinophils are classically known as phagocytic cells, playing a critical role in infection and inflammation. In addition to these well-known functions, nowadays, this minor subset

7

appears to play a more complex role in the immune system. Eosinophils possess an array of receptors and surface components for antigen presentation and are able to produce several substances, leading to upregulation or downregulation of the ongoing immune response⁹⁰.

At last, mast cells and basophils, as the most prominent sources of histamine and other inflammatory mediators, are known for their role in allergies and other inflammatory diseases. Although this common characteristic, mast cells and basophils differ morphologically, ultrastructurally, immunologically, biochemically, and pharmacologically⁹¹.

Basophils are released from the bone marrow to the blood, representing only a minor population of leukocytes. Once in circulation, basophils display important and nonredundant roles as effector cells. These cells can also affect the adaptive response, promoting the Th2 cell differentiation, for example^{91–95}.

Besides their recognized role as effectors in allergies, mast cells also have an essential role in both innate and adaptive responses. This group of cells has a widespread distribution and their maturation, phenotype, and function depend strongly on the local microenvironment. They specifically recognize several stimuli and respond with the release of active mediators. Furthermore, mast cells communicate with other cells implicated in immune responses. Contrary to basophils, mast cells can be divided into several subtypes according to their location, morphology, function, and pharmacological properties. So, diversity in responses can be expected^{91,96,97}. The role of both mast cells and basophils in cancer is still poorly defined⁹¹.

1.1.1.5 Natural Killer Cells

NK cells comprise the third largest population of lymphocytes, are potent producers of immunoregulatory cytokines and can directly kill target cells. As the name suggests, these effector functions do not require prior stimulation^{98–100}.

Once they recognized the target, NK cells kill it predominantly via two pathways. The first one involves the secretion and exocytosis of molecules that induce target cell apoptosis, such as perforin. In the second one, NK cells take advantage of ligands, such as TRAIL. Through their association with death receptors in target cells, NK cells induce a caspase-dependent apoptosis¹⁰¹. Besides their cytotoxic activities, these cells have

diverse biological functions, including an immunoregulatory role through the production and secretion of several cytokines, for example, the IFN- γ^{101} .

The activity of NK cells is tightly controlled by a balance between a wide range of activating and inhibitory receptors expressed on the cell surface. Since the expression of these receptors varies between cells, the NK cell population presents a sizeable heterogeneity^{101,102}. The inhibitory receptors are responsible for the prevention of NK cell activation and, therefore, the prevention of host cell killing. When NK cells meet an infected or an abnormal cell with lack or lower levels of MHC class I molecules, the balance between activatory and inhibitory signals is affected, and activation is predominant, leading to NK cell killing of target cells^{103–105}.

With the arrival of monoclonal antibodies for NK-cell markers, it was possible to notice that NK cells could be divided into two subsets based on their cell-surface density of CD56: CD56^{dim} and CD56^{bright106}. The majority of NK cells present a low density of CD56, being included in the CD56^{dim} subset. This subset is characterized by a more naturally cytotoxic function and a low production of cytokines. By contrast, the CD56^{bright} subset appears to be poorly cytotoxic but produces high levels of immunoregulatory cytokines^{101,107,108}. NK cells also play an important role in cancer, mainly due to their ability to lyse tumor cells^{109,110}.

Historically, NK cells were considered a part of the innate immune system, being characterized as short-lived, rapid, and effectors cells of this type of response. However, the discovery of NK cells with an extended lifespan and memory-like functions demonstrated that they possess typical characteristics of the adaptive immune system^{111,112}.

1.1.2 The Adaptive Immunity

As mentioned before, the adaptive and innate responses differ mainly in speed and specificity. The innate response is characterized by its speed but lack of specificity. On the contrary, the adaptive response performed a specific response, but it requires more time³. The innate response is an older evolutionary defense. Later, adaptive immunity was developed from innate immunity, and for this reason, the often demarcation between innate and adaptive responses is overly simplistic^{2,113}.

The adaptive immunity counts mainly with T and B lymphocytes. When the surface receptors present in these cells bind to an antigen, the system is shaped and occurs

9

proliferation of antigen-specific B and T lymphocytes. Therefore, this immunity response was named 'adaptive'^{2,3}. These cell receptors are randomly generated and highly diverse. The receptor repertoire diversity allows the adaptive immunity to recognize an elevated number of antigens, being an advantage compared to the limited number of pathogen receptors used by the innate response. However, this diversity comes with some disadvantages: the risk of autoimmune disease and the time delay. In the random process of receptor generation, receptors specific for self-proteins can be created, leading, consequently, to autoimmune diseases. Also, after exposure to a pathogen occurs a clonal expansion of antigen-specific lymphocytes. This process requires 3 to 5 days, which could be enough time for the pathogen to cause damage to our organism^{1.2}.

1.1.2.1 B Lymphocytes

The first studies concerning B lymphocytes demonstrated the primary function of B lymphocytes: antibody production^{114–116}. Besides their essential role in secreting antibodies, B lymphocytes play other important functions in immune homeostasis¹¹⁴.

After the differentiation of hematopoietic stem cells into common lymphoid progenitors, they can migrate to the thymus or remain in the bone marrow. The majority of progenitors remain in the bone marrow and become immature B (*b*one marrow-derived) lymphocytes, also referred to as 'transitional'. Immature cells are then released and further differentiated in the spleen^{114,117}. Before further differentiation, B cells can capture antigens and present them on MHC class II molecules to T cells. Being activated by an antigen, B lymphocytes proliferate and differentiate into plasmablasts, short-lived effector cells capable of early antibody response. This T cell-B cell cooperation is also a crucial step in the formation of germinal centers, where activated B lymphocytes differentiate into plasma cells, long-lived cells capable of higher antibody production, or into memory B lymphocytes, that are programmed to rapidly differentiate into antibody-secreting cells in case of re-exposure to the same antigen^{118–120}.

1.1.2.2 T Lymphocytes

When discovered, T lymphocytes were found to be responsible for cell-mediated immune responses¹¹⁴. They were named 'T lymphocytes' or 'T cells' because, unlike B lymphocytes, their maturation occurs in the thymus. T cells became a diverse population

during this maturation, and they leave the thymus with a diverse receptor repertoire and consequently different functions. When they express CD8 glycoprotein in their surface, they are called CD8 T cells or cytotoxic T cells and are restricted to recognizing antigens presented by MHC class I molecules. On the other hand, when T cells express CD4 glycoprotein, they are called CD4 T cells or helper T cells and only recognize antigens presented by MHC class II molecules^{121,122}.

Primarily, CD4 T cells were thought to be responsible for a basic helper activity in antibody responses. However, research over the past decade demonstrated that these cells display a significant degree of plasticity and can differentiate into a surprising number of diverse subsets, among them Th1, Th2, Th17, and Tregs. Although it is not well clear the factors that determine the lineage choices of CD4 T cells, it is known that their differentiation depends on the costimulatory signals, such as cytokines, that they receive from DC. Once differentiated, CD4 T cell subsets differ from each other by the release of specific cytokines. Consequently, these subsets are also heterogeneous in terms of function, playing either pro- or anti-inflammatory responses^{122,123}. For example, Tregs are characterized by the expression of inhibitory receptors and the secretion of inhibitory cytokines, leading to an immune suppression¹²⁴.

Although T cells leave the thymus in a mature state, an interaction with an APC is required to initiate the adaptive response. The activation of *naïve* CD4 or CD8 T cells requires the binding of CD4 and CD8 receptors with MHC class II and MHC class I, respectively. This activation leads to a differentiation of *naïve* cells into effector cells, short-lived cells that migrate to the site of infection and eliminate the pathogen, or into memory cells, long-lived cells responsible for a fast expansion and a more effective response during a re-exposure to the same pathogen¹²².

1.2 Immuno-Oncology

1.2.1 Interactions Cancer-Immune System

The interactions cancer-immune system have been the focus of several studies. First, these studies were performed to understand how the immune system could repress tumor development, protecting the organism. The immune surveillance theory said that the immune system controlled the growth of transformed cells and prevented neoplasia. However, the development of cancers in immunocompetent individuals showed the

shortcomings of cancer immunosurveillance. Then, it became clear that the immune system affects tumor development, but it also promotes its growth. These results lead to the concept of cancer immunoediting (Figure 1)^{125,126}



Figure 1 | **Cancer and the immune system.** (A) Normal tissue. (B) Transformed tissue. Transformed cells lead to the production of tumor antigens. (C) Immune system activation and response. Tumor antigens activate the immune system and occur a cross-talk between the innate and the adaptative responses. (D) Elimination. Once activated, the immune system eliminates the transformed cells through the direct cytotoxic activity of immune cells or the production of cytotoxic cytokines and chemokines. (E) Normal tissue restored. The cytotoxic ability of the immune system leads to tumor disappearance and normal tissue restoration. (F) Equilibrium. Cancer cells stay in a dormant state controlled by the adaptive immune system and gain the ability to prevent the immune system under selection pressure. (G) Immune system 'exhaustion'. The immune system is no longer able to control the tumor progression, and cancer cells rapidly proliferate. (H) The cytotoxic immune cells are inhibited, and cancer cells proliferate and overcome the immune system. (I) Metastasis. *NKR, Natural Killer cell receptor; NK, Natural Killer; DC, dendritic cells; Mo, monocytes; MDSCs, myeloid-derived suppressor cells; Treg, regulatory T cells; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; TRAIL, TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand; PD-L1, programmed-death ligand 1; PD-1, programmed death-1 receptor; CTLA-4, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4; TIM-3, T-cell immunoglobulin and mucindomain containing-3; TGF, transforming growth factor; IDO, indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase. (from Mendes et al. 2016)¹²⁷.*

Cancer immunoediting is separated into three phases: elimination, equilibrium, and escape. In the first one, the cancer cells are recognized and eliminated by the innate and

adaptive immune systems before they are clinically detected (Figure 1A-E). If all cells are efficiently eliminated, this is the end of the process. On the contrary, by killing the highly immunogenic cells, the adaptive immune system shapes the immunogenicity, and the less immunogenic cells progress into the equilibrium phase (Figure 1F). This phase is thought to be the longest. Here, the cancer cells stay in a dormancy state controlled by the adaptive immune system, CD4 and CD8 T cells, as well as by cytokines, such as IFN- γ and IL-12, until eventually elimination and tumor regression, or until eventually overcoming the immune system, and progression into the last phase, escape^{128,129}. Cancer cells use three main routes to overcome the immune system: acquire the ability to circumvent recognition by the immune system, acquire more resistance to cytotoxic effects or develop immunosuppression mechanisms (Figure 1H)¹²⁸. The escape phase can also be reached when the immune system becomes 'exhausted' and loses the ability to eliminate cancer cells (Figure 1G)¹²⁷. Once in the escape phase, cancer cells can grow and metastasize^{128,129}.

1.2.2 Immunotherapy

The growing knowledge about immune system regulation and immune systemcancer interactions was responsible for the emergence of immunotherapies. While chemotherapy kills cancer cells through cytotoxic features, immunotherapy tries to take advantage of the host immune system. Thus, immunotherapy can be defined as the use of agents to increase and/or reestablish the immune system ability to prevent and combat disease¹³⁰. Resulting from the increased understanding of the immune system, several immunotherapeutic strategies have been developed, among them checkpoints inhibitors, monoclonal antibodies, adoptive cell therapies, treatment vaccines, and immune system modulators.

Jern, Milstein, and Kohler won the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine for the discovery of the principal for murine monoclonal antibodies production. Later, molecular biology and protein engineering created more human-like antibodies with lower immunogenicity¹³¹. These findings, along with the growing understanding of how these antibodies target cancer cells, allowed the development of monoclonal antibodies therapies. Besides their direct tumor kill function, monoclonal antibodies also participate in an immune-mediated tumor cell killing¹³².

Cancer vaccines comprise one of the most explored approaches of immunotherapy. They use tumor antigens to stimulate the patient immune system to fight against the tumor cells¹³³. In 2010, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved the first cancer vaccine Sipuleucel-T (Provenge, Dendreon, USA) for castration-resistant prostate cancer¹³⁴. This vaccine consists of autologous peripheral-blood mononuclear cells activated with prostatic acid phosphatase granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (PAP-GM-CSF). This encouraged further research and now a combination of vaccines with other therapeutic agents and personalized vaccines are being developed in clinical trials¹³³.

Another Nobel Prize in Medicine and Physiology was awarded to James P. Allison and Tasuku Honjo. They proposed a cancer immunotherapy by inhibition of negative immune regulation^{135,136}. There are multiple immune checkpoints, such as CTLA-4, that is upregulated in activated T cells. When CTLA-4 binds to B7-1/CD80 on activated APC, it acts as a negative regulator of T-cell activation¹³⁷. Another immune checkpoint pathway is the programmed death-1 receptor (PD-1). As CTLA-4, PD-1 is usually expressed on activated T cells and binds to PD-L1 or programmed death-ligand 2 (PD-L2), resulting in a signal for T cell inactivation¹³⁸. CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways function as a negative immune regulation^{139,140}. So, agents that block these pathways became a new approach to cancer therapy and provided a foundation for additional investigation of critical pathways that modulate the immune response to cancer^{135,136}.

Most of the immunotherapy approaches rely on enhancing the pre-existent antitumor immune cells in the patient. However, some tumors are characterized by low immunogenicity and so this kind of therapy tends to fail. In this regard, adoptive cell therapies have emerged. These therapies consist of the administration of specific immune cells, either isolated tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes or T cells genetically engineered¹⁴¹.

Another immunotherapeutic strategy consists in the use of immunomodulatory agents, for example, cytokines. It was demonstrated that cytokines, such as IL-2, IL-7, IL-15, and IL-21, can mediate and amplify the antitumor functions of cytotoxic immune cells. Therefore, their potential as therapeutic agents has been explored¹⁴².

Despite some promising results, most of the clinical trials did not achieve a satisfactory response. Thus, the future progress in tumor immunotherapy will require combined therapies, instead of single-agent, to enhance the strength and duration of immune responses¹⁴².

Although immunotherapeutic drugs have been approved to treat several cancers, the discipline of cancer immunotherapy started in 1891 with William B. Coley, injecting streptococcal organisms into a patient with sarcoma¹⁴³. This procedure led to a stimulation of the immune system of the patient and the sarcoma disappeared, demonstrating the possible use of immunotherapy in this disease.

1.3 Soft Tissue Sarcoma

Soft Tissue Sarcomas (STS) are a heterogeneous and rare group of diseases with a mesenchymal origin, representing only 1% of solid tumors¹⁴⁴. This group of diseases comprises over 50 different histologic subtypes and affects patients of all ages¹⁴⁵. Although it can occur anywhere in the body, the most common anatomic sites are the extremities (60-70%), and the abdomen and retroperitoneum (20%)¹⁴⁶. In addition to being highly heterogeneous in anatomical localization and histology, it is also heterogeneous in terms of molecular characteristics and prognosis¹⁴⁷.

1.3.1 Classification and Diagnosis

The World Health Organization (WHO) classification provides an organization by tumor type, considering morphology, immunohistochemical, and genetic features. This classification also stratifies STS into benign, intermediate locally aggressive, intermediate rarely metastasizing, and malignant, according to clinical behavior (Table I)^{148,149}.

STS diagnosis is mainly based on histological interpretations, including immunohistochemistry, cytogenetic, and molecular genetic investigations¹⁵⁰. However, due to its rarity and heterogeneity, the diagnosis is difficult and requires expert analysis¹⁵¹. Furthermore, it is crucial a consensus and reproducible diagnostic criteria.

15

		Lipoma				Haemangioma	
		Lipomatosis				Synovial	
		Lipomatosis of nerve				Venous	
		Lipoblastoma/ lipoblastomatosis			Benign	Arteriovenous haemangioma/ malformation	
		Angiolinoma	RS		8	Enithelioid haemangioma	
)R	Benign	Myolinoma of soft tissue	QQ			Angiomatosis	
Ŭ	8	Chandraid linema	5	rs		Lumphanaiama	
E		Entre genel en ciempolin eme	E	mo	Intermediate (LA)	Lymphangioma Kanasifarm haaman siaan dathaliama	
Ĺ		Extra-renar angiomyonpoma	5	E.	Intermediate (LA)	Rapositorin naemangioendoutenoma	
E		Extra-adrenal myelolipoma	ns	ula		Retiform haemangioendothelioma	
5		Spindle cell/ pleomorphic lipoma	N-	Vasc		Papillary intralymphatic angloendotnelloma	
Ă	T		AL		Later PAC	Composite naemangioendotnenoma	
AD AD	$(I \Delta)$	linosarcoma	E		Internetiate Kivi)	Pseudomyogenic (epithelioid sarcoma-like)	
	(2.1)	Dedifferentlated linosarcoma	E			Haemangioendothelioma	
		Myxoid linosarcoma	SK			Kapsoi sarcoma	
	Malignant	Pleomorphic linosarcoma				Enithelioid haemangioendothelioma	
		Linosarcoma not otherwise specific			Malignant	Angiosarcoma of soft tissue	
		Na dulan facciitia		Car	tusintestinal stasmal to	Angiosarcoma or soft tissue	
				Gas	arointestinai stromai tu		
		Proliferative fasditis				Schwannoma (including variants)	
		Proliferative myositis				Melanotic schwannona	
		Myositis ossifficans				Neurofibroma (including variants)	
		Fibro-osseous pseudotumour of digis	ORS			Plexiform neurofibroma	
		Ischemic fascitis				Perineurioma	
		Elastofibroma				Mallignant perineurioma	
		Fibrous hamartoma of infancy	M	Ben	iign	Granular cell tumour	
		Fibromatosis colli	E			Dermal nerve sheath myxoma	
	р.:	Juvenile hyaline fibromatosis	HI			Solitary droumscribed neuroma	
	Benign	Inclusion body fibromatosis	EA			Ectopic meningioma	
s		Fibroma os tendon sheath	HS			Nasal glial heterotopia	
N		Desmoplastic fibroblastoma	E			Benign Triton tumour	
Ŵ		Mammary-type myofibroblastoma	NERV			Hybrid nerve sheath tumours	
T		Calcifying aponeurotic fibroma				Malignant peripheral perve sheath tumour	
IC		An giomy of head last and				Enithaliaid malianant name shooth tumour	
LS		Callalanania Charana			(*	Epithenoid manghant herve sheath tumour	
ILA		Cellular angionoroma		Ma	lignant	Malignant triton tumour	
OB		Nuchal-type fibroma				Malignant granular cell tumour	
BR		Gardner fibroma				Ectomesenchymoma	
ы		Calcifying fibrous tumour				Acral fibromyxoma	
ž		Palmar/ plantar fibromatosis				Intramuscular mycoma (including cellular	
N N	Intermediate	Demolds from Characteria				variant)	
IC	(LA)	Desmolds-type fibromatosis		Ben	nign	Juxta-articular myxoma	
LS	(2.1)	Lipofibromatosis				Deep (aggressive) angiomyxoma	
ILA		Giant cell fibroblastoma				Pleomorphic hyalinizing angiectatic tumour	
OE		Dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans				Ectopic hamartomatous thymoma	
BR		Fibrosarcomatous dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans		Inte	ermediate (LA)	Haemosiderotic fibrolipomatous tumour	
F		Pigmented dermatofibrosarcoma protuberans	NO			Atypical fibroxanthoma	
		Solitary fibrous tumour				Angiomatoid fibrous histiocytoma	
	Intermediate	Solitary fibrous tumour, malignant	Ę			Ossifying fibromyxoid tumour	
	(RM)	Inflammatory myofibroblastic tumour	Ĩ			Ossifying fibromyxoid tumour, malignant	
		Low grade myofibroblastic tumour	EREN			Mixed tumour NOS	
		Myxoinflammatory fibrobastic sarcoma/		Inte	ermediante (RM)	Mixed tumour NOS, malignant	
		Atypical myxoinflammatory fibroblastic tumour	FF			Myoepithelioma	
		Infantile fibrosarcoma	ā			Myoepithelial carcinoma	
		Adult fibrosarcoma	Ę			Phosphaturic mesenchymal tumour benign	
		Myxofibrosarcoma	T2			Phosphaturic mesenchymal tumour, malignant	
	Malignant	Low-grade fibromyxold sarcoma	E			Synovial sarcoma NOS	
		Sclearaging enitheliad fibrogercoma	F UNG			Synovial sarcoma snindle cell	
- 0		The second secon				Synovial sarcona, spindle cen	
Ē		i enosynovial giant cell tumour	2 O			Synovial sarcoma, bipnasic	
BÇ™		Localized type	MOR			Epithelioid sarcoma	
388	Benign	Diffuse type				Alveolar soft-part sarcoma	
M IS C		Malignant	11			Clear cell sarcoma os soft tissue	
9 E E		Deep benign fibrous histiocytoma				Extraskeletal Ewing sarcoma	
SR S	Intermediate	Plexiform fibrohistiocytic tumour		Ma	lignant	Extraskeletal myxoid chondrosarcoma	
F	(RM) Giant cell tumour of soft tissue				Desmoplastics small round cell tumour		
SS	Benign	Leiomyoma od deep soft tissue				Extra-renal rhabdoid tumour	
101	Malignant	Leiomvosarcoma				Neoplasm with perivascular epithelioid cell	
M	mangnam	Leionyosutoniu				differentiation	
E		Glomus tumour (and variants) Glomargiomatosis Malignant glomus tumour erivascular) Myopircytoma Myofibroma Myofibromatosis				PEComa NOS, benign	
GL						PeComa NOS, malignant	
USC	Daniarti -					Intimal sarcoma	
IM-	(perivascular)		Unc	differentiated spindle co	ell sarcoma		
Ē	(Perrousediar)		ED	Unc	Undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma		
ĴŪ.			EE S	Unc	differentiated round cel	l sarcoma	
SI		Angioleiomyoma	E E E	Unc	differentiatedepithoilio	ł sarcoma	
.5	Rhanbdomyom	a	SS IC	Unc	differentiatedsarcoma N	IOS	
K E	Embrryonal rha	bdomyosarcoma	RC E				
NC	Alveolar rhabd	omyosarcoma	E X S				
ĐĐĨ	Pleomorphic rh	abdmyosracoma	۲ g				
	Smindle cell/ Se	Janaa in a shah damayaaanaa	n				

LA, locally aggressive; RM, rarely metastasizing.
1.3.2 Soft Tissue Sarcoma Current Therapies

Surgical resection delivered in specialist centers has been improving and remains the standard treatment, together with or without preoperative or postoperative radiotherapy. Unfortunately, STS recurs frequently as locally inoperable or metastatic disease. For locally advanced or metastatic disease, the mainstay is chemotherapy¹⁵². Single-agent anthracycline is the first-line therapy and, for the second-line treatment, trabectedin has demonstrated efficacy in some subtypes of STS¹⁴⁷.

1.3.2.1 Anthracycline-based Therapy

Anthracyclines take place among the most effective anti-cancer drugs ever developed. Doxorubicin, belonging to the anthracycline family, changed the therapy for STS patients, whose prognostic were very poor. Doxorubicin proved to be active against this group of diseases and remained the standard treatment. Although studies using newer anthracyclines aimed to decrease the side effects and intensify the treatment, the overall survival (OS) of patients did not improve¹⁵³.

Despite its extensive clinical use, the precise mechanism of action is still unclear. Still, it is known that the primary mechanism responsible for doxorubicin anti-cancer activity is the ability to intercalate the DNA, leading ultimately to cell death. Unfortunately, these mechanisms of toxicity are not restricted to cancer cells but also occur in healthy cells, leading to notorious side effects. Concerning the side effects and drug resistance, novel therapeutic approaches that overcome these limitations are needed^{154,155}.

1.3.2.2 Trabectedin-based Therapy

Initially isolated from the ascidian *Ecteinascidia turbinate*, trabectedin was approved by European Medicines Agency (EMA) and FDA for the treatment of STS patients. Since this tetrahydroisoquinoline alkaloid exists in low amounts in nature, trabectedin is currently prepared synthetically¹⁵⁶.

Trabectedin also impacts the DNA, but its mechanism of action appears distinct from the other available DNA-damaging chemotherapeutic drugs¹⁵⁷. Trabectedin structure (Figure 2) includes a monobridged pentacyclic skeleton composed of two fused tetrahydroisoquinoline rings (subunit A and B), connected to a 10-member lactone bridge

through a benzylic sulfide linkage, and linked to a tetrahydroisoquinoline through a spiro ring (subunit C). The dehydration of the carbinolamine moiety in subunit A generates an iminium intermediate that will predominantly bind to the guanine in the N2, in the minor groove of DNA. Then, van der Waals interactions and hydrogen bonds stabilized the link between the subunits A and B and neighboring nucleotides of the DNA. The formed DNA adduct leads to a DNA bending towards the major groove and perturbs the cell cycle progression. The subunit C interacts with DNA binding proteins, impacting DNA transcription and DNA repair mechanisms. In addition to this unique and complex effect on DNA, trabectedin appears to be responsible for microenvironment changes¹⁵⁷.



Figure 2 | **Chemical structure of trabectedin.** Trabectedin chemical structure consists of a monobridged pentacyclic skeleton composed of two fused tetrahydroisoquinoline rings (subunit A and B), connected to a 10-member lactone bridge through a benzylic sulfide linkage, and linked to a tetrahydroisoquinoline through a spiro ring (subunit C).

Behaving as an immunomodulatory drug, trabectedin seems to induce a subversion of the protumor microenvironment, overcoming chemo-immune resistance¹⁵⁷. In ovarian cancer biopsies, trabectedin showed to inhibit the differentiation of monocytes to macrophages, and the production of the pro-inflammatory mediators chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 (CCL2) and IL-6 by macrophages, TAM, and monocytes¹⁵⁸. In myxoid liposarcomas cell lines, an STS subtype particularly sensitive to trabectedin, this inhibition was also demonstrated¹⁵⁹. Furthermore, it was showed inhibition of IL-8, IL-10, IL-1 β , vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 (CCL5), tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , and the matrix binder protein pentraxin 3 (PTX3)

in vitro. These findings were further confirmed in a patient tumor sample, proving the *in vivo* relevance of these results. Note that CCL2 expression correlates with macrophage accumulation, and TAM are strongly associated with cancer progression. IL-8 and IL-6 are potent mediators of angiogenesis and a potent tumor growth-promoting cytokine, respectively. VEGF plays an important role in angiogenesis, promoting tumor metastasis, and PTX3 has been associated with an increase in tumor mass¹⁵⁹. Accordingly, the inhibition of these immune factors contributes to the antitumor activity of trabectedin.

1.4 Soft Tissue Sarcoma and the Immune System

Despite the notable improvement in cancer treatment, many STS patients do not respond to therapy. This limited efficacy of therapy is often attributable to the complexity of the disease, being STS subtypes either chemosensitive or chemoresistant. In addition to the disease complexity, the tumors can be represented as a complex ecosystem with different populations of non-tumor cells, such as immune cells, soluble plasmatic factors, and immune checkpoints¹⁶⁰. These elements may be essential to identify the patients who would benefit from current treatments and also to discover novel immunotherapeutic agents or targets¹⁵⁰.

1.4.1 Immunotherapy in STS

As was mentioned before, the successful experiment of William B. Coley made immunotherapeutic strategies an option for treating sarcomas¹⁴³. At the moment (July 2021), 85 ongoing clinical trials are targeting the immune system in STS patients. Phase II and phase III completed clinical trials focusing on immunotherapeutic strategies in STS are represented in Table II.

Although the expression of PD-1 and PD-L1 in STS remains controversial, some studies demonstrated the presence of these immune checkpoints in STS patients, offering a possibility for immune checkpoint blockade therapy in this group of diseases¹⁶¹. The first study concerning this type of immunotherapy in STS aimed to analyze the efficacy of targeting the immune checkpoint CTLA-4 with ipilimumab in synovial sarcoma. Unfortunately, neither an immunological activity nor clinical benefit was demonstrated¹⁶².

	NCT Identifier	Phase	Enrollment	Title	Interventions
Y	NCT02040266	Land II	20	Combination of Cryosurgery and	Cryosurgery
RAF	NC102049300	I and II	30	NK Immunotherapy for Recurrent Sarcoma	NK cell immunotherapy
ADOPTIVE CELL THE	NCT00001566	II	42	A Pilot Study of Autologous T-Cell Transplantation	Therapeutic autologous dendritic cells
				With Vaccine Driven Expansion of Anti-Tumor Effectors After Cytoreductive Therapy in	Indinavir sulfate
				Metastatic Pediatric Sarcomas	Peripheral blood stem cell transplantation
	NCT00003887	II	Not	Lymphocyte Infusion in Treating Patients With Relapsed Cancer After Bone Marrow or Peripheral Stem Cell Transplantation	Peripheral blood lymphocyte therapy
	NCT01347034	PrPhaseEnrollmentT366I and II30Combination o NK Immunotherapy366II42A Pilot Study of Autolog With Vaccine Driven I Effectors After Cytor Metastatic Pe387IINotLymphocyte Infusion I Relapsed Cancer After Stem Cell Tr387II20Radiation Therapy and Dendritic Cell-based Imm Solid Tumours of Chi320I and II6Dendritic Cell-based Imm Solid Tumours of Chi372II17External Beam Radia Injection of Dendriti Treatmen361I and II70A Study of CDX-1401 in I Known to Ex315I and II30Mix Vaccine for Meta328II35Vaccine Therapy in Recurrent Sof364II40Biological Therapy Foll Peripheral Stem Cell T Patients351I and II44Therapy to Tree Rhabdomyosarcor363II26In Situ, Autologous T 	20	Radiation Therapy and Intratumoral Autologous	External Beam Radiation Therapy
				Denur tit cens in soft rissue sarcomas (515)	Autologous Dendritic Cells
				Dendritic Cells	
	NCT02496520		6	Dendritic Cell-based Immunotherapy for Advanced Solid Tumours of Children and Young Adults	Surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation therapy as needed by the patient's tumor and stage
	NCT00365872	II	17		Dendritic Cell Injections
				External Beam Radiation With Intratumoral Injection of Dendritic Cells As Neo-Adjuvant	Radiation therapy
				i reatment for Sarcoma	Complete Resection
	NCT00948961	I and II	70		CDX-1401
VACCINE THERAPY				A Study of CDX-1401 in Patients With Malignancies Known to Express NY-ESO-1	Resiquimod (TLR7/8 agonist)
					Hiltonol® (Poly-ICLC, TLR3 agonist)
	NCT03357315	I and II	30	Mix Vaccine for Metastatic Sarcoma Patients	Mix vaccine
	NCT00005628	II	35	Vaccine Therapy in Treating Patients With Recurrent Soft Tissue Sarcoma	Vitespen
		II	30	A Pilot Study of Tumor-Specific Peptide Vaccination and IL-2 With or Without Autologous T	EF-1, EF-2, PXFK, and E7 peptides
	NCT00001564			Cell Transplantation in Recurrent Pediatric Sarcomas	IL-2, IL-4, GM-CSF, and CD40 Ligand
	NCT00003408	II	40	Biological Therapy Following Chemotherapy and Peripheral Stem Cell Transplantation in Treating Patients With Cancer	Aldesleukin (synthetic IL-2) Recombinant interferon alfa Sargramostim (recombinant GM- CSF)
	NCT00923351	I and II	44		Tumor Purged/CD25 Depleted Lymphocytes
				Therapy to Treat Ewing's Sarcoma, Rhabdomyosarcoma or Neuroblastoma	Tumor Purged/CD25 Depleted Lymphocytes with Tumor Lysate/KLH Pulsed Dendritic Cell Vaccine
					rhIL-7
					Tumor Lysate/KLH Pulsed Dendritic Cell Vaccine
	NCT02423863	II	26	In Situ, Autologous Therapeutic Vaccination Against Solid Cancers With Intratumoral Hiltonol®	Hiltonol® (Poly-ICLC, TLR3 agonist)

Table II | Completed Clinical Trials for Immunotherapy in Soft Tissue Sarcoma.

NCT, national clinical trial; NK, Natural Killer; STS, Soft tissue sarcoma; NY-ESO-1, New York esophageal squamous cell carcinoma-1; TLR, toll-like receptor; Poly-ICLC, poly-L-lysine; EF, elongation factor; IL, interleukin; GM-CSF, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor; KLH, keyhole limpet hemocyanin; rh, recombinant human;

Likewise, a phase II study targeting the immune-checkpoint PD-1 with nivolumab did not obtain any response in uterine leiomyosarcoma patients¹⁶³. Later, the clinical trial SARC028 was the first multicenter phase II study of immune checkpoint blockade in a group of patients with bone and STS. In this trial, it was tested the anti-PD-1 therapy with pembrolizumab, and promising responses were observed in specific STS subtypes, including undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma and dedifferentiated liposarcoma, when the patients presented higher tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes at the baseline. Based on these promising results for specific subtypes of STS and in a specific immune microenvironment, further research and correlative studies are fundamental to improve the selection of patients who will benefit from immune checkpoint blockade therapies.

Other immunotherapeutic approaches, such as adoptive cell therapy, have been also studied for STS treatment. Since sarcomas seem to be one of the tumors most vulnerable to the cytotoxicity of NK cells, therapies based on these cells appear to be a promising alternative treatment¹⁶⁴. Based on one study where was demonstrated that rhabdomyosarcoma is sensitive to expanded NK cells¹⁶⁵, phase I and II clinical trials of expanded NK cells in patients with this STS subtype have begun (NCT02409576). Still concerning NK immunotherapies, another ongoing clinical trial aims to combine NK cell adoptive cell therapy with cryosurgery (NCT02849366).

Adoptive cell therapies with lymphocytes harvested from the patient or a donor, expanded, and reinfused into the patient have been also investigated in STS. One ongoing phase II clinical trial proposes a donor lymphocyte infusion in patients with relapsed malignancies, among them patients with sarcoma (NCT00003887). Similarly, another ongoing phase II clinical trial aims to eradicate minimal residual disease in sarcoma patients with autologous T cell transplantation concomitant with a tumor-specific peptides vaccine (NCT00001566). As mentioned before, adoptive cells therapies can also use T cells genetically engineered. Once studies demonstrated that some STS subtypes, especially synovial sarcomas, express the cancer testis antigen New York esophageal squamous cell carcinoma-1 (NY-ESO-1), genetically engineered T cells expressing receptors for specific recognition of this antigen might be a promising approach^{166,167}. Indeed, in synovial sarcoma, a T cell receptor-based gene therapy against NY-ESO-1 demonstrated promising results¹⁶⁸. These results were later confirmed in another pilot study, where an autologous T-cell expressing T-cell receptor specific for NY-ESO-1 achieved an anti-tumor response in 50% of metastatic synovial sarcoma¹⁶⁹. Based on

these encouraging results, an ongoing clinical trial is trying to use a CDX-1401 cancer vaccine to create an immune response against the NY-ESO-1 antigen (NCT00948961).

Concerning cancer vaccines based on DC in STS, the reports are still limited. However, one report showed the efficacy of this type of immunotherapy, but only for some patients¹⁷⁰. Currently, several ongoing clinical trials are focused on strengthening the immune system to fight sarcoma with the administration of vaccines with autologous DC (NCT01347034; NCT02496520; NCT00365872). Other types of cancer vaccines, such as peptides vaccines, are the focus of current clinical trials and could become an alternative approach to treat STS (Table II).

However, despite some positive responses, most of the clinical trials have been reporting disappointing results. This observed lack of response is often attributed to the disease complexity, which is, at least partly, supported by the complex microenvironment, including the immune cells and other immune-related factors. Therefore, further studies evaluating the immune *status* of STS patients are required to develop more efficient immunotherapies and identify biomarkers for monitoring the immunotherapy response.

1.4.2 Immune Monitoring in STS

There is a growing interest in studying the immunological *status* in STS. Besides the fact that the elements of the tumor microenvironment (TME) could represent potential therapeutical agents or targets and potential biomarkers for predicting therapy responses, they also could be used to predict patient clinical outcome. A study from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) consortium proposed an association between the elements from the TME and the prognosis of patients with different STS subtypes¹⁷¹. The TME comprises several distinct populations of non-tumor cells, including endothelial, stromal, cancer-associated fibroblasts and adipocytes, and immune cells¹⁶⁰. Regarding the immune cells, in human STS, their characterization remains poorly defined. In 2020, Petitprez *et al.* suggested a new classification and stratification of STS patients considering the immune compositions found in this study led to the stratification of STS patients into five distinct sarcoma immune classes. The fact that each histological subtype was identified in each class, clarifying the hypothesis that the immune profile varies even between tumors with the same histology. Furthermore, once some of these sarcoma immune classes showed a

high expression of immune-related genes, this work confirmed that the simplistic description of STS as "non-immunogenic" tumors cannot be applied to all. Still in this study, a correlation between the immune microenvironment and the patient prognosis and response to therapy was demonstrated.

1.4.2.1 Cellular Immunity

As was mentioned before, macrophages differentiate into M1 or M2 macrophages. When this differentiation occurs in the TME, they became TAM. Several factors present in the TME, such as IL-4 and IL-13, promote an M2-like differentiation of TAM, which are responsible for an anti-inflammatory role, facilitating the tumor immune escape^{173,174}. The preference for TAM polarized toward a pro-tumoral phenotype in STS was confirmed in a recent study¹⁷⁵. In this study they described a presence of M2-like TAM, through immunohistochemistry, in all STS samples, supporting the possibility of targeting this macrophage phenotype for STS treatment. Contrary, M1-like TAM were only found in a few samples and in a low density. Concerning the prognostic significance of these cells, they were correlated with clinical outcome in other cancers^{176,177}. However, in STS little is currently known. Still, one recent study identified TAM as a negative prognostic factor in different types of STS (Figure 3)¹⁷⁸. Concerning M1 and M2-like TAM, in non-gynecologic leiomyosarcomas, the high density of both macrophages expressing CD163 and macrophages expressing CD68, markers for the M2-like and M1like macrophages, respectively, were associated with poor clinical outcome¹⁷⁹. Later, another study evaluated the correlation of both TAM phenotypes in leiomyosarcomas and confirmed the negative prognostic value of M2-like macrophages¹⁸⁰.



Figure 3 | **Expression levels of immune cells subtypes, cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and soluble receptors and their prognostic value in STS.** The TME has been associated with the prognosis in several tumors. However, in STS this association is still underexplored. Immune cells such as B cell, DC, and NK were associated with a positive prognostic (green). Contrary, TAMs, TANs, and some soluble factors, LIF, IL-8, HGF, IL-2R, VEGF, MCP-3, TNF-R, IL-6, and M-CSF, were associated with a negative prognostic (red). The prognostic value of MDSC, Tregs, CD4 T cells, and CD8 T cells is not clear yet (grey). *TANs, tumor-infiltrating neutrophils; NK, Natural Killer; TAMs, tumor-infiltrating macrophages; Tregs, regulatory T cells; MDSC, myeloid-derived suppressor cells; DC, dendritic cells; LIF, leukemia inhibitory factor; IL, interleukin; HGF, hepatocyte growth factor; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; MCP-3, monocyte chemotactic protein 3; TNF-R, tumor necrosis factor receptor; M-CSF, macrophage colony-stimulating factor (from Sousa et al. 2021)¹⁶¹.*

Like TAM, tumor-associated neutrophils (TAN) in mice appear to acquire two different phenotypes: N2 phenotype, usually associated with pro-tumor activity, and N1 phenotype, usually associated with anti-tumor activity. Nevertheless, the tumor-promoting effects of the human N2 phenotype remain unclear¹⁸¹. Concerning the role of TAN in STS, Ponzetta *et al.* found an association between their high density and a favorable clinical outcome in undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma¹⁸². However, in other STS subtypes, this association was not significant.

As strong indicators of tumor immunogenicity, the role of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) in the progression of some tumors has been described¹⁸³. Studies

including several sarcoma subtypes have been correlated TILs with a better patient outcome. However, most studies presented a limited sample size and considered only a few STS subtypes, so these reports could not be representative of all STS^{172,184}. Indeed, two studies analyzed the expression profile of CD3E in STS to explore the level of T cell infiltration and concluded that some subtypes, such as rhabdomyosarcoma and alveolar soft part sarcoma, showed a higher T cell infiltration when compared to other subtypes^{185,186}. This confirmed the idea that immune cell infiltration could be distinct between STS subtypes.

Within the T cells, studies have been studying CD4 and CD8 T cells and have been trying to correlate their frequency with the patient prognosis. Nevertheless, their prognostic value remains controversial. Although in some studies CD4 and CD8 T cells were associated with a better outcome^{184,187–190}, the opposite, an association with poor outcome, was also suggested^{191,192}. Moreover, several studies stated that there is no statistical significance in this correlation^{188,189,193}. Considering the possibility that the immune cell infiltrate depends on the STS subtype, the limited sample size and different subtypes in the study patient cohort may explain the discrepancies in these results^{194,195}. Furthermore, these discrepancies may also be due to the differences in the methodology, antibody clones, and cutoff values used¹⁹¹.

Recently, studies have shown that B cells play an important role in shaping the immune response against cancer cells¹⁹⁶. Studies in well-differentiated and dedifferentiated retroperitoneal liposarcoma found B cells, usually, in a low density¹⁹⁷. Concerning their association with disease prognosis in STS, two studies observed an association between B cells levels and a better outcome^{172,175,189}. Moreover, the presence of B cells was also associated with a better response to immunotherapies^{172,198}.

Due to their ability to lyse tumor cells, NK cells play an important role in cancer immunosurveillance^{109,110}. Their function in STS has been the focus of only a few studies. One of them found a low density of NK cells in the most well-differentiated and dedifferentiated retroperitoneal liposarcoma tissues through flow cytometry¹⁹⁷. Another study stated that tumor-infiltrating NK cells were the only cells to correlate significantly with a better patient outcome in several STS subtypes¹⁷¹. Later, their positive prognostic value was corroborated by Judge *et al.*¹⁸⁴.

As was mentioned before, it was observed a decreased number of DC and alterations in their subsets in cancer. Is STS, there is a lack of studies concerning DC. However, the TCGA demonstrated a significant association between tumor gene

expression signature indicating the presence of tumor-infiltrating DC and favorable patient outcome in myxofibrosarcoma and undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma, suggesting an important role of these cells and antigen-presentation in immune responses against sarcomas¹⁷¹.

Given the suppressive role of Tregs and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), contributing to tumor escape, these cells have been studied in several cancers, where they appear to be increased^{199–204}. Several studies also aimed to associate the density of tumor-infiltrating Tregs and patient outcome, but the results are controversial²⁰⁵. In STS, a study observed a high density of Tregs in most patients, corroborating the findings in other cancers¹⁹². Also corroborating the previous works, one study correlated the Tregs infiltration with a poor outcome in STS²⁰⁶. However, an association with a better outcome was also observed in another study²⁰⁷. Moreover, in this last study, the higher infiltration of Tregs was associated with a better response to pembrolizumab, anti-PD-1 monotherapy.

Concerning the role of MDSC, in mice bearing rhabdomyosarcoma was observed an expansion of total MDSC in the tumor site, preferentially polymorphonuclear MDSC (PMN-MDSC), and their essential role in the tumor immune escape was demonstrated²⁰³. Nevertheless, the role of MDSC in human STS remains underexplored.

1.4.2.2 Soluble Proteome

The network of pro- and anti-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines also contributes to the complexity of the TME and orchestrates the immune responses. Their multifaceted roles in tumor development, progression, and recurrence have been studied in a broad range of tumors. Moreover, their expression profile might be a prognostic factor for patient outcome^{208–210}. Likewise, other soluble factors, like growth factors and soluble receptors, play an important role in cancer^{211,212}. The prognostic value of several chemokines, cytokines, growth factors, and soluble receptors in STS is summarized in Figure 2.

In STS patients, studies described an elevated serum level of some chemokines, cytokines, growth factors, and soluble receptors, when compared to healthy donors. For instance, VEGF and fibroblast growth factor (FGF), both responsible for promoting angiogenesis, were found increased in the serum of STS patients^{213–215}. Similarly, increased levels of IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-2R α , receptors for TNF (TNF-RI and TNF-RII),

and macrophage-colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) were found in STS patients^{216–218}. Concerning their role as prognostic markers, Rutkowski *et al.* correlated the serum levels of IL-2R α , TNF RI, M-CSF, and VEGF with the increased tumor size, the serum levels of IL-8 with higher tumor grade and decreased survival, and the serum levels of IL-6 with increased tumor size, higher grade, metastases, and decreased survival²¹⁶.

Concerning IL-6, few further studies confirmed its association with poor patient outcome²¹⁹. Furthermore, Hagi *et al.* demonstrated a correlation between high serum levels of IL-6 and the presence of STS, suggesting IL-6 as a marker for the differential diagnosis²¹⁹.

The leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) was associated with the progression and the metastatic behavior of rhabdomyosarcoma cells²²⁰. Also in rhabdomyosarcoma cells, IL-8 seemed to play a pivotal pro-angiogenic role and the IL-4R-dependent signaling pathway seemed to regulate the tumor cell progression, highlighting the possible critical role of IL-4 in this STS subtype^{221,222}. However, these results were observed only in rhabdomyosarcoma cells, studies in rhabdomyosarcoma patients and other STS subtypes are required.

Besides its receptors, TNF was also investigated in STS, and similar to its receptors, high serum levels of TNF were found in STS patients²¹⁶. Nevertheless, there was no significant association between its levels and tumor grade, size, metastases, or recurrence. Likewise, no associations between these features and the serum levels of IL-10 and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) were found²¹⁶.

Regarding IL-2R α , its higher serum levels were associated with tumor size and its lower serum levels were correlated with prolonged OS. In the same study, low monocyte chemotactic protein (MCP)-3 levels and low hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) levels were correlated with a better outcome²²³.

1.4.2.3 Immune Checkpoints

Immune checkpoints are crucial in the regulation of the immune responses and, as was mentioned before, they can be dysregulated in cancer, facilitating the tumor immune escape²²⁴. Besides their role as immunotherapeutic agents or targets, they could also be used as predictive markers for patient outcome and therapy response. The prognostic value of several immune checkpoints in STS is summarized in Figure 4.



Figure 4 | **Prognostic value of immune checkpoints in STS.** Studies have been trying to correlate the presence of immune checkpoints with the prognosis of patients with STS. These studies have demonstrated a negative prognostic value for B7-H3, PD-1, PD-L1, NKp30, B7-H6, Sirpα, CD47, CD155, LAG3, and IDO (red). A positive prognostic value was correlated with the immune checkpoint E-Cadherin (green). *PD-1, programmed death-1 receptor; PD-L1, programmed death-ligand 1; TIGIT, T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains; LAG3, lymphocyte-activation gene 3* (from Sousa *et al.* 2021)¹⁶¹

Kim *et al.* evaluated the impact of PD-1 and PD-L1 in STS for the first time¹³⁷. In this study, an intratumoral infiltration of PD-1 positive lymphocytes and the expression of PD-L1 were observed by immunohistochemistry in most STS samples. Additionally, the presence of PD-1 and PD-L1 were correlated with a negative prognostic. Later, more studies aimed to evaluate these immune checkpoints in STS and confirmed their presence and their negative prognostic value^{138,225–233}. Conversely, in other studies, PD-1 and PD-L1 were found to be low or absent, and not associated with patient outcome^{138,184,192,194,207,225,234}. These discrepancies might be due to the use of different methods of expression assessment, cutoff values, antibody clones, and tissue samples analyzed before and after therapeutical interventions. Moreover, one study proposed that PD-1 and PD-L1 expression depended on the STS subtype, so the use of different STS subtypes may also justify the controversial results²³⁵. Besides their use as prognostic markers, these immune checkpoints could be used to indicate the patients who will benefit from PD-1 therapies. Indeed, a recent study stated that STS patients who exhibited more

PD-L1-expressing macrophages responded to pembrolizumab, an anti-PD-1 monotherapy²⁰⁷.

Other immune checkpoints have also been studied in other tumors. However, in STS there are only a few reports. Dancsok et al. found a high expression of lymphocyteactivation gene 3 (LAG3) on infiltrating CD8 T cells²²⁵. Another study confirmed this overexpression by immunohistochemistry and proposed a correlation between LAG3 expression and poor patient outcome¹⁹¹. In the same study, Dancsok et al. demonstrated that the expression of B- and T-lymphocyte attenuator (BTLA) was lower in sarcoma and mainly in infiltrating CD4 T cells²²⁵. Concerning the immune checkpoints indoleaminepyrrole 2,3-dioxygenase 1 (IDO-1) and E-Cadherin, it was suggested that the expression of IDO-1 was correlated with a poor patient outcome in undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma, and E-cadherin expression was associated with a better patient outcome in STS²³⁶⁻²³⁸. The expression of B7-H6 and B7-H3 has also been evaluated and the expression of both molecules was correlated with a poor patient outcome in metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumors and rhabdomyosarcoma, respectively^{239,240}. Likewise, the expression of the immune checkpoints CD47 and signal regulatory protein α (Sirp α) were correlated with poor outcome in sarcomas¹⁷⁴. Lastly, the expression of the exhaustion marker T cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains (TIGIT) was evaluated in STS using the TCGA, but not associated with the patient outcome¹⁸⁴. Nevertheless, in the same study, the expression of CD155, its dominant ligand, was correlated with worse patient outcome in STS.

1.4.2.4 Immune-Related Genes

Like the presence of immune cells populations, the expression of immune-related genes has been studied in cancer, and its prognostic value has been evaluated in several cancers, including lung cancer, ovarian cancer, head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, and renal cancer^{241–244}. Although some studies aimed to evaluate the expression of immune-related genes in STS and correlated it with patient outcome, more studies are required to clarify its prognostic significance (Figure 5).



Figure 5 | **Studies correlating the expression of immune-related genes with the patient prognosis in STS.** Five main studies tried to clarify the use of immune-related genes expression as biomarkers for patient outcome in STS. Immune-related genes associated with a better prognosis in STS are represented in green. Contrary, immune-related genes correlated with a poor prognosis are represented in red. From the peripheral to the center, the circles represent the genes encoding extracellular proteins, transmembrane proteins, intracellular proteins, the methodology used, and the respective first author and publication year of the study. ¹ *Prognostic value in synovial sarcomas;* ² *Prognostic value in sarcomas;* ⁴ *Prognostic value in sarcomas with complex genetics.*

Chen *et al.* found that high transcription levels of IL33 were correlated with the recruitment of CD8 T cells²⁴⁵. In the same study, the low expression of ST2, IL-33 receptor, was associated with the recruitment of Tregs and MDSC. Furthermore, both immune-related genes were correlated with a good prognosis. Another study aimed to evaluate 364 differentially expressed immune-related genes in STS patients and found

that 18 of these genes were associated with patient survival²⁴⁶. Similarly, Dufresne *et al.* evaluate the expression of 93 immune-related genes in 253 STS samples and demonstrated a correlation between the immune signature and each sarcoma subtype, corroborating the idea that the prognostic value may depend on the STS subtype²⁴⁷.

Another study, proved the effective performance of five immune-related genes, including IFIH1, CTSG, STC2, SECTM1, and BIRC5, in risk stratification of patients, confirming the potential use of these genes to predict the patient outcome²⁴⁸. Lastly, in 2020, another study identified seven genes, including C3, CD36, DOCK9, FCER2, FOS, HLA-DRB4, and NCAM1, associated with a poor outcome and six immune-related genes, including BIRC5, DUSP4, FOXP3, HLA-DQA1, HLA-DQB1, and LAG3, associated with a better outcome in high-grade STS tissue samples²⁴⁹.

1.4.2.5 Peripheral Blood Immune Status

Besides the studies that aimed to evaluate the serum levels of immune-related factors, the studies concerning the immune cells, the immune checkpoints, and the immune-related genes usually focus on the TME, analyzing tumor tissue samples. Thus, the studies assessing the peripheral blood immune *status* are sparse.

In 2014, the lymphocyte/monocyte ratio in the peripheral blood of STS patients was evaluated for the first time²⁵⁰. In this study, they concluded that this ratio could represent a negative prognostic marker. However, another study performed in 2019 did not find significant differences between the lymphocyte/monocyte ratio and the clinical outcome in STS²⁵¹. The neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in STS was also the focus of two meta-analyses^{252,253}. Both concluded that a higher neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio was correlated with worse clinical outcome.

Recently, Kim *et al.* assessed the peripheral immunological *status* in STS and observed that high levels of monocytic MDSC (M-MDSC) and T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3 (Tim-3) positive CD8 T cells were associated with a worse prognosis²⁵⁴. Contrary, they found a correlation between the high levels of NKG2D positive CD8 T cells and a better prognosis.

Concerning the peripheral levels of NK cell subsets, one study evaluated them in the peripheral blood of chemotherapy-*naïve* STS patients and STS patients with a progression or relapse after chemotherapeutical treatment²⁵⁵. In both groups, NK cells were found to be dysfunctional, corroborating the studies in other cancers. Furthermore,

through flow cytometry, they observed a lower frequency of CD56^{dim} NK cells in the second group of patients when compared to controls. Also in the group of STS patients with a progression or relapse after therapy, the expression of NKG2D, CD3 ζ , and perforin was associated with NK cells activation. However, another study aimed to also evaluate peripheral NK cells in gastrointestinal stromal tumor patients and did not find significant differences in the levels of NK cells nor in the NKG2D expression when compared to controls²⁵⁶. Still, they observed a higher expression of NKp30c, an immunosuppressive isoform of the NKp30 receptor, correlated with a poor patient outcome.

Finally, one study intended to assess the immune cells in both peripheral blood and tumor tissue¹⁸⁴. They observed that T cells and NK cells were both more activated and exhausted in the tumor site when compared to the peripheral blood. Moreover, the CD56^{bright}, the less cytotoxic subset, was found less expressed in the tumor site when compared to the peripheral blood. As far as we are aware, this is the only study comparing the immunological *status* of peripheral blood and tumor site in STS patients. The significant differences found demonstrated that the immune *status* varies between these two locations.



2 Objectives

With the development of immunotherapy, the assessment of the immunological *status* of cancer patients is growing in importance. Indeed, studies have been shown that immune cells and other mediators of the immune response, such as soluble immune-related factors, immune checkpoints, and immune-related genes, may represent potential immunotherapeutic agents or targets, or potential biomarkers for an accurate prognosis and therapy response.

Although initially STS were simply classified as 'non-immunogenic' tumors, studies have proved that this characterization does not apply to all. Actually, different TME compositions have been found in STS patients, and some of them exhibited an elevated infiltration of immune cells and immune-related factors. Furthermore, the TME has also been associated with patient prognosis and patient response to therapy in STS.

However, the TME evaluation requires an invasive procedure, making sample harvest difficult, thus limiting patient cohort and follow-up. Therefore, a minimally invasive procedure, such as the analysis of peripheral blood samples, is inevitably required. Unfortunately, there is a lack of studies that seek to evaluate and correlate the peripheral immune *status* of STS patients with patient prognosis, and the scarce results reported are sometimes controversial. Moreover, different therapies are included in most studies without agent-specific effect analysis.

With this in mind, our primary and secondary objectives were as follows:

Primary objectives:

- 1. Evaluation of the effect of therapy on the peripheral immunological *status* of STS patients.
- 2. Evaluation of the prognostic value of peripheral immunological *status* in STS, considering the patient therapy.

OBJECTIVES

Secondary objectives:

- Comparison of the immunological *status* between patients undergoing trabectedin and anthracycline-based therapies, and between patients undergoing long-term trabectedin treatments (>20 cycles) and ≤20 trabectedin treatment cycles.
 - 1.1. Frequency analysis of circulating immune cells populations.
 - 1.2. Analysis of soluble levels of immune-related factors.
 - 1.3. Analysis of immune-related gene expression levels.
- 2. Correlation between the immune contexture assessed and the patient OS.

Chapter **3**

MATERIAL AND METHODS

3 Material and Methods

3.1 Study Design

The study group consisted of 31 patients with STS. The demographic and clinicopathological patient characterization are present in Table III. To evaluate the peripheral immunological *status* considering the patient therapy, STS patients were divided into two therapy groups: 7 patients who had undergone anthracycline-based therapy (ANTH; doxorubicin 90 mg plus dacarbazine 900 mg, alternated with ifosfamide $10g/m^2$) and 24 patients who had undergone trabectedin-based therapy (TRAB; $1.5mg/m^2$). In addition, to understand whether the immunological *status* varies with long-term trabectedin therapy, the TRAB patients were divided into two separated groups: 11 patients who had completed \leq 20 trabectedin cycles (TRAB \leq 20) and 13 patients who had completed \geq 20 trabectedin cycles (TRAB \geq 20).

The peripheral blood samples and clinical data were collected at Orthopedic Service from Coimbra Hospital and University Center, from November 2015 to February 2021. All the volunteers agreed and signed informed consent to participate. The present work was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Coimbra and the Coimbra Hospital and Universitary Centre, Portugal (CHUC-021-19).

3.2 Flow Cytometry

Flow cytometry is a powerful tool with wide applications, including in the immunology field. It allows the characterization of a complex mixture of immune cell populations in highly heterogeneous body fluids, such as peripheral blood, being very effective for the study of the immune system at the single cell level²⁵⁷.

Flow cytometry uses multiple lasers and detectors to analyze single cell suspensions. Each cell is analyzed by visible light scatter in two different directions. The forward scatter (FSC) indicates the relative size, while the side scatter (SSC) indicates the complexity or granularity. In addition to visible light, the cells are also analyzed according to fluorescence parameters after incubation with fluorescent conjugated antibodies or probes²⁵⁷.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Clinicopathological characteristic	Value	Percentage
N	31	
Median age (range), years	54 (19-78)	
Sex		
Female	16	51.6
Male	15	48.4
Soft tissue sarcoma histology		
Leiomyosarcoma	14	45.2
Liposarcoma	4	12.9
Synovial sarcoma	3	9.7
Haemangiosarcoma	2	6.5
Undifferentiated sarcoma	1	3.2
Fibromyxosarcoma	1	3.2
Malignant fibrous histiocytoma	1	3.2
Pleomorphic rhabdomyosarcoma	1	3.2
Clear cell sarcoma	1	3.2
Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor	1	3.2
Alveolar soft part sarcoma	1	3.2
Phyllodes tumor of the breast	1	3.2
Localization		
Connective and soft tissue of limb	10	32.3
Retroperitoneum	5	16.1
Utero	5	16.1
Connective and soft tissue of thorax	3	9.7
Connective and soft tissue of trunk	2	6.5
Others	6	19.4
Tumor type		
Primary	10	32.3
Recurrent	8	25.8
Metastatic	6	19.4
Recurrent/Metastatic	7	22.6
Therapy		
Anthracycline-based therapy	7	22.6
Trabectedin-based therapy	24	77.4
Trabectedin cycles		
≤ 20 cycles	11	45.8
> 20 cycles	13	54.2
Prior chemotherapy		
Yes	26	83.9
No	5	16.1

Table III | Demographic and clinicopathological composition of the cohort included in this study.

Our characterization of the immune cells by flow cytometry included the evaluation of the major immune cell populations: T cells, B cells, DC, monocytes, NK cells, and MDSC, as well as their subsets. Furthermore, it was also evaluated their activation and memory, and the expression of the immune checkpoints PD-1 and PD-L1.

3.2.1 Whole blood staining and sample acquisition

To summarize the protocol, the major immune cells populations presented in the whole blood samples, collected into EDTA tubes, were counted with a hematological counter (DxH500, Beckman Coulter, Pasadena, CA, USA). Then, 100 μ L of whole blood or up to 1 million cells were incubated with extracellular antibodies (Supplementary Table I), for 15 minutes in the dark at room temperature, according to a predefined combination panel (Table IV). After incubation, red blood cells were lysed with BD Lysing Solution (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA) for 10 minutes in the dark. The cell suspensions were centrifuged at 450 x *g* for 5 minutes and the supernatants were discarded. The suspensions were washed with PBS and lastly, samples were acquired in BD FACSCantoTM II flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA).

Fluorochrome	T cells	Tregs	Ths and Tcs	B cells	DC, monocytes, and NK cells	MDSC
FITC	PD-1	PD-1	PD-1	CD24	PD-L1	CD45
PE	CCR7	CD25	CXCR3	PD-1	CD56	CD33
PerCP-Cy5.5	CD4	CD4	CD4	CD19	CD123	CD3/19/56
Pe-Cy7	CD45RA	CCR4	CCR6	CD27	CD11c	CD15
АРС АРС-Н7	CD38	CD127	CD38	CD38	PD-1	CD11b
	CD8	CD45RO	CD8	CD20	CD3/19/20	CD16
V450	CD3	CD3	CD3	CD3	CD14	CD14
V500	HLA-DR	HLA-DR	HLA-DR	IgD	HLA-DR	HLA-DR

Table IV | Eight-color antibody panel.

Tregs, regulatory T cells; Ths, T helper cells; Tcs, T cytotoxic cells; DC, dendritic cells; NK, Natural Killer; MDSC, myeloid-derived suppressor cells; PD-1, programmed-death 1-receptor; CCR7, C-C chemokine receptor type 7; HLA-DR, human leukocyte antigen – DR isotype; CCR4, C-C chemokine receptor type 4; CXCR3, C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 3; CCR6, C-C chemokine receptor type 6; IgD, immunoglobulin D; PD-L1, programmed-death- ligand 1.

3.2.2 Analysis of immune cells populations

All the data were treated with FlowJo® v.10.7 (BD Life Sciences, Ashland, OR, USA), a software application with an integrated environment for viewing and analyzing flow cytometric data.

The live cells and then the lymphocyte population were isolated through size and complexity, using the information given by the FSC and SSC, respectively, and the doublet discrimination was performed with a FSC-Height (FSC-H) *vs* FSC-Area (FSC-A) dot plot (Figure 6).



Figure 6 | **T cells gate strategy.** Through the analysis of the size and complexity, the events corresponding to living cells and the lymphocyte population were identified. Doublet discrimination was performed with a FSC-H *vs* FSC-A dot plot. Gated on lymphocytes, through the presence of CD3, it was possible to select the T cells. Within this population, it was selected the positive ones for CD4, corresponding to CD4 T cells, for CD8, corresponding to CD8 T cells, positive for both, and negative for both. After obtaining these different subtypes, it is possible to assess the presence of memory markers, CD45RA and CCR7 allowing the identification of *naïve* cells (CD45RA+ CCR7+), central memory cells (CD45- CCR7+), effector memory cells (CD45RA- CCR7-), and effector cells (CD45RA+ CCR7-). The activation markers, HLA-DR and CD38, and the presence of PD-1 were also assessed in both CD4 T cells and CD8 T cells. *FSC, forward scatter; SSC, side scatter; DN, double negative; DP, double positive; EM, effector memory; CM, central memory; PD-1, programmed death-1 receptor.*

To define T cells among the lymphocytes we used the positive expression of CD3. Then, the expression of CD4 and CD8 was used to distinguish the CD4 T cells, CD8 T cells, double positive (DP), and double negative (DN) T cells. Inside these two groups, it was also possible to discriminate the four subsets, using the expression of CCR7 and CD45RA: *naïve* cells (CD45RA+ CCR7+), central memory cells (CD45RA- CCR7+), effector memory cells (CD45RA- CCR7-), and effector cells (CD45RA+ CCR7-). Analyzing the expression of CD38 and human leucocyte antigen-DR isotype (HLA-DR), it was possible to define the activated *status* of either CD4 or CD8 T cells. Finally, the expression of the immune checkpoint PD-1 was also assessed.

Furthermore, within CD4 T cells, the expression of CXCR3 and CCR6 allowed the discrimination between Th1 (CXCR3+ CCR6-), Th17 (CXCR3- CCR6+), and Th2 cells (CXCR3- CCR6-) (Figure 7). Likewise, T cytotoxic (Tc)1 (CXCR3+ CCR6-), Tc17 (CXCR3- CCR6+), and Tc2 (CXCR3- CCR6-) were also identified inside CD8 T cells. The presence of activation markers, HLA-DR and CD38, and the presence of PD-1 was also assessed in Th and Tc cells.



Figure 7 | **Ths and Tcs gate strategy.** T cells were plotted in a CD4 *vs* CD8 diagram, and the CD8 T cells and CD4 T cells were identified. Then, CD4 T cells were plotted in a CXCR3 *vs* CCR6 diagram, allowing the identification of Th1 cells (CXCR3+ CCR6-), Th17 (CXCR3- CCR6+), and Th2 cells (CXCR3- CCR6-). Similarly, CD8 T cells were plotted in a CXCR3 *vs* CCR6 diagram, and Tc1 (CXCR3+ CCR6-), Tc17 (CXCR3- CCR6+), and Tc2 (CXCR3- CCR6-) populations were discriminated. The presence of activation markers, HLA-DR and CD38, and the presence of PD-1 were also assessed. *Th, T helper cell; Tc, T cytotoxic cell; PD-1, programmed death-1 receptor.*

As was mentioned in the introduction, Tregs are also a subtype of CD4 T cells. These cells were identified by negativity for CD127 and positivity for CD25 and CCR4 antibodies (Figure 8). Further, the use of CD45RO allowed the discrimination of *naïve* Tregs (CD45RO-) and memory Tregs (CD45RO+). The activation *status* of Tregs was assessed by the presence of the activation marker HLA-DR. In addition, the presence of PD-1 was also evaluated.



Figure 8 | **Tregs gate strategy.** The presence of CD3 was used to select the T cells, and the presence of CD4 was used to select the CD4 T cells. Gated on CD4 T cells, Tregs were identified by negativity for CD127 and positivity for CD25 and CCR4 antibodies. The memory marker CD45RO allowed the discrimination of *naïve* Tregs (CD45RO-) and memory Tregs (CD45RO+). The presence of PD-1 was also assessed in Tregs. *SSC, side scatter; Tregs, regulatory T cells; PD-1, programmed death-1 receptor.*

Being a part of lymphocytes, B cells were identified by the positivity for CD19 (Figure 9). Through the expression of CD27 and immunoglobulin D (IgD), *naïve* B (IgD+ CD27-), pre-switch memory cells (IgD+ CD27+), switch memory cells (IgD- CD27+), and exhausted cells (IgD- CD27-) were discriminated. The presence of CD38 and CD24 gated on *naïve* cells and switch memory B cells identified the transitional B cells (CD38^{high} CD24^{high}) and plasmablasts/plasma cells (CD38^{high} CD24⁻). PD-1 positivity was also assessed for B cells.



Figure 9 | **B cells gate strategy.** Through the analysis of the size and complexity, the events corresponding to living cells and the lymphocyte population were identified. Doublet discrimination was performed with a FSC-H *vs* FSC-A dot plot. Gated on lymphocytes, B cells were identified by CD19 positivity. B cells were plotted in a CD27 *vs* IgD diagram to allow the identification of *naïve* cells (IgD+ CD27-), pre-switch memory cells (IgD+ CD27+), switch memory cells (IgD- CD27+) and exhausted cells (IgD- CD27-). Gated on *naïve* B cells, the transitional B cells (CD38^{high} CD24^{high}) were identified. Similarly, gated on switch memory B cells, plasmablasts/plasma cells (CD38^{high} CD24⁻) were discriminated. PD-1 positivity was also assessed for B cells. *FSC, forward scatter; SSC, side scatter; SM, switch memory cells; pre-SM, pre-switch memory cells; PD-1, programmed death-1 receptor.*

Within lymphocytes, NK cells (CD3- CD56+) and NKT-like cells (CD3+ CD56+) were identified (Figure 10). Further, the CD56^{dim} and CD56^{bright} NK cell subsets, and CD3^{dim} and CD3^{bright} NKT-like cell subsets were discriminated. The activation *status* of NK cells and NKT-like cells were assessed by the presence of the activation marker HLA-DR. Furthermore, the presence of the immune checkpoints PD-1 and PD-L1 was also evaluated in both subsets.



Figure 10 | **NK cells and NKT-like cells gate strategy.** Through the analysis of the size and complexity, the events corresponding to living cells and the lymphocyte population were identified. Doublet discrimination was performed with a FSC-H *vs* FSC-A dot plot. Gated on lymphocytes, NK cells (CD3- CD56+) and NKT-like cells (CD3+ CD56+) were discriminated. Then CD56^{dim} and CD56^{bright} NK cells, and CD3^{dim} and CD3^{bright} NKT-like cells were discriminated. The activation marker HLA-DR and the expression of PD-1 and PD-L1 were assessed in NK cells and NKT-like cells. *FSC, forward scatter; SSC, side scatter; PBMCs, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; NK, Natural Killer; PD-1, programmed death-1 receptor; PD-L1, programmed death-ligand 1.*

To identify monocytes and DC, the peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were discriminated through size and complexity, using the FSC and SSC (Figure 11). Then, monocytes were identified by the negativity for CD3, CD19, CD20, and CD56 and the positivity for CD14 antibody. DC were discriminated by the negativity for CD3, CD14, CD19, CD20, and CD56, and the positivity for HLA-DR antibody. Furthermore, cDC (CD11c+ CD123+/-) and pDC (CD11c- CD123+) were discriminated. The expression of PD-1 and PD-L1 was evaluated in monocytes and DC.



Figure 11 | **Monocytes and DC gate strategy.** Through the analysis of the size and complexity, the events corresponding to living cells and then the PBMCs were isolated. Doublet discrimination was performed with a FSC-H *vs* FSC-A dot plot. Gated on PBMCs, the cells with an absence of CD3, CD19, CD20, and CD56 were excluded, and the positivity for CD14 antibody identified the monocytes population. To identify DC, the lineage negative (LIN-), cells with an absence of CD3, CD19, CD20, CD56, and CD14 were selected. Then, the positivity for HLA-DR, inside the LIN- gate, discriminated DC. Gated on DCs, CD11c and CD123 antibodies were used to discriminate cDC (CD11c+CD123+/-) and pDC (CD11c-CD123+). PD-1 and PD-L1 positivity was assessed for monocytes and DC. *FSC, forward scatter; SSC, side scatter; PBMCs, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; LIN-, negative linage; DC, dendritic cells; cDC, myeloid/conventional DC; pDC, plasmacytoid DC; PD-1, programmed-death 1 receptor; PD-L1, programmed-death ligand 1.*

To identify the MDSC we excluded the CD3, CD16, CD19, CD56, and HLA-DR positive cells (Figure 12). In the remaining population, MDSC were discriminated through their positivity for CD33 and CD11b antibodies. Gated on MDSC, the expression of CD15 and CD14 were used to discriminate the early myeloid-derived suppressor cells (e-MDSC) (CD14-CD15-), M-MDSC (CD14+CD15±), and PMN-MDSC (CD14-CD15+).



Figure 12 | **MDSCs gate strategy.** The events corresponding to the live cells were isolated through the analysis of the size and complexity. Doublet discrimination was performed with a FSC-H *vs* FSC-A dot plot. Then, MDSC were identified, gated on leucocytes, through their negativity for CD16, HLA-DR, CD3, CD19, and CD56, and their positivity for CD33 and CD11b antibodies. Gated on MDSC, the expression of CD15 and CD14 were used to discriminate the e-MDSC (CD14-CD15-), M-MDSC (CD14+CD15±), and PMN-MDSC (CD14-CD15+). *FSC, forward scatter; SSC, side scatter; LEU, leucocytes; LIN-, negative linage; MDSCs, myeloid-derived suppressor cells; e-MDSCs, early MDSCs; M-MDSCs, monocytic MDSCs; G-MDSCs, granulocytic MDSCs.*

3.3 Quantification of immune-related gene expression

3.3.1 Sample preparation

To perform the analysis of immune-related genes the whole blood, collected into PAXgene® Blood RNA tubes (Qiagen, Germany), was used. After collection, the tubes were incubated for 2 hours at room temperature, allowing the complete lysis of blood cells, and then stored at -80^oC. Before starting the RNA extraction procedure, the tubes were equilibrated at room temperature and incubated at this temperature for 2 hours.

3.3.2 RNA isolation, quantification, and purity assessment

After 2 hours of incubation, we used the PAXgene Blood RNA Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), according to the manufacturer's instructions, to perform the RNA

extraction. Succinctly, the tubes were centrifugated to pellet nucleic acids. This pellet was then washed, resuspended, and incubated at 55^oC with optimized buffers and proteinase K, allowing protein digestion. The lysate was submitted to a centrifugation through the PAXgene Shredder spin column to homogenize the solution and remove cell debris. Ethanol was added to the supernatant resulting from this centrifugation, to adjust the binding conditions, and then the solution was applied to a PAXgene RNA spin column, where the RNA was selectively bound. Several washing steps were performed to eliminate remaining contaminants and the bound DNA was removed with DNase I treatment. At last, elution buffer was added to the column and the eluted RNA was heat-denatured. Following the extraction, the purity of the RNA was assessed through the ratio of the absorbance at 260 nm to the absorbance at 280 nm, using a NanoDrop 2000 (ThermoFisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE, USA).

3.3.3 cDNA synthesis

To synthesize the complementary DNA (cDNA), the iScriptTM Reverse Transcription Supermix for RT-qPCR (BIO-RAD, Hercules, CA, USA) was used. This cDNA synthesis supermix contains all the necessary components for reverse transcription except the RNA template, including RNase H+ Moloney murine leukemia virus reverse transcriptase, RNase inhibitor, dNTPs, oligo(dT), random primers, buffer, MgCl₂, and stabilizers. This supermix was mixed with the RNA templates and incubated in a thermal cycler (Mastercycler Pro S, Eppendorf AG, Germany). The protocol consisted of an incubation of 5 minutes at 25^oC for priming, an incubation of 20 minutes at 46^oC for the reverse transcription, and lastly an incubation of 1 minute at 95^oC for reverse transcription inactivation. The resulted cDNA was stored at -20^oC until the gene expression analysis.

3.3.4 Gene expression analysis

All cDNA samples were added to a 96 wells master plate. Taking advantage of a semi-automated pipetting system (epMotion® 96, Eppendorf AG, USA), the master plate was replicated, obtaining a 96 well plate for the quantification of each gene. Besides the cDNA samples of STS patients, non-template control reactions were performed in each plate to guarantee no unspecific amplifications.

The real-time PCR was performed using the kit iTaqTM Universal SYBR® Green Supermix (BIO-RAD, Hercules, CA, USA), containing a ready-to-use reaction master mix optimized, according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, at room temperature, the supermix was mixed with RNase-free water and with the forward and reverse primers for the genes of interest or the reference genes (Supplementary Table II). The reference genes were selected according to the work of Vandesompele *et al.*²⁵⁸. After ensuring the solution homogeneity, equal aliquots were dispensed into each well of the 96 well plates containing the cDNA samples and the non-template controls, varying only the primers between the plates. The plates containing the reaction mix were incubated in the thermal cycler (Roche LightCycler II 480, Basel, Switzerland) previously programed for one pre-incubation cycle of 2 minutes at 95°C, 50 amplification cycles of 5 seconds ate 95°C and one minute at 60°C, and a melt curve analysis (65-95°C).

3.3.5 Analysis and quantification

Calibrated normalized relative quantification (CNRQ) of gene expression was obtained using qBase+ v3.2 software (Biogazelle, Gent, Belgium).

3.4 Multiplex Analyte Profiling (xMAP) of plasma

Cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, soluble receptors, and immune checkpoints were analyzed using Luminex's xMAP® technology. This technology combines advanced fluidics, optics, and digital processing with proprietary microsphere technology to deliver multiplex assay capabilities. The technique involves microsphere beads that are color-coded into up to 500 distinct sets. Each bead is then coated with a reagent specific to an analyte from the sample. Inside the Luminex® analyzer, it is possible to identify each bead and also any reporter dye captured during the assay, through a light source that excites the internal and the reporter dyes. Compared to other traditional methods, such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), western blotting, and PCR, this technique offers several advantages, including speed and high throughput, versatility, flexibility, accuracy, and reproducibility²⁵⁹.

In this study, a panel of 65 cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and soluble receptors, the Immune Monitoring 65-Plex Human ProcartaPlex[™] Panel, was analyzed. Targets include proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL), B-cell activating factor (BAFF),

B lymphocyte chemoattractant (BLC/CXCL13), CD30, epithelial neutrophil activating peptide (ENA)-78 (CXCL5), Eotaxin-2 (CCL24), Eotaxin-3 (CCL26), FGF-2, Fractalkine (CX3CL1), IL-16, IL-2R (CD25), IL-20, interferon-inducible T cell alpha chemoattractant (I-TAC/CXCL11), MCP-2 (CCL8), MCP-3 (CCL7), macrophagederived chemokine (MDC/CCL22), macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), monokine induced by gamma interferon (MIG/CXCL9), TNF-RII, TRAIL (CD253), thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), TNF-related weak inducer of apoptosis (TWEAK), CD40L (CD154), Eotaxin (CCL11), Gro-alpha (CXCL1), G-CSF (CSF-3), granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), HGF, IFN alpha, interferon gamma-induced protein 10 (IP-10/CXCL10), IFN gamma, IL-1 alpha, IL-1 beta, IL-2, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8 (CXCL8), IL-9, IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-13, IL-15, IL-17A (CTLA-8), IL-18, IL-21, IL-22, IL-23, IL-27, IL-31, LIF, M-CSF, MCP-1 (CCL2), macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 alpha (CCL3), MIP-1 beta (CCL4), MIP-3 alpha (CCL20), matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-1, nerve growth factor (NGF) beta, stromal cell-derived factor (SDF)-1 alpha (CXCL12), stem cell factor (SCF), TNF alpha, TNF beta, VEGF-A. (Supplementary Table III). Furthermore, 3 panels of immune checkpoints, the Immuno-Oncology Checkpoint 14-Plex Human ProcartaPlex[™] Panel 1 and 2, and Immuno-Oncology Checkpoint 10-Plex Human ProcartaPlex[™] Panel 3, were also used. These 38 immune checkpoints include BTLA, CD137/4-1BB, CD152/CTLA-4, CD27, CD28, CD80, glucocorticoid-induced tumor necrosis factor receptor (GITR), herpes virus entry mediator (HVEM), IDO-1, LAG3, PD-1, PD-L1, PD-L2, Tim-3, E-Cadherin, MHC class I polypeptide-related sequence (MIC)A, MICB, NT5E (CD73), Nectin-2 (CD112), poliovirus receptor (PVR/CD155), Perforin, Siglec-7, Siglec-9, T Cell-activated increased late expression protein (TACTILE/CD96), UL16 binding protein (ULBP)-1, ULBP-3 and ULBP-4, B7-H6, CD134 (OX40), CD276 (B7-H3), CD47, CD48, Galectin-9, ICOSL (B7-H2), S100A8/A9, T cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain containing (TIMD)-4 and V-domain Ig suppressor of T cell activation (VISTA) (B7-H5). (Supplementary Table IV).

3.4.1 Sample preparation

To perform this analysis, the plasma was isolated from whole blood, collected into an EDTA tube, through a $1250 \times g$ centrifugation for 10 minutes, and then stored at -20° C until the analysis. Before starting the protocol, the frozen samples were thawed at 4°C, mixed well by vortexing, and centrifugated at $10,000 \ge g$ for 10 minutes in order to remove particulates. After, the supernatant of each plasma sample was added to a 96 wells plate.

3.4.2 Assay protocol

After the plate map definition, the magnetic beads were vortexed and added to each well. Then, the magnetic beads were washed, and the Universal Assay Buffer was added to each well. For wells dedicated to plasma samples, the plasma samples were added. For the standards, controls, and blanks, antigen standards prepared by sequential dilution, controls, and Universal Assay Buffer were added, respectively. After an incubation for 120 minutes with shanking at 500 rpm at room temperature, the plate was washed twice, and the detection antibody mixture was added to each well. Following this, the plate was incubated for 30 minutes with shanking at 500 rpm at room temperature, and then it was washed twice again. The Streptavidin-PE solution was added, the plate was again incubated for 30 minutes with shanking at 500 rpm at room temperature and washed twice. Lastly, the beads were resuspended in reading buffer, incubated for 5 minutes at 500 rpm and at room temperature, and acquired on Luminex® xMAP® 100/200TM system.

3.4.3 Analysis and quantification

Data were analyzed according to the operation manual in the ProcartaPlex[™] Analysis App (https://apps.thermofisher.com/apps/procartaplex). The analytes with concentrations outside the limits of quantification were excluded from the analysis.

3.5 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses and the graphs were performed and generated using GraphPad Prism 9.2.0 for Windows (GraphPad Sofware, San Diego, CA, USA). The Mann-Whitney test was used to compare the means between two groups. The data is presented as mean \pm standard deviation and a value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

For the visualization of clusters of multivariate data, we use the Principal Component Analysis (PCA) and heatmaps, accessed online in ClustVis
(https://biit.cs.ut.ee/clustvis). In the PCA analysis, original values were ln(x+1)-transformed, unit variance scaling was applied to rows, and singular value decomposition with imputation was used to calculate principal components. X and Y axis show principal component 1 and principal component 2 that explain the indicated percentages of the total variance. Prediction ellipses are such that with a probability of 0.95, a new observation from the same group will fall inside the ellipse. For the heatmaps, original values were also ln(x + 1)-transformed, rows were centered, unit variance scaling was applied to rows, imputation was used for missing value estimation, and both rows and columns were clustered using Manhattan distance and Ward (unsquared distances) linkage. Clustering distances were obtained using Pearson correlation subtracted from 1. Ward linkage method was calculated using the sum of squared differences from points to centroids as the distance.

For the OS analysis, we used the Kaplan-Meier survival analysis. OS time was defined as the time, in months, from the sample harvest to the date of death or the date of the last follow-up (censored patients). The Kaplan–Meier curves were performed in IBM SPSS statistics version 26.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). The levels of the immune-related factors in patient blood were considered high if their percentage were above the median and low if their percentage were under the median. Then, a log-rank test was used to assess the potential associations between the immune-factors significantly altered and the patient survival.



4 Results

In the present study, an extensive characterization of the immune cells, immunerelated gene expression, and immune-related soluble factors, present in the peripheral blood of STS patients, was performed to identify immunological parameters dependent on the treatment. Our data revealed differences in the frequencies and repertoire of immune cells, and in the expression of immune-related genes between therapies. Regarding the soluble levels of several cytokines, chemokines, immune-checkpoints, and other immune-related factors, no differences were found. Moreover, we analyzed the influence of long-term trabected in therapy in the immunological *status*. Here, we found alterations in the frequency of immune cell populations, in the expression of immunerelated genes, and in the immune-related soluble factors analyzed between TRAB<20 and TRAB>20 groups. Lastly, we performed survival analyses based on the parameters with a significantly different expression between the groups.

4.1 Immunophenotyping of STS patients according to treatment

Concerning the absolute and relative frequency of the major populations of leucocytes (granulocytes, monocytes, DC, and lymphocytes) and, particularly, the subpopulations of lymphocytes (T, B, NK, and NKT-like cells), there were no significant differences between ANTH and TRAB groups (Figure 13). To clarify the immunomodulatory role of trabectedin, we compared the same peripheral immune cell subsets between TRAB \leq 20 and TRAB \geq 20. Similar to the results obtained between therapy groups, the absolute and relative frequency of the major populations did not vary with a long-term trabectedin therapy.



Figure 13 | Major populations of leucocytes and lymphocytes in the ANTH vs TRAB and TRAB \leq 20 vs TRAB>20 group of patients. Fresh whole blood from STS patients was stained with extracellular antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry. (A-B) Absolute and relative frequency, respectively, of leucocyte subsets in ANTH (N=7) and TRAB patients (N=24). (C-D) Absolute and relative frequency, respectively, of leucocyte subsets in TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) and TRAB>20 patients (N=13). (E-F) Absolute and relative frequency, respectively, of lymphocyte subsets in ANTH (N=7) and TRAB patients (N=24). (G-H) Absolute and relative frequency, respectively, of lymphocyte subsets in ANTH (N=7) and TRAB \geq 20 (N= 11) and TRAB \geq 20 (N= 11) and TRAB \geq 20 (N= 11) and TRAB \geq 20 patients (N=24). (G-H) Absolute and relative frequency, respectively, of lymphocyte subsets in TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) and TRAB \geq 20 (N= 11) and TRAB \geq 20 patients (N=13). Mann-Whitney test was used for the statistical analysis. *ANTH*, *patients who had undergone anthracycline-based therapy; TRAB*, *patients who had undergone trabectedin-based therapy; TRAB* \leq 20, *patients who completed* \leq 20 *trabectedin cycles; TRAB* \geq 20, *patients who completed* \geq 20 *trabectedin cycles; TRAB* \geq 20, *patients who completed* \geq 20 *trabectedin cycles; OR, granulocytes; MO, monocytes; DC, dendritic cells; LY, lymphocytes; NK, Natural Killer; ns, not statistically significant.*

4.1.1 CD4/CD8, activated, and memory T cell subsets

Although the absolute frequency of T cell subsets remained similar between groups (Figure 14A and 14C), we found alterations in the relative frequency of these subsets in both analyses (Figure 14B and 14D). TRAB patients exhibited a higher





Figure 14 | **T cells in the ANTH** *vs* **TRAB and TRAB** \leq **20** *vs* **TRAB**>**20 group of patients.** Fresh whole blood from STS patients was stained with extracellular antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry. (**A-B**) Absolute and relative frequency, respectively, of T cell subsets in ANTH (N= 7) *vs* TRAB patients (N=24). (**C-D**) Absolute and relative frequency, respectively, of T cell subsets in TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=13). (**E-F**) Relative frequency of activated T cell subsets in ANTH (N= 7) *vs* TRAB patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=13), respectively. (**G-H**) Relative frequency of memory T cell subsets in ANTH (N= 7) *vs* TRAB patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=13), respectively. Mann-Whitney test was used for the statistical analysis. *ANTH, patients who had undergone anthracycline-based therapy; TRAB, patients who had undergone trabectedin-based therapy; TRAB\leq20, patients who completed \leq20 trabectedin cycles; TRAB>20, patients who completed \leq20 trabectedin cycles; DN, double negative; DP, double positive; EMRA, effector memory cells re-expressing CD45RA; ns, not statistically significant; p-value < 0.05^*, < 0.01^{**}, < 0.001^{****}.*

To perform a more comprehensive analysis of the peripheral immune content of STS patients, we assessed the memory and activation *status* of several immune cell populations. Concerning the T cell subsets, a higher relative frequency of activated CD4 T cells (HLA-DR+ CD38+ CD4 T cells) $(1 \pm 1\% vs 5 \pm 8\%; p = 0.01)$ (Figure 14E) and a lower frequency of *naïve* CD4 T cells (24 ± 12% vs 12 ± 9%; p = 0.02) (Figure 14G) were found in the TRAB patients). In addition, we evaluated the impact of DN T cells, DP T cells, activated CD4 T cells, and *naïve* CD4 T cells on patient outcome, but no significant differences in patient OS were found.

4.1.2 Natural Killer and Natural Killer T-like cells

While the total NK cell levels did not alter between therapies and number of trabectedin cycles, CD56^{bright} NK cells were significantly decreased ($21 \pm 12\% vs 12 \pm 10\%$; p = 0.03), and consequently, CD56^{dim} NK cells were increased in the TRAB>20 group ($79 \pm 12\% vs 88 \pm 10\%$; p = 0.03) (Figure 15). We also assessed the surface expression of PD-1 and found increased PD-1 NK cells in the peripheral blood of TRAB patients ($0.2 \pm 0.2\% vs 2.6 \pm 6.9\%$; p = 0.03). Although the expression of the immune checkpoint PD-1 was also assessed in other immune cell subsets, it was found constantly low and no significant differences between groups were observed.



Figure 15 | NK cells in the ANTH vs TRAB and TRAB \leq 20 vs TRAB>20 group of patients. Fresh whole blood from STS patients was stained with extracellular antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry. (A-B) Relative frequency of total NK cells, CD56^{bright} NK cells, and PD-1 positive NK cells in ANTH (N= 7) vs TRAB patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N=11) vs TRAB>20 patients (N=13), respectively. Mann-Whitney test was used for the statistical analysis. *ANTH, patients who had undergone anthracycline-based therapy; TRAB, patients who had undergone trabectedinbased therapy; TRAB\leq20, patients who completed \leq20 trabectedin cycles; TRAB>20, patients who completed >20 trabectedin cycles; NK, Natural Killer; ns, not statistically significant; p-value < 0.05*, <0.01**, <0.001***, or < 0.0001****.*

Concerning NKT-like cells, two subsets of NKT-like cells were identified through the surface expression of the CD3, the CD3^{dim} NKT-like cells, and the CD3^{bright} NKTlike cells. Additionally, we also assessed the activation *status* of these cells. We did not observe significant differences in the frequency of both subsets between patient therapies and number of trabectedin cycles (Figure 16). However, the activated subset of CD3^{bright} NKT-like cells, identified by their positivity for the activation marker HLA-DR, were found decreased in the TRAB>20 group of patients ($28 \pm 19\%$ vs $13 \pm 10\%$; p = 0.02).



Figure 16 | NKT-like cells in the ANTH vs TRAB and TRAB \leq 20 vs TRAB \geq 20 group of patients. Fresh whole blood from STS patients was stained with extracellular antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry. (A-B) Relative frequency of total NKT-like cells, CD3^{bright} NKT-like cells, and activated CD3^{bright} NKT-like cells in ANTH (N=7) vs TRAB patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) vs TRAB \geq 20 patients (N=13), respectively. Mann-Whitney test was used for the statistical analysis. *ANTH, patients who had undergone anthracycline-based therapy; TRAB, patients who had undergone trabectedin-based therapy; TRAB\leq20, patients who completed \leq20 trabectedin cycles; TRAB\geq20, patients who completed \geq20 trabectedin cycles; NK, Natural Killer; ns, not statistically significant; p-value < 0.05*, <0.01***, <0.001***, or < 0.0001****.*

Furthermore, we tried to correlate the high levels of CD56^{bright} NK cells, CD56^{dim} NK cells, PD-1 NK cells and activated CD3^{bright} NKT-like cells with patient OS, but no significant differences were observed.

4.1.3 Dendritic cells

Once more, no alterations were found in the absolute and relative levels of total DC in both analyses. However, the analysis of their major subsets showed a decreased level of pDC in the TRAB>20 group of patients $(20 \pm 14\% vs \ 11 \pm 9\%; p = 0.04)$ (Figure 17).



Figure 17 | DC in the ANTH vs TRAB and TRAB \leq 20 vs TRAB>20 group of patients. Fresh whole blood from STS patients was stained with extracellular antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry. (A-B) Relative frequency of total DC, cDC and pDC in ANTH (N= 7) vs TRAB patients (N=24), and TRAB \leq 20 (N= 11) vs TRAB>20 patients (N=13), respectively. Mann-Whitney test was used for the statistical analysis. *ANTH, patients who had undergone anthracycline-based therapy; TRAB, patients who had undergone trabectedin-based therapy; TRAB\leq20, patients who completed \leq20 trabectedin cycles; TRAB>20, patients who completed >20 trabectedin cycles; DC, dendritic cells; cDC, conventional dendritic cells; pDC, plasmacytoid dendritic cells; ns, not statistically significant; p-value < 0.05^*, <0.01^{**}, <0.001^{***}, or < 0.0001^{****}.*

4.1.4 Regulatory T cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells

Given the suppressor role of Tregs and MDSC, we compared the frequency of these cells between therapies and number of trabectedin cycles (Figure 18). Total Tregs were not altered in both analyses. Nevertheless, when we analyzed the expression of the memory marker CD45RO on Tregs, we found higher levels of memory Tregs in the TRAB group ($87 \pm 3\% vs 91 \pm 7\%$; p = 0.04). Similarly, no significant differences in the total MDSC were found, but in the TRAB group, a significant decrease in the e-MDSC (Lin-CD11b+CD33+CD14-CD15-) ($36 \pm 23\% vs 15 \pm 16\%$; p = 0.02), with a consequent expansion of the M-MDSC (Lin-CD11b+CD33+CD14+CD15±), was observed. In the survival analysis, neither the high levels of memory Tregs nor e-MDSC were significantly correlated with the patient OS.



Figure 18 | **Suppressive cells in the ANTH** *vs* **TRAB and TRAB**≤20 *vs* **TRAB**>20 group of patients. Fresh whole blood from STS patients was stained with extracellular antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry. (**A-B**) Absolute and relative frequency, respectively, of MDSC subsets in ANTH (N= 7) *vs* TRAB patients (N=24). (**C-D**) Absolute and relative frequency, respectively, of MDSC subsets in TRAB≤20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=13). (**E-F**) Relative frequency of total Tregs, memory Tregs, and activated Tregs (HLA-DR Tregs) in ANTH (N= 7) *vs* TRAB patients (N=24), and TRAB≤20 (N= 11) *vs* TRAB>20 patients (N=13), respectively. Mann-Whitney test was used for the statistical analysis. *ANTH, patients who had undergone anthracycline-based therapy; TRAB, patients who had undergone trabectedin-based therapy; TRAB≤20, patients who completed ≤20 trabectedin cycles; <i>TRAB*>20, patients who completed >20 trabectedin cycles; *MDSC, myeloid-derived suppressor cells; e-MDSC, early-stage MDSC; MDSC, mononuclear MDSC; PMN-MDSC, polymorphonuclear MDSC; Tregs, regulatory T cells; ns, not statistically significant; p-value < 0.05*, <0.01**, <0.001***, or <0.0001****.*

4.2 Immune-related gene expression profiling

We performed a PCA and a cluster analysis in order to identify expression patterns associated with the two types of therapy or associated with the number of trabectedin cycles (Figure 19).



Figure 19 | **Expression of immune-related genes in ANTH** *vs* **TRAB patients.** RNA was extracted from the whole blood of STS patients, cDNA was synthesized, and the expression of immune-related genes was assessed by real-time PCR. (**A**) Heatmap for the serum expression levels of the immune-related genes analyzed in ANTH (N=7) and TRAB patients (N=24). (**B**) PCA for the expression of the immune-related genes analyzed in ANTH (N=7) and TRAB patients (N=24). (**C**) Volcano plot for differential immune-related genes expression in ANTH *vs* TRAB patients. Scattered points represent genes, the x-axis is the log2 fold change for the ratio ANTH *vs* TRAB, whereas the y-axis is the negative log (P value), and where the P value is the probability that a gene has statistical significance in its differential expression. The dots identified on the right side correspond to the genes over-expressed, and the dots identified on the left side correspond to the genes under-expressed in TRAB patients. (**D**) Calibrated normalized relative quantity of mRNA expressing the genes CCL4, CCL3, IL-1 β , FCGR3A, and SELL in ANTH (N=7) and TRAB patients (N=24). Mann-Whitney test was used for the statistical analysis. *ANTH, patients who had undergone anthracycline-based therapy; TRAB, patients who had undergone trabectedin-based therapy; PC1, principal component 1; PC2, principal component 2; CNRQ, calibrated normalized relative quantity; p-value < 0.05*, <0.01**, <0.001***, or <0.0001****.*

Concerning the two types of therapy, the PCA analysis showed two overlapping groups (Figure 19B). The cluster analysis showed some evident clusters (Figure 19A). However, there are patients from both therapy groups in most clusters formed, in other words, the therapy groups do not form separate clusters based on the expression of immune-related genes. Further, a Mann-Whitney test comparing the expression of each immune-related gene between groups was performed. In these analyses, the genes encoding IL-1 β (IL1B), CD16A (FCGR3A), and L-selectin (SELL) were found more expressed in TRAB patients ($0.6 \pm 0.2\%$ vs $1.3 \pm 1.5\%$; p = 0.03, $1.0 \pm 1.6\%$ vs $1.9 \pm 1.9\%$; p = 0.03, $0.7 \pm 0.4\%$ vs $1.3 \pm 0.8\%$; p = 0.04, respectively) (Figure 19C and 19D). On the contrary, the genes encoding CCL4 and CCL3 were found less expressed in this group of patients ($1.8 \pm 1.0\%$ vs $0.9 \pm 0.5\%$; p = 0.01, $1.8 \pm 1.1\%$ vs $0.9 \pm 0.5\%$; p = 0.02, respectively). Moreover, we evaluated the correlation between these genes and the patient OS and no significant associations were observed.

We repeated the immune-related gene expression analysis, now comparing TRAB \leq 20 and TRAB \geq 20 group of patients. Once more, the cluster analysis showed some evident clusters (Figure 20A). However, the two groups are distributed through the clusters. Similarly, the PCA analysis showed two overlapping groups (Figure 20B). Nevertheless, a Mann-Whitney test comparing the expression of each immune-related gene between groups was performed, and the gene FGF2 was found less expressed (14 ± 14% vs 4 ± 3%; p = 0.04) while the gene CXCL1 were more expressed in TRAB \geq 20 patients (1.0 ± 0.9% vs 1.6 ± 0.8%; p = 0.02) (Figure 20C and 20D). Again, no significant correlation between the high expression of these immune-related factors and the patient OS was found.



Figure 20 | **The effect of the number of trabectedin cycles in the expression of immune-related genes.** RNA was extracted from the whole blood of STS patients, cDNA was synthesized, and the expression of immune-related genes was assessed by real-time PCR. **(A)** Heatmap for the expression levels of the immune-related genes analyzed in TRAB \leq 20 (N=11) and TRAB \geq 20 patients (N=13). **(B)** PCA for the expression of the immune-related genes analyzed in TRAB \leq 20 (N=11) and TRAB \geq 20 patients (N=13). **(C)** Volcano plot for differential immune-related genes expression in TRAB \leq 20 *vs* TRAB \geq 20 patients. Scattered points represent genes, the x-axis is the log2 fold change for the ratio between the two groups, whereas the y-axis is the negative log (P value), and where the P value is the probability that a gene has statistical significance in its differential expression. The dots identified on the right side correspond to the genes over-expressed, and the dots identified on the left side correspond to the genes FGF2 and CXCL1 in TRAB \leq 20 (N=11) and TRAB \geq 20 patients (N=13). Mann-Whitney test was used for the statistical analysis. *TRAB* \leq 20, *patients who completed* \leq 20 *trabectedin cycles; TRAB* \geq 20, *patients who completed* \geq 20 *trabectedin cycles; PC1, principal component 1; PC2, principal component 2; CNRQ, calibrated normalized relative quantity; p-value < 0.05*, <0.01***, <0.001***, or <0.0001****.*

4.3 Plasmatic levels of soluble immune-related factors

The network of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, as well as other immune-related factors, are essential during an immune response. Also, their role in tumor development, progression, and recurrence has been suggested in a large diversity of cancers, including STS¹⁶¹.

Since studies have shown an impact of trabectedin on the production of some immune-related factors in the TME¹⁵⁹, we evaluated the presence of immune-related factors in the plasma. In this analysis, we found no significant differences in the soluble level of any immune-related factors analyzed between the TRAB and ANTH groups. Considering the TRAB < 20 and the TRAB > 20 group of patients, a PCA analysis showed, once more, two overlapping groups (Figure 21B). The cluster analysis showed two distinct patterns, but patients from the two groups were found in both clusters (Figure 21A). Further, we performed a Mann-Whitney test comparing the levels of each soluble immune-related factor between the two groups of patients (Figure 21C). Here, we found significant higher levels of the soluble immune-checkpoints PD-L2 and B7-H2 (3395 \pm $428 \text{ pg/mL} vs 4764 \pm 1517 \text{ pg/mL}; p = 0.03, 408 \pm 307 \text{ pg/mL} vs 1165 \pm 491 \text{ pg/mL}; p =$ 0.004) (Figure 21D). Furthermore, higher levels of soluble PD-L2 were significantly correlated with longer OS in patients who had undergone long-term trabected in therapy [high PD-L2: time = 19.7 ± 4.0 months (11.8 - 27.6) vs low PD-L2: time = 7.8 ± 3.3 months (1.2 - 14.4); p = 0.04] (Figure 21E). Similarly, higher B7-H2 soluble levels were also correlated with a better outcome [high B7-H2: time = 20.0 ± 2.7 months (14.7 – 25.3) vs low B7-H2: time = 0.8 ± 0.5 months (0.0 - 1.8); p = 0.002].



Figure 21 | The effect of the number of trabectedin cycles in the levels of soluble immune-related factors. Plasma was isolated from the whole blood of STS patients, and the levels of several cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, and immune checkpoints were measured using ProcartaPlex Human Immune Monitoring 65-Plex Panel, ProcartaPlex Human Immuno-Oncology Checkpoint Panel 1 14-Plex, ProcartaPlex Human Immuno-Oncology Checkpoint Panel 2 14-Plex, and ProcartaPlex Human Immuno-Oncology Checkpoint Panel 3 10-Plex. (A) Heatmap for the levels of the soluble immune factors analyzed in the plasma of TRAB <20 (N=8) and TRAB >20 patients (N=9). (B) PCA for the levels of the soluble immune factors analyzed in the plasma of TRAB <20 (N=8) and TRAB >20 patients (N=9). (C) Volcano plot for differential soluble levels of immune-related factors in TRAB 20 vs TRAB>20 patients. Scattered points represent soluble factors, the x-axis is the log2 fold change for the ratio between the groups, whereas the y-axis is the negative log (P value), and where the P value is the probability that a soluble factor has statistical significance in its differential levels. The dots identified on the right side correspond to the soluble factors with increased levels, and the dots identified on the left side correspond to the soluble factors with decreased levels in TRAB>20 patients. (D) Concentration in pg/mL of sPD-L2 and sB7-H2 in TRAB ≤ 20 (N=8) and TRAB > 20 patients (N=9). Mann-Whitney test was used for the statistical analysis. (E) Overall survival in months of TRAB>20 patients according to the levels sPD-L2 and sB7-H2. Analysis was performed with the Kaplan-Meier method and a log-rank test. The levels of both soluble immune checkpoints in patient blood were considered high if their percentage were above the median and low if their percentage were under the median. $TRAB \le 20$, patients who completed ≤ 20 trabected in cycles; TRAB > 20, patients who completed >20 trabectedin cycles; sPD-L2, soluble programmed death-ligand 2; PC1, principal component 1; PC2, principal component 2; p-value < 0.05*, <0.01***, <0.001****, or < 0.0001****.



5 Discussion

Aiming to evaluate the peripheral immunological *status*, we assessed the presence of immune cells, immune-related soluble factors, and the expression of immune-related genes in the blood of STS patients. To understand if the peripheral immunological *status* varies between therapies, we divided the patients into two groups: patients who had undergone anthracycline-based therapy and patient who had undergone trabectedin-based therapy. Further, to better understand the immunomodulatory role of trabectedin, we divided the trabectedin group into: patients who had undergone less than 20 cycles and patients who had undergone more than 20 cycles. Then, we compared the immunological *status* between these groups and assessed the prognostic value of the differentially expressed factors.

Our results showed no significant differences in the major immune cell populations neither between therapies nor between number of trabectedin cycles. Similarly, the cluster and PCA analyses showed that the patterns of expression and the soluble levels of the immune-related factors analyzed varies largely between the patients. However, this variance is not due to the therapy used or the number of trabectedin cycles. Even so, when we analyzed the presence of more specific immune cell subsets or when we compared each immune-related factor individually, we did find significant differences between the groups (Figure 22). These results suggest the need for deeper immunological analyses, since the therapy caused alterations in the levels of several specific immune cell subsets, even when the major immune cells did not appear to be altered.



Anthracyclines

Not associated with patient overall survival Associated with longer patient overall survival

Figure 22 | The effect of therapy and number of trabectedin cycles in the peripheral immunological status of STS patients. The frequency of immune cells was assessed by flow cytometry, the expression of immune-related genes was performed by real-time PCR, and the quantification of soluble immune-related factors by Multiplex Analyte Profiling (xMAP®) technology, in blood samples of STS patients. The levels of DN T cells, activated CD4 T cells, PD-1 NK cells, memory Tregs, and the expression of IL1B, FCGR3A, and SELL were found increased in the group of patients who had undergone trabectedin-based therapy, when compared to anthracycline-based therapy. The levels of naïve CD4 T cells, e-MDSC, and the expression of CCL3 and CCL4 were found decreased in the TRAB group. When we analyzed the patients on long-term trabected in therapy (>20 cycles), the frequencies of CD56^{dim} NK cells and DP T cells, the levels of sPD-L2 and sB7-H2, and the expression of CXCL1 were found increased when compared with ≤20 cycles of trabectedin. Contrary, pDC, activated CD3^{brigh} NKT-like cells, and the expression of FGF2 were decreased in the patients submitted to long-term trabectedin therapy. Higher levels of sPD-L2 and sB7-H2 were correlated with longer overall survival (green). DN, double negative; Act, activated; PD-1, programmed death-1 receptor; Tregs, regulatory T cells; e-MDSC, early myeloid-derived suppressor cells; NK, Natural Killer, DP, double positive; pDC, plasmacytoid dendritic cells; sPD-L2, soluble programmed death-ligand 2.

5.1 Immunophenotyping of STS patients according to therapy

5.1.1 CD4/CD8, activated and memory T cell subsets

The DN T cells, characterized by the expression of CD3 but lack of CD4 and CD8. comprise a small but essential fraction of T cells, with ~90% representing gamma-delta T cells^{260,261}. During an immune response, DN T cells can play a dual role, presenting a cytotoxic or an immunosuppressive phenotype²⁶². In human pancreatic cancer, this cell population was able to inhibit the proliferation and invasion of tumor cells²⁶⁰. Later, an expansion protocol was developed, and the expanded human DN T cells demonstrated an effective antitumor activity against leukemia cells in vitro²⁶³. Considering the promising results in leukemia, ex vivo expanded DN T cells were also tested in non-small-cell lung cancer cell lines and xenograft models, leading to an effective cytotoxic activity and

DISCUSSION

inhibition of tumor growth, respectively²⁶⁴. Besides their promising use in adoptive T cell therapy, the function of DN T cells remains unclear and occasionally controversial. In addition, the role of peripheral DN T cells, in particular in STS, remains unknown. Here, we observed an increase in DN T cells in the TRAB group. Taking into account their apparent antitumor effect, the increased levels of DN T cells in the TRAB group may contribute to the trabectedin efficacy.

Contrary to DN T cells, the DP T cells are characterized by the expression of CD3 and both CD4 and CD8. Initially, they were seen only as a development stage within the thymus. Nevertheless, the presence of this subset in the blood of normal individuals as well as in several pathological conditions, including cancer, motivated the investigation on DN T cell function²⁶⁵. So far, their function is controversial and remains to be elucidated. While some studies reported their cytotoxic activity in the TME, an association with poor outcome was also suggested^{265–267}. In addition to their controversial role in the TME, their role in the peripheral blood was poorly explored. In the blood of patients with urological cancers, DP T cells were found to be responsible to favor the Th2 polarization of naïve CD4 T cells, promoting the tumor escape. Concerning STS patients, the function of circulating DP T cells remains to be explored. We found an increase of this subset in the TRAB>20 group, but no significant correlation with patient OS was found. The fact that both cytotoxic and immunosuppressive roles were attributed to DP T cells may indicate heterogeneity or pleiotropic functions in this cell subset. These distinct functions could be due to the influence of different microenvironments, so these cells need to be investigated in each particular disease context.

CD4 T cells, also known as T helper cells, help the priming, the migratory potential, and also the cytotoxic activity of CD8 T cells, being essential systemically for an effective antitumor immune response^{268,269}. Although no significant alterations were observed in their total frequency, the activated CD4 T cells, identified by the expression of CD38 in combination with HLA-DR, were increased in the TRAB group. In STS the clinical relevance of this subtype in the peripheral blood remains unknown, and in the TME, CD4 T cells role is controversial. While some studies claim an association between their presence and a favorable outcome^{189,190}, the opposite was also observed in other studies^{191,192}. Besides CD4 T cells activation, we also assessed their memory *status* and found a decrease in the frequency of *naïve* CD4 T cells in the peripheral blood of TRAB group. The function of this specific subtype in cancer, and particularly in STS, is still unknown. However, Su *et al.* reported that the circulating *naïve* CD4 T cells could

DISCUSSION

differentiate into Tregs *in situ*, enhancing the Tregs infiltration and suppressing the immune response against the breast tumor²⁷⁰. They also concluded that when the recruitment of *naïve* CD4 T cells is blocked, the tumor progression is inhibited.

5.1.2 Natural Killer and Natural Killer T-like cells

Named by their ability to kill tumor cells without prior sensitization, NK cells could be distinguished based on their expression of CD56 into: CD56^{bright} and CD56^{dim} NK cells. While CD56^{bright} NK cells are more responsible for an immunoregulatory role, CD56^{dim} NK cells have a higher capacity to destroy target cells¹⁰⁸. Their influence on clinical outcome has been evaluated in several cancers^{271–273}. In STS, studies found generally a low density of NK cells infiltration, and demonstrated a correlation between higher infiltration and better patient outcome^{171,184,197}. Regarding the peripheral NK cells levels, studies found both CD56^{bright} and CD56^{dim} subsets in the blood of STS patients. In our study, we also found both subsets, being the CD56^{bright} subset decreased, and consequently, the CD56^{dim} increased in the TRAB>20 group. Considering their distinct functions, long-term trabected in therapy appear to favor the subset with higher cytotoxic abilities, which may explain its efficacy against STS. Nevertheless, we did not observe any significant correlation with patient OS.

Originally identified in T cells, PD-1 and their ligands have been the focus of research. The impact of this immune checkpoint in STS was evaluated for the first time by Kim *et al.*¹³⁷. They observed an intratumoral infiltration of PD-1 positive lymphocytes and PD-L1 expression in most STS samples, both correlated with poor prognosis. Although more studies in STS had confirmed this correlation, the opposite was also described¹⁶¹. In the peripheral blood, the expression of these markers has been neglected. In melanoma, only a few PD-1 expressing circulating T cells were found²⁷⁴. We evaluated the expression of PD-1 and PD-L1 in several circulating immune cell populations and found it low or absent in most STS blood samples. Understandably, the research has focused on PD-1 expression on T cells. However, the expression of PD-1 in NK cells is also relevant, especially in tumors that have lost or down-regulated MHC class I molecules, escaping T cell antitumor activity²⁷⁵. Despite the lower percentage of circulating PD-1 NK cells in both groups, they were increased in the patients undergoing trabectedin-based chemotherapy. This suggests that PD-1 NK cells could be also an

important factor to study in STS, especially when the patients had undergone trabected inbased therapies.

For instance, NKT-like cells belong to the subset of T cells and express both the T-cell antigen receptor (TCR) and NK-cell markers^{276,277}. This group of cells lies at the interface between innate and adaptive response and plays a role in anti-infection and anti-tumoral function²⁷⁷. However, their nature, function, and clinical relevance in cancer, and particularly in STS, remain largely unexplored. In other cancers, such as multiple myeloma and gastric cancer, CD3^{dim} NKT-like cell function was found to be impaired, and this impairment was correlated with worse outcome^{278,279}. Moreover, in colorectal and lung cancers, high levels of CD3^{dim} NKT-like cells have been associated with a better outcome^{280,281}. TRAB>20 patients exhibited a low frequency of activated CD3^{bright} NKT-like cells. However, no association was found with patient survival. Further studies are required to understand the role of this specific subset and to make

5.1.3 Dendritic cells

As professional APC and robust producers of IFN-a, DC promote both innate and adaptive immune responses. Usually, these cells are classified into two distinct subsets: cDC and pDC³⁸. Despite their ability to produce large amounts of IFN- α and promote immune responses, pDC are capable to perform either immunogenic or tolerogenic functions depending on the environment²⁸². In cancer, it was demonstrated an impairment of IFN- α production, enhancing the tolerogenic capacity and establishing an immunosuppressive TME²⁸³. Furthermore, higher levels of tumor-associated pDC were associated with an increase of Tregs and shorter OS^{284,285}. Although the role of pDC in the periphery remains underexplored, Hartmann et al. observed a higher production of IFN-α and higher activation of CD4 and CD8 T cells in the lymph nodes when compared to the tumor tissue of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. These results showed for the first time that the impairment function of pDC may occur mainly in the TME, meaning that the tumor does not appear to influence the systemic pDC^{286} . In STS, few studies noted the relevance of DC and their influence on patient outcome. In undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma and myxofibrosarcoma, tumor-infiltrating DC were correlated with improved disease-specific survival. So far, to the best of our knowledge, there are no studies assessing the levels of DC subsets and their correlation with STS outcome. In our study, pDC were found to decreased with the number of trabectedin cycles. Believing that

DISCUSSION

circulating pDC are less dysfunctional and more able to promote the anti-tumor function of T cells, this decreased might prejudicated the immune response against cancer. Nevertheless, no association with OS was observed. Further research is warranted to clarify the role of circulating DC and their subsets in cancer and a larger cohort is necessary to confirm their prognostic role in STS.

5.1.4 Regulatory T cells and myeloid-derived suppressor cells

Tregs were discovered in the periphery in the early 2000s and have since become a focus of research in cancer immunology^{199,287}. In cancer patients, they appear to be increased and possess a potent immunosuppressive activity, so strategies to selective deplete circulating Tregs have emerged^{200,201,288}. However, in STS the role of circulating Tregs remains to be explored. Here, we did not find a significant difference between the percentages of total Tregs between the TRAB and ANTH groups. We did, however, observed an increase in the percentage of memory Tregs. Our findings corroborate previous studies suggesting that the decrease of *naïve* CD4 T cells was due to an expansion of Tregs.

MDSC are mainly responsible for the suppression of T cells and are frequently divided into: PMN-MDSC, M-MDSC, and e-MDSC. Their presence in the peripheral blood has been associated with a poor outcome in several other cancers, including malignant colon cancer, myeloma, and pancreatic cancer²⁸⁹⁻²⁹². In STS, studies concerning the role of MDSC in both the TME and the peripheral blood are still sparse¹⁶¹. Still, Kim et al. observed an association between high levels of M-MDSC and shorter disease-free survival and progression-free survival²⁵⁴. Concerning e-MDSC, this subset comprises a group of immature progenitor cells. Although they have been identified in the circulation and TME of several cancers, their role still needs to be defined $^{293-296}$. In our group of patients, we did not find differences in the frequency of total MDSC between the therapies evaluated. Still, we observed a significant decrease in the relative frequency of e-MDSC in the TRAB group, mainly due to the expansion of the M-MDSC. Here, we found no significant correlation between this subset and OS in both therapy groups. However, based on the relevant role of MDSC and their evident expansion in cancer, as well as in patients undergoing trabected in treatment, our results suggest that MDSC could be of interest to study in this group of patients.

5.2 Immune-related gene expression profiling

The expression of immune-related genes has been studied in other cancers^{241–244}. In STS there are only a few studies concerning their expression, so its clinical significance remains unclear^{245–249}. In myxoid liposarcoma cell lines, it was demonstrated a reduced mRNA level of IL8 and CCL2 after the trabected in treatment. However, in our study, we did not observe significant differences in the mRNA levels of these genes neither between the TRAB and ANTH patients nor between the trabected cycles¹⁵⁹.

The pro-tumorigenic properties of IL-1 β , encoded by the IL1B gene, include the promotion of tumor angiogenesis and the recruitment of immunosuppressive cells²⁹⁷. Furthermore, its role as a negative prognostic factor has been demonstrated in other tumors like human renal cell carcinoma^{298,299}. These pro-tumorigenic activities led to the development of IL-1 β blockade therapies. IL-1 β blockade combined with anti-PD-1 therapy resulted in tumor abrogation in preclinical models of breast cancer³⁰⁰. As far as we are concerned, no studies aimed to evaluate the prognostic role of IL-1 β in STS. In our study, no significant associations were found between the expression of IL-1 β in myxoid liposarcoma cell lines after trabected treatment¹⁵⁹, here, we found higher expression levels of IL-1 β in the blood of the patients undergoing trabected in therapy when compared to the anthracycline group.

FCG3A, also known as CD16a, encoded by the FCGR3A gene, is the functional form of CD16 and plays an essential role during an immune response. Being the specific receptor of IgD, FCG3A establish a bridge between humoral and cellular immunity and became the key to antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity^{301,302}. Furthermore, it also plays an important role in the maturation of DC and, more recently, their positive impact on NK cells cytotoxicity was demonstrated³⁰³. Since we found increased FCGR3A expression in the patients undergoing trabectedin-based chemotherapy, more studies are required to understand if these increased serum expression levels are correlated with the enhanced anti-tumoral activity of NK cells in STS, contributing to the immunomodulatory features of trabectedin therapy.

L-selectin, encoded by the SELL gene, belongs to the selectin family, a versatile group of carbohydrate-binding proteins which have essential functions in the recruitment of leukocytes from the circulation to the diseased tissue³⁰⁴. Though their role appears advantageous, the use of selectins by cancer cells to facilitate metastasis had been

hypothesized^{305,306}. Later, studies with SELL-deficient mice demonstrated a decrease in metastasis, confirming this hypothesis³⁰⁷. Moreover, in the serum of bladder cancer patients, higher concentrations of L-selectin were correlated with metastatic cancer³⁰⁸. In our study, the expression levels of SELL were superior in the patients treated with trabectedin. Furthermore, higher SELL levels tended to be associated with worse OS in both therapy groups, although this correlation did not reach significance in the trabectedin group. More studies are required to understand the dual role of selectins in STS and a larger cohort is needed to confirm these results.

Chemokines CCL3 and CCL4, encoded by CCL3 and CCL4 genes, respectively, seem to be responsible for the migration of DC and tend to promote the invasion of active cytotoxic T cells to the tumor site in the early stage of tumor development, thus they have been suggested to be potential agents for treating cancer³⁰⁹. Concerning CCL4, higher serum levels were associated with improved disease-free survival in colorectal cancer³¹⁰. However, it was also reported that CCL4 could promote tumor development and progression through the recruitment of Tregs and macrophages with a pro-tumoral activity³¹¹. Moreover, higher serum levels were also associated with poor prognostic features in oral squamous cell carcinoma and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma^{312,313}. Similarly, serum levels of CCL3 had been associated with a poor prognosis in other cancers, such as multiple myeloma, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, melanoma, squamous cell carcinoma, and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma³¹³⁻³¹⁷. In this study, we observed a decreased expression of CCL4 and CCL3 in the serum of patients treated with trabectedin, when compared to the patients treated with anthracycline-based therapies. Since their apparent negative role in immunomodulation in other cancers, this decrease may lead to a better outcome, contributing to the efficacy of trabected in chemotherapy. Still, we found no association between OS and the CCL4 and CCL3 expression in STS patients.

As a member of the FGF family, the FGF2, encoded by the FGF2 gene, plays an important role in the body development and growth, wound healing, fibrosis, and inflammatory reactions. This tyrosine kinase is also closely related to tumor angiogenesis and metastasis, contributing to the pathogenesis of tumors^{318–320}. In several cancers, such as lung cancer, prostate cancer, and breast cancer, the high expression of FGF2 has been associated with tumor invasion, tumor metastasis, and then, a poor prognosis^{321–324}. In STS, the FGF2 gene is commonly up-regulated, and a study demonstrated that high serum levels of FGF were significantly correlated with tumor mass and histological grading, suggesting its possible role as a biomarker for tumor follow-up^{217,325}. In our study, we

found a decrease in the levels of FGF2 mRNA when the STS patients were undergoing more than 20 cycles of trabectedin chemotherapy. This decrease might be due to the immunomodulatory role of trabectedin and may contribute to its demonstrated efficacy in STS patients.

Chemokine CXCL1, encoded by the CXCL1 gene, has been reported to promote tumor progression and metastasis in other cancers, as well as angiogenesis when binding to the CXCR2 receptor^{326–328}. Consistently, high CXCL1 expression has been correlated with poor prognosis in these cancers, including colorectal and pancreatic cancer³²⁹. Although studies concerning the role of immune-related chemokines in STS patients are still sparse, one study showed that CXCL1 was also involved in the traffic of MDSC to the tumor site in rhabdomyosarcoma bearing mice. Furthermore, in the serum of patients with metastatic pediatric sarcomas, the same study observed elevated expression of this chemokine³³⁰. In our study, we found an increased expression of CXCL1 in the peripheral blood of TRAB>20 patients. However, we did not find any correlation with patient OS.

5.3 Plasmatic levels of soluble immune-related factors

Immune checkpoints play an essential role in regulating the immune response. There has been a growing interest in the effect of these molecules in cancer, where they are often deregulated, usually functioning as an immune resistance mechanism²²⁴. As was mentioned before, most studies correlated the expression of PD-1 in the TME with a worse prognosis in STS¹⁶¹. There is also a growing interest in their ligands, especially in PD-L1 that has been also associated with poor outcome¹³⁷. However, other studies observed low or absent expression of PD-L1 and claimed no association with prognosis in STS¹⁹². Their serum levels, peripheral expression, and their clinical significance in the peripheral blood remain underexplored. Here we found consistently low serum levels of soluble PD-1 and PD-L1, and a low expression of these factors in peripheral blood. Further, we found no significant association between the presence of these immune checkpoints and clinical outcome in any group of patients.

Besides the PD-L1, PD-L2 also competes for binding to PD-1. Indeed, the interaction between PD-L2 and PD-1 showed higher affinity compared to the interaction between PD-L1 and PD-1. Still, PD-L2 is generally expressed at a lower level, favoring PD-L1 as the primary binding ligand of PD-1³³¹. Identical to PD-L1, the binding of PD-L2 to PD-1 results in an inhibition of cytotoxic T cell response against tumor cells. But,

unlike PD-L1, the PD-L2 can also bind to the repulsive guidance molecule B (RGMB) receptor, promoting CD4 T cells responses and Th1 polarization³³². Although PD-L2 expression in tumors had been also associated with impaired survival, the studies are much less when compared to PD-L1. This lack of interest is usually explained by its more restricted expression. We found a significant increase in soluble PD-L2 serum levels in the TRAB>20 group of patients. Furthermore, in this group, higher expression of PD-L2 was associated with longer OS. These results lead to the necessity of more studies concerning the role of this immune checkpoint in the peripheral blood as well as confirming its possible positive prognostic value in trabectedin patients.

Two different signals activate T cells. The first signal is the binding of the MHCantigen and the antigen receptor complex with the TCR, and the second signal is the binding of the B7-CD28 and other co-stimulatory molecules³³³. The B7 family includes several co-stimulatory molecules, among them the B7-H2, also known as inducible costimulatory ligand (ICOSL). B7-H2 binds to the receptor ICOS on T cells and is responsible for an immunomodulatory function³³⁴. In the TME, high expression of B7-H2 has been associated with tumor growth and progression in glioblastoma, gastric cancer, and hematological tumors^{335–338}. Contrary, a study evaluated the B7-H2 transcription levels in peripheral blood of colon cancer patients and found its expression negatively associated with pathological features³³⁹. In our study, we found significantly higher serum levels of soluble B7-H2 in patients who had undergone more than 20 cycles of trabectedin. Moreover, in these patients, elevated levels were correlated with longer OS. These results corroborate the previous findings in colon cancer, demonstrating a different prognostic value in peripheral blood and the TME.

Some limitations of our study must be noted. First, in addition to the small total cohort, mainly due to the STS rarity, the ANTH group had an evident smaller cohort when compared to the TRAB group. This difference has to do mainly with the clear efficacy of trabectedin-based therapy, being chosen most of the time in advanced disease. Second, although the use of different histological subtypes is a well-established procedure in studies concerning STS patients, in our study a large percentage of the samples were from patients with leiomyosarcoma and therefore our results may not be representative of the whole. So, to confirm or validate our results, further research in a large sample and on specific subtypes is needed. Furthermore, there were patients with primary disease while others had metastatic or relapsed disease, and the samples were collected at various time

points in their treatment. Since the immune *status* varies with disease progression, the assessment of peripheral blood from patients with similar clinical features might provide a more accurate prognostic prediction. Lastly, the role of the most immune-related factors in STS remains unclear. Therefore, we were unable to draw firm conclusions about the observed differences between the groups and associations with the patient outcome.



6 Conclusion

In this work we aimed to assess the peripheral immunological *status* of STS patients, including immune cells, immune-related soluble factors, immune checkpoints, and immune-related genes, considering the patient therapy, trabectedin or anthracycline-based therapy. Aiming to better understand the influence of trabectedin-based therapy on the immunological *status*, we also assessed the immunological *status* of patients who had undergone long-term trabectedin and compared it with the others.

Our results demonstrated, once more, the highly heterogeneous immune contexture of STS patients, even between the patients undergoing similar treatments. When we compared the patients who had undergone anthracycline-based therapy with the patients who had undergone trabectedin-based therapy we did not find significant differences in the major immune cell populations. However, when we deepened our research to more immune cell subtypes, memory and activation *status*, we observed some significant differences between the two therapies. The same occurred when we evaluated the influence of long-term trabectedin therapy. This highlighted the importance of studies evaluating a larger range of immune cell subsets as well as their memory and activation markers.

Although studies had shown a selective effect of trabectedin for tumor-infiltrating macrophages and monocytes, we did not observe differences in the frequency of these cells. This could indicate that this effect of trabectedin may not be significant in the peripheral blood. Nevertheless, we found significant alterations mostly in the T cells, NK cells, and immune suppressive cells. On one hand, trabectedin seems to increase the levels of DN T cells, activated CD4 T cells, and CD56^{dim} NK cells. Since these cells are predominantly responsible for a potent effector activity, their increased levels might contribute to the trabectedin efficacy in STS. On the other hand, trabectedin appears to increase the levels of memory Tregs and M-MDSC, both known for their immunosuppressive role and, in some studies, correlated with patient poor outcome.

In the immune-related gene expression analysis, trabected in appears to promote the immune response against cancer cells, through the increased expression of FCGR3A, and through the decreased expression of CCL3 and CCL4, both responsible for an apparent negative role in the immunomodulation in other cancers. Moreover, trabected in therapy

also seems to decrease the levels of FGF2, which promotes tumor angiogenesis and metastasis. On the contrary, in the trabectedin group, we observed an increased expression of IL-1 β , SELL, and CXCL1, which are associated with tumor progression and metastasis.

The other objective of our study consisted in the evaluation of the impact of the immunological *status* in STS patient outcome. So, we compared the OS of STS patients with the levels of the immune factors significantly altered. This analysis demonstrated a significant correlation between the high serum levels of the soluble immune-checkpoints PD-L2 and B7-H2 and prolonged OS in the group of patients who had undergone more than 20 trabectedin cycles. These results suggest a potential role of the soluble PD-L2 and B7-H2 as biomarkers for good prognosis in long-term trabectedin therapy.

Nevertheless, concerning the study limitations, future in-depth studies should be performed to validate this work, better understand the precise effect of trabected in in the peripheral immunological *status*, and clarify the role of the peripheral immune components in predicting the outcome of STS patients.

References

- 1. Kaur BP, Secord E. Innate Immunity. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* 2019;66(5):905-911. doi:10.1016/j.pcl.2019.06.011.
- 2. Turvey SE, Broide DH. Innate immunity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*. 2010;125(2 SUPPL. 2):S24-32. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2009.07.016.
- 3. Eter P, Elves JD, Oitt VMR. The Immune System. *Adv Immunol*. 2000;343:37-49.
- 4. Veiga-Fernandes H, Freitas AA. The S(c)ensory Immune System Theory. *Trends Immunol.* 2017;38(10):777-788. doi:10.1016/j.it.2017.02.007.
- 5. Burnet FM. The Clonal Selection Theory of Acquired Immunity. *Cambridge University Press*. 1959.
- 6. Mackay IR. Autoimmunity since the 1957 clonal selection theory: a little acorn to a large oak. *Immunol Cell Biol.* 2008;86(1):67-71. doi:10.1038/sj.icb.7100135.
- 7. Jerne NK. The immune system: a web of V-domains. *Harvey Lect.* 1974;70 Series:93-110.
- 8. Medzhitov R, Schneider DS, Soares MP. Disease Tolerance as a Defense Strategy. *Science*. 2012;335(6071):936-41. doi:10.1126/science.1214935.
- 9. Pradeu T, Jaeger S, Vivier E. The speed of change: towards a discontinuity theory of immunity? *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2013;13(10):764-9. doi:10.1038/nri3521.
- 10. Yatim KM, Lakkis FG. A brief journey through the immune system. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2015;10(7):1274-1281. doi:10.2215/CJN.10031014.
- 11. Gordon S. Elie Metchnikoff: Father of natural immunity. *Eur J Immunol*. 2008;38(12):3257-3264. doi:10.1002/eji.200838855.
- 12. Jakubzick C v., Randolph GJ, Henson PM. Monocyte differentiation and antigenpresenting functions. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2017;17(6):349-362. doi:10.1038/nri.2017.28.
- 13. Hettinger J, Richards DM, Hansson J, et al. Origin of monocytes and macrophages in a committed progenitor. *Nat Immunol.* 2013;14(8):821-30. doi:10.1038/ni.2638.
- 14. Olingy CE, Dinh HQ, Hedrick CC. Monocyte heterogeneity and functions in cancer. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2019;106(2):309-322. doi:10.1002/JLB.4RI0818-311R.
- 15. Shi C, Pamer EG. Monocyte recruitment during infection and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2011;11(11):762-74. doi:10.1038/nri3070.
- 16. Ziegler-Heitbrock L, Ancuta P, Crowe S, et al. Nomenclature of monocytes and dendritic cells in blood. *Blood*. 2010;116(16):e74-80. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-02-258558.

- 17. Passlick B, Flieger D, Ziegler-Heitbrock H. Identification and characterization of a novel monocyte subpopulation in human peripheral blood. *Blood*. 1989;74(7):2527-34. doi:10.1182/blood.V74.7.2527.2527.
- 18. Patel AA, Zhang Y, Fullerton JN, et al. The fate and lifespan of human monocyte subsets in steady state and systemic inflammation. *J Exp Med*. 2017;214(7):1913-1923. doi:10.1084/jem.20170355.
- 19. Satoh T, Nakagawa K, Sugihara F, et al. Identification of an atypical monocyte and committed progenitor involved in fibrosis. *Nature*. 2017;541(7635):96-101. doi:10.1038/nature20611.
- 20. Qian B-Z, Li J, Zhang H, et al. CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis. *Nature*. 2011;475(7355):222-5. doi:10.1038/nature10138.
- 21. Hanna RN, Cekic C, Sag D, et al. Patrolling monocytes control tumor metastasis to the lung. *Science*. 2015;350(6263):985-90. doi:10.1126/science.aac9407.
- 22. Engblom C, Pfirschke C, Pittet MJ. The role of myeloid cells in cancer therapies. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2016;16(7):447-62. doi:10.1038/nrc.2016.54.
- 23. Serbina N v, Pamer EG. Monocyte emigration from bone marrow during bacterial infection requires signals mediated by chemokine receptor CCR2. *Nat Immunol*. 2006;7(3):311-7. doi:10.1038/ni1309.
- 24. Griffith TS, Wiley SR, Kubin MZ, Sedger LM, Maliszewski CR, Fanger NA. Monocyte-mediated Tumoricidal Activity via the Tumor Necrosis Factor–related Cytokine, TRAIL. *J Exp Med.* 1999;189(8):1343-54. doi:10.1084/jem.189.8.1343.
- 25. Yeap WH, Wong KL, Shimasaki N, et al. CD16 is indispensable for antibodydependent cellular cytotoxicity by human monocytes. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6(1):34310. doi:10.1038/srep34310.
- 26. Hartwig T, Montinaro A, von Karstedt S, et al. The TRAIL-Induced Cancer Secretome Promotes a Tumor-Supportive Immune Microenvironment via CCR2. *Mol Cell*. 2017;65(4):730-742. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2017.01.021.
- 27. Jaiswal S, Jamieson CHM, Pang WW, et al. CD47 Is Upregulated on Circulating Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Leukemia Cells to Avoid Phagocytosis. *Cell*. 2009;138(2):271-85. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.046.
- Auffray C, Fogg D, Garfa M, et al. Monitoring of Blood Vessels and Tissues by a Population of Monocytes with Patrolling Behavior. *Science*. 2007;317(5838):666-70. doi:10.1126/science.1142883.
- 29. Divangahi M, King IL, Pernet E. Alveolar macrophages and type I IFN in airway homeostasis and immunity. *Trends Immunol.* 2015;36(5):307-14. doi:10.1016/j.it.2015.03.005.
- 30. Stefater JA, Ren S, Lang RA, Duffield JS. Metchnikoff's policemen: macrophages in development, homeostasis and regeneration. *Trends Mol Med*. 2011;17(12):743-52. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2011.07.009.
- 31. Sica A, Erreni M, Allavena P, Porta C. Macrophage polarization in pathology. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2015;72(21):4111-26. doi:10.1007/s00018-015-1995-y.
- 32. Wynn TA, Chawla A, Pollard JW. Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease. *Nature*. 2013;496(7446):445-55. doi:10.1038/nature12034.
- 33. Epelman S, Lavine KJ, Randolph GJ. Origin and Functions of Tissue Macrophages. *Immunity*. 2014;41(1):21-35. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.013.
- 34. Davies LC, Jenkins SJ, Allen JE, Taylor PR. Tissue-resident macrophages. *Nat Immunol.* 2013;14(10):986-95. doi:10.1038/ni.2705.
- Hashimoto D, Chow A, Noizat C, et al. Tissue-Resident Macrophages Self-Maintain Locally throughout Adult Life with Minimal Contribution from Circulating Monocytes. *Immunity*. 2013;38(4):792-804. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.004.
- 36. Sica A, Mantovani A. Macrophage plasticity and polarization: in vivo veritas. *J Clin Invest*. 2012;122(3):787-95. doi:10.1172/JCI59643.
- 37. Shapouri-Moghaddam A, Mohammadian S, Vazini H, et al. Macrophage plasticity, polarization, and function in health and disease. *J Cell Physiol*. 2018;233(9):6425-6440. doi:10.1002/jcp.26429.
- 38. Collin M, Bigley V. Human dendritic cell subsets: an update. *Immunology*. 2018;154(1):3-20. doi:10.1111/imm.12888.
- Patente TA, Pinho MP, Oliveira AA, Evangelista GCM, Bergami-Santos PC, Barbuto JAM. Human Dendritic Cells: Their Heterogeneity and Clinical Application Potential in Cancer Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* 2019;9:3176. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.03176.
- 40. Yates SF, Paterson AM, Nolan KF, et al. Induction of Regulatory T Cells and Dominant Tolerance by Dendritic Cells Incapable of Full Activation. *J Immunol*. 2007;179(2):967-76. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.2.967.
- 41. Idoyaga J, Fiorese C, Zbytnuik L, et al. Specialized role of migratory dendritic cells in peripheral tolerance induction. *J Clin Invest.* 2013;123(2):844-54. doi:10.1172/JCI65260.
- 42. Manicassamy S, Pulendran B. Dendritic cell control of tolerogenic responses. *Immunol Rev.* 2011;241(1):206-27. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01015.x.
- 43. Albert ML, Sauter B, Bhardwaj N. Dendritic cells acquire antigen from apoptotic cells and induce class I-restricted CTLs. *Nature*. 1998;392(6671):86-9. doi:10.1038/32183.
- 44. Wilson NS, El-Sukkari D, Villadangos JA. Dendritic cells constitutively present self antigens in their immature state in vivo and regulate antigen presentation by controlling the rates of MHC class II synthesis and endocytosis. *Blood*. 2004;103(6):2187-95. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-08-2729.

- 45. Rescigno M, Granucci F, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P. Molecular events of bacterialinduced maturation of dendritic cells. *J Clin Immunol*. 2000;20(3):161-6 doi:10.1023/A:1006629328178.
- 46. Sallusto F, Cella M, Danieli C, Lanzavecchia A. Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentrate macromolecules in the major histocompatibility complex class II compartment: downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. *J Exp Med.* 1995;182(2):389-400. doi:10.1084/jem.182.2.389.
- 47. Steinman RM, Swanson J. The endocytic activity of dendritic cells. *J Exp Med*. 1995;182(2):283-8. doi:10.1084/jem.182.2.283.
- 48. Worbs T, Hammerschmidt SI, Förster R. Dendritic cell migration in health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2017;17(1):30-48. doi:10.1038/nri.2016.116.
- 49. Friedl P, Gunzer M. Interaction of T cells with APCs: the serial encounter model. *Trends Immunol.* 2001;22(4):187-91. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(01)01869-5.
- 50. Hemmi H, Akira S. TLR Signalling and the Function of Dendritic Cells. *Chem Immunol Allergy*. 2005;86:120-135. doi:10.1159/000086657.
- 51. Cerboni S, Gentili M, Manel N. Diversity of Pathogen Sensors in Dendritic Cells. *Adv Immunol.* 2013;120:211-37. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-417028-5.00008-9.
- 52. Ardouin L, Luche H, Chelbi R, et al. Broad and Largely Concordant Molecular Changes Characterize Tolerogenic and Immunogenic Dendritic Cell Maturation in Thymus and Periphery. *Immunity*. 2016;45(2):305-18. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.07.019.
- 53. O'Keeffe M, Mok WH, Radford KJ. Human dendritic cell subsets and function in health and disease. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2015;72(22):4309-25. doi:10.1007/s00018-015-2005-0.
- 54. Hermans IF, Silk JD, Gileadi U, et al. NKT Cells Enhance CD4 + and CD8 + T Cell Responses to Soluble Antigen In Vivo through Direct Interaction with Dendritic Cells. J Immunology. 2003;171(10):5140-7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.10.5140.
- 55. Macri C, Pang ES, Patton T, O'Keeffe M. Dendritic cell subsets. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* 2018;84:11-21. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.12.009
- Ziegler-Heitbrock L, Ancuta P, Crowe S, et al. Nomenclature of monocytes and dendritic cells in blood. *Blood*. 2010;116(16):e74-80. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-02-258558
- 57. MacDonald KPA, Munster DJ, Clark GJ, Dzionek A, Schmitz J, Hart DNJ. Characterization of human blood dendritic cell subsets. *Blood*. 2002;100(13):4512-20. doi:10.1182/blood-2001-11-0097.
- 58. Dzionek A, Fuchs A, Schmidt P, et al. BDCA-2, BDCA-3, and BDCA-4: Three Markers for Distinct Subsets of Dendritic Cells in Human Peripheral Blood. *J Immunol.* 2000;165(11):6037-46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.11.6037.

- Rosa F, Pires C, Zimmermannova O, Pereira C-F. Direct Reprogramming of Mouse Embryonic Fibroblasts to Conventional Type 1 Dendritic Cells by Enforced Expression of Transcription Factors. *Bio Protoc.* 2020;10(10):e3619. doi:10.21769/BioProtoc.3619
- 60. Sichien D, Lambrecht BN, Guilliams M, Scott CL. Development of conventional dendritic cells: from common bone marrow progenitors to multiple subsets in peripheral tissues. *Mucosal Immunol.* 2017;10(4):831-844. doi:10.1038/mi.2017.8.
- 61. Segura E. Review of Mouse and Human Dendritic Cell Subsets. *Methods Mol Biol.* 2016;1423:3-15. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-3606-9_1.
- Bachem A, Güttler S, Hartung E, et al. Superior antigen cross-presentation and XCR1 expression define human CD11c+CD141+ cells as homologues of mouse CD8+ dendritic cells. J Exp Med. 2010;207(6):1273-81. doi:10.1084/jem.20100348.
- 63. van der Aar AMG, Sylva-Steenland RMR, Bos JD, Kapsenberg ML, de Jong EC, Teunissen MBM. Cutting Edge: Loss of TLR2, TLR4, and TLR5 on Langerhans Cells Abolishes Bacterial Recognition. *J Immunol.* 2007;178(4):1986-90. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.4.1986.
- 64. Leal Rojas IM, Mok W-H, Pearson FE, et al. Human Blood CD1c+ Dendritic Cells Promote Th1 and Th17 Effector Function in Memory CD4+ T Cells. *Front Immunol.* 2017;8:971. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00971
- 65. Bamboat ZM, Stableford JA, Plitas G, et al. Human Liver Dendritic Cells Promote T Cell Hyporesponsiveness. *J Immunol*. 2009;182(4):1901-11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803404.
- 66. Shortman K, Sathe P, Vremec D, Naik S, O'Keeffe M. Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell Development. *Adv Immunol.* 2013;120:105-26. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-417028-5.00004-1.
- 67. Swiecki M, Colonna M. The multifaceted biology of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2015;15(8):471-85. doi:10.1038/nri3865.
- 68. Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A. The dendritic cell lineage: Ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 2013;31:563-604. doi:10.1146/annurevimmunol-020711-074950
- 69. Reizis B, Bunin A, Ghosh HS, Lewis KL, Sisirak V. Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells: Recent Progress and Open Questions. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 2011;29(1):163-83. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101345.
- Ramos RN, Chin LS, dos Santos APSA, Bergami-Santos PC, Laginha F, Barbuto JAM. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells from breast cancer patients are biased to induce CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *J Leukoc Biol.* 2012;92(3):673-82. doi:10.1189/jlb.0112048.

- 71. Toniolo PA, Liu S, Yeh JE, Ye DQ, Barbuto JAM, Frank DA. Deregulation of SOCS5 suppresses dendritic cell function in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Oncotarget*. 2016;7(29):46301-46314. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.10093.
- 72. Brown S, Hutchinson C v., Aspinall-O'Dea M, et al. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells from chronic myeloid leukaemia have abnormal maturation and cytoskeletal function that is associated with defective localisation and signalling by normal ABL1 protein. *Eur J Haematol*. 2014;93(2):96-102. doi:10.1111/ejh.12306.
- 73. Orsini G, Legitimo A, Failli A, et al. Defective Generation and Maturation of Dendritic Cells from Monocytes in Colorectal Cancer Patients during the Course of Disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2013;14(11):22022-41. doi:10.3390/ijms141122022.
- 74. Lopes AMM, Michelin MA, Murta EFC. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells from patients with cervical intraepithelial lesions. *Oncol Lett.* 2017;13(3):1456-1462. doi:10.3892/ol.2017.5595.
- 75. Kiertscher SM, Luo J, Dubinett SM, Roth MD. Tumors Promote Altered Maturation and Early Apoptosis of Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells. *J Immunol*. 2000;164(3):1269-76. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.3.1269.
- Verronèse E, Delgado A, Valladeau-Guilemond J, et al. Immune cell dysfunctions in breast cancer patients detected through whole blood multi-parametric flow cytometry assay. *OncoImmunology*. 2016;5(3):e1100791. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2015.1100791.
- 77. Orsini E, Guarini A, Chiaretti S, Mauro FR, Foa R. The Circulating Dendritic Cell Compartment in Patients with Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia Is Severely Defective and Unable to Stimulate an Effective T-Cell Response 1. *Cancer Res.* 2003;63(15):4497-506.
- Failli A, Legitimo A, Orsini G, Romanini A, Consolini R. Numerical defect of circulating dendritic cell subsets and defective dendritic cell generation from monocytes of patients with advanced melanoma. *Cancer Lett.* 2013;337(2):184-92. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2013.05.013.
- 79. Mantovani A, Cassatella MA, Costantini C, Jaillon S. Neutrophils in the activation and regulation of innate and adaptive immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2011;11(8):519-31. doi:10.1038/nri3024.
- 80. Scapini P, Cassatella MA. Social networking of human neutrophils within the immune system. *Blood*. 2014;124(5):710-9. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-03-453217.
- 81. Wang HW, Tedla N, Lloyd AR, Wakefield D, McNeil PH. Mast cell activation and migration to lymph nodes during induction of an immune response in mice. *J Clin Invest*. 1998;102(8):1617-26. doi:10.1172/JCI3704.
- 82. Sullivan BM, Liang H-E, Bando JK, et al. Genetic analysis of basophil function in vivo. *Nat Immunol.* 2011;12(6):527-35. doi:10.1038/ni.2036.
- 83. Hampton HR, Bailey J, Tomura M, Brink R, Chtanova T. Microbe-dependent lymphatic migration of neutrophils modulates lymphocyte proliferation in lymph nodes. *Nat Commun.* 2015;6(1):7139. doi:10.1038/ncomms8139.

- 84. Shi H-Z, Humbles A, Gerard C, Jin Z, Weller PF. Lymph node trafficking and antigen presentation by endobronchial eosinophils. *J Clin Invest*. 2000;105(7):945-53. doi:10.1172/JCI8945.
- 85. Hampton HR, Chtanova T. The lymph node neutrophil. *Semin Immunol*. 2016;28(2):129-36. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2016.03.008.
- 86. Kolaczkowska E, Kubes P. Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2013;13(3):159-75. doi:10.1038/nri3399.
- 87. Nathan C. Neutrophils and immunity: challenges and opportunities. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2006;6(3):173-82. doi:10.1038/nri1785.
- 88. Wen T, Rothenberg ME. The Regulatory Function of Eosinophils. *Microbiol Spectr*. 2016;4(5). doi:10.1128/microbiolspec.MCHD-0020-2015.
- 89. Ramirez GA, Yacoub M-R, Ripa M, et al. Eosinophils from Physiology to Disease: A Comprehensive Review. *BioMed Res Int.* 2018:9095275. doi:10.1155/2018/9095275.
- 90. Chusid MJ. Eosinophils: Friends or Foes? J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2018;6(5):1439-1444. doi:10.1016/j.jaip.2018.04.031.
- 91. Varricchi G, Raap U, Rivellese F, Marone G, Gibbs BF. Human mast cells and basophils-How are they similar how are they different? *Immunol Rev.* 2018;282(1):8-34. doi:10.1111/imr.12627.
- 92. Siracusa MC, Comeau MR, Artis D. New insights into basophil biology: initiators, regulators, and effectors of type 2 inflammation. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2011;1217(1):166-77. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05918.x.
- 93. Siracusa MC, Wojno EDT, Artis D. Functional Heterogeneity in the Basophil Cell Lineage. *Adv Immunol.* 2012;115:141-59. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-394299-9.00005-9.
- 94. Falcone FH, Zillikens D, Gibbs BF. The 21st century renaissance of the basophil? Current insights into its role in allergic responses and innate immunity. *Exp Dermatol.* 2006;15(11):855-64. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0625.2006.00477.x
- 95. van Beek AA, Knol EF, de Vos P, Smelt MJ, Savelkoul HFJ, van Neerven RJJ. Recent Developments in Basophil Research: Do Basophils Initiate and Perpetuate Type 2 T-Helper Cell Responses? *Int Arch Allergy Immunol*. 2013;160(1):7-17. doi:10.1159/000341633
- 96. Welle M. Development, significance, and heterogeneity of mast cells with particular regard to the mast cell-specific proteases chymase and tryptase. *J Leukoc Biol.* 1997;61(3):233-45. doi:10.1002/jlb.61.3.233.
- 97. da Silva EZM, Jamur MC, Oliver C. Mast Cell Function: a new vision of an old cell. J Histochem Cytochem. 2014;62(10):698-738. doi:10.1369/0022155414545334.
- 98. O'Brien KL, Finlay DK. Immunometabolism and natural killer cell responses. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2019;19(5):282-290. doi:10.1038/s41577-019-0139-2.

- 99. Smyth MJ, Hayakawa Y, Takeda K, Yagita H. New aspects of natural-killer-cell surveillance and therapy of cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2002;2(11):850-61. doi:10.1038/nrc928.
- Quatrini L, della Chiesa M, Sivori S, Mingari MC, Pende D, Moretta L. Human NK cells, their receptors and function. *Eur J Immunol.* 2021;51(7):1566-1579. doi:10.1002/eji.202049028.
- 101. Mandal A, Viswanathan C. Natural killer cells: In health and disease. *Hematol Oncol Stem Cell Ther*. 2015;8(2):47-55. doi:10.1016/j.hemonc.2014.11.006.
- 102. Horowitz A, Strauss-Albee DM, Leipold M, et al. Genetic and Environmental Determinants of Human NK Cell Diversity Revealed by Mass Cytometry. *Sci Transl Med.* 2013;5(208):208ra145. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3006702.
- Kärre K, Ljunggren HG, Piontek G, Kiessling R. Selective rejection of H–2deficient lymphoma variants suggests alternative immune defence strategy. *Nature*. 1986;319(6055):675-8. doi:10.1038/319675a0.
- 104.Bauer S. Activation of NK Cells and T Cells by NKG2D, a Receptor for Stress-
InducibleInducibleMICA.Science.1999;285(5428):727-9.
doi:10.1126/science.285.5428.727.
- 105. Malnati MS, Lusso P, Ciccone E, Moretta A, Moretta L, Long EO. Recognition of virus-infected cells by natural killer cell clones is controlled by polymorphic target cell elements. *J Exp Med.* 1993;178(3):961-9. doi:10.1084/jem.178.3.961.
- 106. Lanier LL, Le AM, Civin CI, Loken MR, Phillips JH. The relationship of CD16 (Leu-11) and Leu-19 (NKH-1) antigen expression on human peripheral blood NK cells and cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Immunol*. 1986;136(12):4480-6.
- 107. Caligiuri MA. Human natural killer cells. *Blood*. 2008;112(3):461-9. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-09-077438.
- 108. Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Caligiuri MA. The biology of human natural killer-cell subsets. *Trends Immunol.* 2001;22(11):633-40. doi: 10.1016/s1471-4906(01)02060-9.
- Herberman RB, Nunn ME, Holden HT, Lavrin DH. Natural cytotoxic reactivity of mouse lymphoid cells against syngeneic and allogeneic tumors. II. Characterization of effector cells. *Int J Cancer*. 1975;16(2):230-9. doi:10.1002/ijc.2910160205.
- 110. Waldhauer I, Steinle A. NK cells and cancer immunosurveillance. *Oncogene*. 2008;27(45):5932-43. doi:10.1038/onc.2008.267.
- 111. Gabrielli S, Ortolani C, del Zotto G, et al. The Memories of NK Cells: Innate-Adaptive Immune Intrinsic Crosstalk. *J Immunol Res.* 2016;2016:1376595. doi:10.1155/2016/1376595.
- 112. Sun JC, Beilke JN, Lanier LL. Adaptive immune features of natural killer cells. *Nature*. 2009;457(7229):557-61. doi:10.1038/nature07665.
- 113. Pancer Z, Cooper MD. The evolution of adaptive immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 2006;24:497-518. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.24.021605.090542.

- 114. LeBien TW, Tedder TF. B lymphocytes: how they develop and function. *Blood*. 2008;112(5):1570-80. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-02-078071.
- 115. Mitchell GF, Miller JFAP. Cell interaction in the immune response, II: the source of hemolysin-forming cells in irradiated mice given bone marrow and thymus or thoracic duct lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1968;128(4):821-37. doi:10.1084/jem.128.4.821.
- 116. Miller JFAP, Mitchell GF. Cell to cell interaction in the immune response, I: hemolysin-forming cells in neonatally thymectomized mice reconstituted with thymus or thoracic duct lymphocytes. *J Exp Med.* 1968;128(4):801-20. doi:10.1084/jem.128.4.801
- 117. Eibel H, Kraus H, Sic H, Kienzler A-K, Rizzi M. B cell Biology: An Overview. *Curr Allergy Asthma Rep.* 2014;14(5):434. doi:10.1007/s11882-014-0434-8.
- 118. Mitchison NA. T-cell–B-cell cooperation. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2004;4(4):308-12. doi:10.1038/nri1334.
- 119. Yuseff M-I, Pierobon P, Reversat A, Lennon-Duménil A-M. How B cells capture, process and present antigens: a crucial role for cell polarity. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2013;13(7):475-86. doi:10.1038/nri3469.
- 120. Nutt SL, Hodgkin PD, Tarlinton DM, Corcoran LM. The generation of antibodysecreting plasma cells. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2015;15(3):160-71. doi:10.1038/nri3795.
- 121. Yu P, Fu Y-X. Tumor-infiltrating T lymphocytes: friends or foes? *Lab Invest*. 2006;86(3):231-45. doi:10.1038/labinvest.3700389.
- 122. Golubovskaya V, Wu L. Different Subsets of T Cells, Memory, Effector Functions, and CAR-T Immunotherapy. *Cancers*. 2016;8(3):36. doi:10.3390/cancers8030036.
- 123. Kim H-J, Cantor H. CD4 T-cell Subsets and Tumor Immunity: The Helpful and the Not-so-Helpful. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2014;2(2):91-8. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0216.
- 124. Raphael I, Nalawade S, Eagar TN, Forsthuber TG. T cell subsets and their signature cytokines in autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. *Cytokine*. 2015;74(1):5-17. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2014.09.011.
- 125. Candeias SM, Gaipl US. The Immune System in Cancer Prevention, Development and Therapy. *Anticancer Agents Med Chem*. 2016;16(1):101-7. doi:10.2174/1871520615666150824153523.
- 126. Pardoll D. Cancer and Immune System: Basic Concepts and Targets for Intervention. Semin Oncol. 2015;42(4):523-38. doi:10.1053/j.seminoncol.2015.05.003
- 127. Mendes F, Domingues C, Rodrigues-Santos P, et al. The role of immune system exhaustion on cancer cell escape and anti-tumor immune induction after irradiation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2016;1865(2):168-175. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2016.02.002.

- 128. Aragon-Sanabria V, Kim GB, Dong C. From cancer immunoediting to new strategies in cancer immunotherapy: The roles of immune cells and mechanics in oncology. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2018;1092:113-138. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-95294-9_7.
- 129. Abbott M, Ustoyev Y. Cancer and the Immune System: The History and Background of Immunotherapy. *Semin Oncol Nurs*. 2019;35(5):150923. doi:10.1016/j.soncn.2019.08.002.
- 130. Abbott M, Ustoyev Y. Cancer and the Immune System: The History and Background of Immunotherapy. *Semin Oncol Nurs.* 2019;35(5):150923. doi:10.1016/j.soncn.2019.08.002.
- 131. Shepard HM, Phillips GL, Thanos CD, Feldmann M. Developments in therapy with monoclonal antibodies and related proteins. *Clin Med.* 2017;17(3):220-323. doi:10.7861/clinmedicine.17-3-220.
- 132. Bayer V. An Overview of Monoclonal Antibodies. Semin Oncol Nurs. 2019;35(5):150927. doi:10.1016/j.soncn.2019.08.006.
- 133. Song Q, Zhang C, Wu X. Therapeutic cancer vaccines: From initial findings to prospects. *Immunol Lett.* 2018;196:11-21. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2018.01.011.
- 134. Cheever MA, Higano CS. PROVENGE (Sipuleucel-T) in Prostate Cancer: The First FDA-Approved Therapeutic Cancer Vaccine. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2011;17(11):3520-6. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3126.
- 135. Wolchok J. Putting the Immunologic Brakes on Cancer. *Cell*. 2018;175(6):1452-1454. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2018.11.006.
- Wei SC, Duffy CR, Allison JP. Fundamental Mechanisms of Immune Checkpoint Blockade Therapy. *Cancer Discov.* 2018;8(9):1069-1086. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0367.
- 137. Kim JR, Moon YJ, Kwon KS, et al. Tumor infiltrating PD1-positive lymphocytes and the expression of PD-L1 predict poor prognosis of soft tissue sarcomas. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(12):e82870. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0082870.
- 138. Kim C, Kim EK, Jung H, et al. Prognostic implications of PD-L1 expression in patients with soft tissue sarcoma. *BMC Cancer*. 2016;16(1):434. doi:10.1186/s12885-016-2451-6.
- 139. Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer–immune set point. *Nature*. 2017;541(7637):321-330. doi:10.1038/nature21349.
- 140. Li X, Shao C, Shi Y, Han W. Lessons learned from the blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. *J Hematol Oncol.* 2018;11(1):31. doi:10.1186/s13045-018-0578-4.
- 141. Met Ö, Jensen KM, Chamberlain CA, Donia M, Svane IM. Principles of adoptive T cell therapy in cancer. *Semin Immunopathol.* 2019;41(1):49-58. doi:10.1007/s00281-018-0703-z.

- 142. Fewkes NM, Mackall CL. Novel Gamma-Chain Cytokines as Candidate Immune Modulators in Immune Therapies for Cancer. *Cancer J.* 2010;16(4):392-8. doi:10.1097/PPO.0b013e3181eacbc4.
- 143. Coley WB. Contribution to the knowledge of sarcoma. *Ann Surg.* 1891;14(3):199-220. doi:10.1097/00000658-189112000-00015.
- 144. Mohindra N, Agulnik M. Targeted therapy and promising novel agents for the treatment of advanced soft tissue sarcomas. *Expert Opin Investigat Drugs*. 2015;24(11):1409-18. doi:10.1517/13543784.2015.1076792.
- 145. Wisdom AJ, Mowery YM, Riedel RF, Kirsch DG. Rationale and emerging strategies for immune checkpoint blockade in soft tissue sarcoma. *Cancer*. 2018;124(19):3819-3829. doi:10.1002/cncr.31517.
- 146. Tseng WW, Somaiah N, Engleman EG. Potential for immunotherapy in soft tissue sarcoma. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. 2014;10(11):3117-24. doi:10.4161/21645515.2014.983003.
- 147. Yen CC, Chen TWW. Next frontiers in systemic therapy for soft tissue sarcoma. *Chin Clin Oncol.* 2018;7(4):43. doi:10.21037/cco.2018.08.04.
- 148. Doyle LA. Sarcoma classification: An update based on the 2013 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of Soft Tissue and Bone. *Cancer*. 2014;120(12):1763-74. doi:10.1002/cncr.28657.
- 149. Jo VY, Doyle LA. Refinements in Sarcoma Classification in the Current 2013 World Health Organization Classification of Tumours of Soft Tissue and Bone. *Surg Oncol Clin N Am.* 2016;25(4):621-43. doi:10.1016/j.soc.2016.05.001.
- Linch M, Miah AB, Thway K, Judson IR, Benson C. Systemic treatment of softtissue sarcoma - Gold standard and novel therapies. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* 2014;11(4):187-202. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.26.
- 151. Bourcier K, le Cesne A, Tselikas L, et al. Basic Knowledge in Soft Tissue Sarcoma. *CardioVasc Intervent Radiol.* 2019;42(9):1255-1261. doi:10.1007/s00270-019-02259-w.
- 152. Martín Broto J, le Cesne A, Reichardt P. The importance of treating by histological subtype in advanced soft tissue sarcoma. *Future Oncol.* 2017;13(1s):23-31. doi:10.2217/fon-2016-0500.
- 153. Smrke A, Wang Y, Simmons C. Update on Systemic Therapy for Advanced Soft-Tissue Sarcoma. *Curr Oncol.* 2020;27(Suppl 1):25-33. doi:10.3747/co.27.5475.
- 154. Carvalho C, Santos R, Cardoso S, et al. Doxorubicin: the good, the bad and the ugly effect. *Curr Med Chem.* 2009;16(25):3267-85. doi:10.2174/092986709788803312.
- 155. Varela-López A, Battino M, Navarro-Hortal MD, et al. An update on the mechanisms related to cell death and toxicity of doxorubicin and the protective role of nutrients. *Food Chem Toxicol.* 2019;134:110834. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2019.110834.

- Cuevas C, Francesch A. Development of Yondelis® (trabectedin, ET-743). A semisynthetic process solves the supply problem. *Nat Prod Rep.* 2009;26(3):322-37. doi:10.1039/b808331m.
- 157. D'Incalci M, Galmarini CM. A Review of Trabectedin (ET-743): A Unique Mechanism of Action. *Mol Cancer Ther.* 2010;9(8):2157-63. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-10-0263.
- 158. Allavena P, Signorelli M, Chieppa M, et al. Anti-inflammatory Properties of the Novel Antitumor Agent Yondelis (Trabectedin): Inhibition of Macrophage Differentiation and Cytokine Production. *Cancer Res.* 2005;65(7):2964-71. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-4037.
- 159. Germano G, Frapolli R, Simone M, et al. Antitumor and Anti-inflammatory Effects of Trabectedin on Human Myxoid Liposarcoma Cells. *Cancer Res.* 2010;70(6):2235-44. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-2335.
- 160. Ruiu R, Tarone L, Rolih V, et al. Cancer stem cell immunology and immunotherapy: Harnessing the immune system against cancer's source. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci.* 2019;164:119-188. doi:10.1016/bs.pmbts.2019.03.008.
- 161. Sousa LM, Almeida JS, Fortes-Andrade T, et al. Tumor and Peripheral Immune Status in Soft Tissue Sarcoma: Implications for Immunotherapy. *Cancers*. 2021;13(15):3885. doi:10.3390/cancers13153885.
- 162. Maki RG, Jungbluth AA, Gnjatic S, et al. A Pilot Study of Anti-CTLA4 Antibody Ipilimumab in Patients with Synovial Sarcoma. *Sarcoma*. 2013;2013:168145. doi:10.1155/2013/168145.
- 163. Ben-Ami E, Barysauskas CM, Solomon S, et al. Immunotherapy with single agent nivolumab for advanced leiomyosarcoma of the uterus: Results of a phase 2 study. *Cancer*. 2017;123(17):3285-3290. doi:10.1002/cncr.30738.
- Lachota M, Vincenti M, Winiarska M, Boye K, Zagożdżon R, Malmberg K-J. Prospects for NK Cell Therapy of Sarcoma. *Cancers*. 2020;12(12):3719. doi:10.3390/cancers12123719.
- 165. Cho D, Shook DR, Shimasaki N, Chang Y-H, Fujisaki H, Campana D. Cytotoxicity of Activated Natural Killer Cells against Pediatric Solid Tumors. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2010;16(15):3901-9. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0735.
- 166. Park TS, Groh EM, Patel K, Kerkar SP, Lee C-CR, Rosenberg SA. Expression of MAGE-A and NY-ESO-1 in Primary and Metastatic Cancers. J Immunother. 2016;39(1):1-7. doi:10.1097/CJI.00000000000101.
- 167. Endo M, de Graaff MA, Ingram DR, et al. NY-ESO-1 (CTAG1B) expression in mesenchymal tumors. *Mod Pathol.* 2015;28(4):587-95. doi:10.1038/modpathol.2014.155.
- 168. Robbins PF, Morgan RA, Feldman SA, et al. Tumor Regression in Patients With Metastatic Synovial Cell Sarcoma and Melanoma Using Genetically Engineered Lymphocytes Reactive With NY-ESO-1. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29(7):917-24. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.32.2537.

- 169. D'Angelo SP, Melchiori L, Merchant MS, et al. Antitumor Activity Associated with Prolonged Persistence of Adoptively Transferred NY-ESO-1 c259 T Cells in Synovial Sarcoma. *Cancer Discov.* 2018;8(8):944-957. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-1417.
- 170. Miwa S, Nishida H, Tanzawa Y, et al. Phase 1/2 study of immunotherapy with dendritic cells pulsed with autologous tumor lysate in patients with refractory bone and soft tissue sarcoma. *Cancer*. 2017;123(9):1576-1584. doi:10.1002/cncr.30606.
- 171. Abeshouse A, Adebamowo C, Adebamowo SN, et al. Comprehensive and Integrated Genomic Characterization of Adult Soft Tissue Sarcomas. *Cell*. 2017;171(4):950-965.e28. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.10.014.
- 172. Petitprez F, de Reyniès A, Keung EZ, et al. B cells are associated with survival and immunotherapy response in sarcoma. *Nature*. 2020;577(7791):556-560. doi:10.1038/s41586-019-1906-8.
- 173. Lee C, Jeong H, Bae Y, et al. Targeting of M2-like tumor-associated macrophages with a melittin-based pro-apoptotic peptide. *J Immunother Cancer*. 2019;7(1):147. doi:10.1186/s40425-019-0610-4.
- 174. Dancsok AR, Gao D, Lee AF, et al. Tumor-associated macrophages and macrophage-related immune checkpoint expression in sarcomas. *Oncoimmunology*. 2020;9(1):1747340. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2020.1747340.
- 175. Tsagozis P, Augsten M, Zhang Y, et al. An immunosuppressive macrophage profile attenuates the prognostic impact of CD20-positive B cells in human soft tissue sarcoma. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. 2019;68(6):927-936. doi:10.1007/s00262-019-02322-y.
- 176. Zhao X, Qu J, Sun Y, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor-associated macrophages in breast cancer: a meta-analysis of the literature. *Oncotarget*. 2017;8(18):30576-30586. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.15736.
- 177. Troiano G, Caponio VCA, Adipietro I, et al. Prognostic significance of CD68+ and CD163+ tumor associated macrophages in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Oral Oncol.* 2019;93:66-75. doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2019.04.019.
- Smolle MA, Herbsthofer L, Goda M, et al. Influence of tumor-infiltrating immune cells on local control rate, distant metastasis, and survival in patients with soft tissue sarcoma. *Oncoimmunology*. 2021;10(1):1896658. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2021.1896658.
- Lee C-H, Espinosa I, Vrijaldenhoven S, et al. Prognostic Significance of Macrophage Infiltration in Leiomyosarcomas. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2008;14(5):1423-30. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-1712.
- 180. Kostine M, Briaire-de Bruijn IH, Cleven AHG, et al. Increased infiltration of M2macrophages, T-cells and PD-L1 expression in high grade leiomyosarcomas supports immunotherapeutic strategies. *Oncoimmunology*. 2018;7(2):e1386828. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2017.1386828.

- 181. Shaul ME, Fridlender ZG. Tumour-associated neutrophils in patients with cancer. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* 2019;16(10):601-620. doi:10.1038/s41571-019-0222-4.
- 182. Ponzetta A, Carriero R, Carnevale S, et al. Neutrophils Driving Unconventional T Cells Mediate Resistance against Murine Sarcomas and Selected Human Tumors. *Cell*. 2019;178(2):346-360.e24. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2019.05.047.
- 183. Bruno TC. New predictors for immunotherapy responses sharpen our view of the tumour microenvironment. *Nature*. 2020;577(7791):474-476. doi:10.1038/d41586-019-03943-0.
- 184. Judge SJ, Darrow MA, Thorpe SW, et al. Analysis of tumor-infiltrating NK and T cells highlights IL-15 stimulation and TIGIT blockade as a combination immunotherapy strategy for soft tissue sarcomas. J Immunother Cancer. 2020;8(2):e001355. doi:10.1136/jitc-2020-001355.
- 185. Pollack SM, He Q, Yearley JH, et al. T-cell infiltration and clonality correlate with programmed cell death protein 1 and programmed death-ligand 1 expression in patients with soft tissue sarcomas. *Cancer*. 2017;123(17):3291-3304. doi:10.1002/cncr.30726
- 186. Nakajima K, Raz A. T-cell infiltration profile in musculoskeletal tumors. *J Orthop Res.* 2021;39(3):536-542. doi:10.1002/jor.24890.
- 187. Boxberg M, Steiger K, Lenze U, et al. PD-L1 and PD-1 and characterization of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in high grade sarcomas of soft tissue – prognostic implications and rationale for immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology*. 2018;7(3):e1389366. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2017.1389366.
- 188. Fujii H, Arakawa A, Utsumi D, et al. CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes at primary sites as a possible prognostic factor of cutaneous angiosarcoma. *Int J Cancer*. 2014;134(10):2393-402. doi:10.1002/ijc.28581.
- 189. Sorbye SW, Kilvaer T, Valkov A, et al. Prognostic impact of lymphocytes in soft tissue Sarcomas. *PLoS One.* 2011;6(1):e14611. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0014611.
- 190. Bi Q, Liu Y, Yuan T, et al. Predicted CD4 + T cell infiltration levels could indicate better overall survival in sarcoma patients. J Int Med Res. 2021;49(1): 300060520981539. doi:10.1177/0300060520981539.
- 191. Yi Q, Zhixin F, Yuanxiang G, et al. LAG-3 expression on tumor-infiltrating T cells in soft tissue sarcoma correlates with poor survival. *Cancer Biol Med.* 2019;16(2):331-340. doi:10.20892/j.issn.2095-3941.2018.0306.
- 192. D'Angelo SP, Shoushtari AN, Agaram NP, et al. Prevalence of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and PD-L1 expression in the soft tissue sarcoma microenvironment. *Hum Pathol.* 2015;46(3):357-65. doi:10.1016/j.humpath.2014.11.001.
- 193. Komohara Y, Takeya H, Wakigami N, et al. Positive correlation between the density of macrophages and T-cells in undifferentiated sarcoma. *Med Mol Morphol.* 2019;52(1):44-51. doi:10.1007/s00795-018-0201-3.

- 194. Keung EZ, Tsai J-W, Ali AM, et al. Analysis of the immune infiltrate in undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma of the extremity and trunk in response to radiotherapy: Rationale for combination neoadjuvant immune checkpoint inhibition and radiotherapy. *Oncoimmunology*. 2018;7(2):e1385689. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2017.1385689.
- 195. Klaver Y, Rijnders M, Oostvogels A, et al. Differential quantities of immune checkpoint-expressing CD8 T cells in soft tissue sarcoma subtypes. *J Immunother Cancer*. 2020;8(2):e000271. doi:10.1136/jitc-2019-000271.
- 196. Sharonov G v., Serebrovskaya EO, Yuzhakova D v., Britanova O v., Chudakov DM. B cells, plasma cells and antibody repertoires in the tumour microenvironment. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2020;20(5):294-307. doi:10.1038/s41577-019-0257-x.
- 197. Tseng WW, Malu S, Zhang M, et al. Analysis of the Intratumoral Adaptive Immune Response in Well Differentiated and Dedifferentiated Retroperitoneal Liposarcoma. *Sarcoma*. 2015;2015:547460. doi:10.1155/2015/547460.
- 198. Helmink BA, Reddy SM, Gao J, et al. B cells and tertiary lymphoid structures promote immunotherapy response. *Nature*. 2020;577(7791):549-555. doi:10.1038/s41586-019-1922-8.
- 199. Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, et al. Conversion of Peripheral CD4+CD25– Naive T Cells to CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells by TGF-β Induction of Transcription Factor Foxp3. J Exp Med. 2003;198(12):1875-86. doi:10.1084/jem.20030152.
- 200. Wolf AM, Wolf D, Steurer M, Gastl G, Gunsilius E, Grubeck-Loebenstein B. Increase of Regulatory T Cells in the Peripheral Blood of Cancer Patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2003;9(2):606-612.
- 201. Greten TF, Ormandy LA, Fikuart A, et al. Low-dose Cyclophosphamide Treatment Impairs Regulatory T Cells and Unmasks AFP-specific CD4+ T-cell Responses in Patients With Advanced HCC. *J Immunother*. 2010;33(2):211-8. doi:10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181bb499f.
- 202. Liu Y, Cao X. Immunosuppressive cells in tumor immune escape and metastasis. *J Mol Med.* 2016;94(5):509-22. doi:10.1007/s00109-015-1376-x.
- 203. Highfill SL, Cui Y, Giles AJ, et al. Disruption of CXCR2-Mediated MDSC Tumor Trafficking Enhances Anti-PD1 Efficacy. *Sci Transl Med.* 2014;6(237):237ra67. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3007974.
- 204. Kiss M, van Gassen S, Movahedi K, Saeys Y, Laoui D. Myeloid cell heterogeneity in cancer: not a single cell alike. *Cell Immunol.* 2018;330:188-201. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2018.02.008.
- 205. Salama P, Phillips M, Grieu F, et al. Tumor-infiltrating FOXP3+ T regulatory cells show strong prognostic significance in colorectal cancer. *J Clin Oncol*. 2009;27(2):186-92. doi:10.1200/JCO.2008.18.7229.
- 206. Que Y, Xiao W, Guan Y xiang, et al. PD-L1 expression is associated with FOXP3+ regulatory T-Cell infiltration of soft tissue sarcoma and poor patient prognosis. *J Cancer*. 2017;8(11):2018-2025. doi:10.7150/jca.18683.

- 207. Keung EZ, Burgess M, Salazar R, et al. Correlative Analyses of the SARC028 Trial Reveal an Association Between Sarcoma-Associated Immune Infiltrate and Response to Pembrolizumab. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2020;26(6):1258-1266. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-1824
- 208. Segura B, Zhang H, Bernstein LJ, Tannock IF. Cytokines and their relationship to the symptoms and outcome of cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2008;8(11):887-899. doi:10.1038/nrc2507.
- 209. Dranoff G. Cytokines in cancer pathogenesis and cancer therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2004;4(1):11-22. doi:10.1038/nrc1252
- 210. Ben-Baruch A. The multifaceted roles of chemokines in malignancy. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 2006;25(3):357-71. doi:10.1007/s10555-006-9003-5.
- 211. Witsch E, Sela M, Yarden Y. Roles for Growth Factors in Cancer Progression. *Physiology*. 2010;25(2):85-101. doi:10.1152/physiol.00045.2009.
- 212. Heaney ML, Golde DW. Soluble receptors in human disease. J Leukoc Biol. 1998;64(2):135-46. doi:10.1002/jlb.64.2.135.
- 213. Lapeyre-Prost A, Terme M, Pernot S, et al. Immunomodulatory Activity of VEGF in Cancer. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol.* 2017;330:295-342. doi:10.1016/bs.ircmb.2016.09.007.
- 214. Katoh M, Nakagama H. FGF Receptors: Cancer Biology and Therapeutics. *Med Res Rev.* 2014;34(2):280-300. doi:10.1002/med.21288.
- 215. Claesson-Welsh L, Welsh M. VEGFA and tumour angiogenesis. J Intern Med. 2013;273(2):114-27. doi:10.1111/joim.12019.
- 216. Rutkowski P, Kaminska J, Kowalska M, Ruka W, Steffen J. Cytokine serum levels in soft tissue sarcoma patients: Correlations with clinico-pathological features and prognosis. *Int J Cancer*. 2002;100(4):463-471. doi:10.1002/ijc.10496.
- 217. Graeven U, Andre N, Achilles E, Zornig C, Schmiegel W. Serum levels of vascular endothelial growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor in patients with softtissue sarcoma. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol. 1999;125(10):577-81. doi:10.1007/s004320050319.
- 218. Kusakabe H, Sakatani S, Yonebayashi K, Kiyokane K. Establishment and characterization of an epithelioid sarcoma cell line with an autocrine response to interleukin-6. *Arch Dermatol Res.* 1997;289(4):224-33. doi:10.1007/s004030050184.
- 219. Hagi T, Nakamura T, Iino T, et al. The diagnostic and prognostic value of interleukin-6 in patients with soft tissue sarcomas. *Sci Rep.* 2017;7(1):9640. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-08781-6.
- 220. Wysoczynski M, Miekus K, Jankowski K, et al. Leukemia inhibitory factor: A newly identified metastatic factor in rhabdomyosarcomas. *Cancer Res.* 2007;67(5):2131-2140. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1021.

- 221. Wysoczynski M, Shin DM, Kucia M, Ratajczak MZ. Selective upregulation of interleukin-8 by human rhabdomyosarcomas in response to hypoxia: Therapeutic implications. *Int J Cancer*. 2010;126(2):371-381. doi:10.1002/ijc.24732.
- 222. Hosoyama T, Aslam MI, Abraham J, et al. IL-4R drives dedifferentiation, mitogenesis, and metastasis in rhabdomyosarcoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2011;17(9):2757-2766. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3445
- 223. Sleijfer S, Gorlia T, Lamers C, et al. Cytokine and angiogenic factors associated with efficacy and toxicity of pazopanib in advanced soft-tissue sarcoma: An EORTC-STBSG study. Br J Cancer. 2012;107(4):639-645. doi:10.1038/bjc.2012.328.
- 224. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2012;12(4):252-264. doi:10.1038/nrc3239.
- 225. Dancsok AR, Setsu N, Gao D, et al. Expression of lymphocyte immunoregulatory biomarkers in bone and soft-tissue sarcomas. *Mod Pathol*. 2019;32(12):1772-1785. doi:10.1038/s41379-019-0312-y.
- 226. Torabi A, Amaya CN, Wians FH, Bryan BA. PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in bone and soft tissue sarcomas. *Pathology*. 2017;49(5):506-513. doi:10.1016/j.pathol.2017.05.003.
- 227. Orth MF, Buecklein VL, Kampmann E, et al. A comparative view on the expression patterns of PD-L1 and PD-1 in soft tissue sarcomas. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. 2020;69(7):1353-1362. doi:10.1007/s00262-020-02552-5.
- 228. Budczies J, Mechtersheimer G, Denkert C, et al. PD-L1 (CD274) copy number gain, expression, and immune cell infiltration as candidate predictors for response to immune checkpoint inhibitors in soft-tissue sarcoma. *Oncoimmunology*. 2017;6(3):e1279777. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2017.1279777.
- 229. Movva S, Wen W, Chen W, et al. Multi-platform profiling of over 2000 sarcomas: Identification of biomarkers and novel therapeutic targets. *Oncotarget*. 2015;6(14):12234-47. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.3498.
- 230. Nowicki TS, Akiyama R, Huang RR, et al. Infiltration of CD8 T Cells and Expression of PD-1 and PD-L1 in Synovial Sarcoma. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2017;5(2):118-126. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0148.
- 231. Cohen JE, Eleyan F, Zick A, Peretz T, Katz D. Intratumoral immune-biomarkers and mismatch repair status in leiyomyosarcoma -potential predictive markers for adjuvant treatment: a pilot study. *Oncotarget*. 2018;9(56):30847-30854. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.25747.
- 232. Paydas S, Bagir EK, Deveci MA, Gonlusen G. Clinical and prognostic significance of PD-1 and PD-L1 expression in sarcomas. *Med Oncol.* 2016;33(8):93. doi:10.1007/s12032-016-0807-z.
- 233. Yan L, Wang Z, Cui C, et al. Comprehensive immune characterization and T-cell receptor repertoire heterogeneity of retroperitoneal liposarcoma. *Cancer Sci.* 2019;110(10):3038-3048. doi:10.1111/cas.14161.

- 234. Nielsen M, Krarup-Hansen A, Hovgaard D, et al. In vitro 4-1BB stimulation promotes expansion of CD8+ tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes from various sarcoma subtypes. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. 2020;69(11):2179-2191. doi:10.1007/s00262-020-02568-x.
- 235. Wunder JS, Lee MJ, Nam J, et al. Osteosarcoma and soft-tissue sarcomas with an immune infiltrate express PD-L1: relation to clinical outcome and Th1 pathway activation. *Oncoimmunology*. 2020;9(1):1737385. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2020.1737385.
- 236. Ishihara S, Yamada Y, Iwasaki T, et al. PD L1 and IDO 1 expression in undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma: The associations with tumor infiltrating lymphocytes, dMMR and HLA class I. *Oncol Rep.* 2020;45(1):379-389. doi:10.3892/or.2020.7837.
- 237. Wang N, He YL, Pang LJ, et al. Down-regulated E-cadherin expression is associated with poor five-year overall survival in bone and soft tissue sarcoma: Results of a meta-analysis. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(3):e0121448. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0121448.
- 238. Jolly MK, Ware KE, Xu S, et al. E-Cadherin Represses Anchorage-Independent Growth in Sarcomas through Both Signaling and Mechanical Mechanisms. *Mol Cancer Res.* 2019;17(6):1391-1402. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.MCR-18-0763.
- 239. Rusakiewicz S, Perier A, Semeraro M, et al. NKp30 isoforms and NKp30 ligands are predictive biomarkers of response to imatinib mesylate in metastatic GIST patients. *Oncoimmunology*. 2017;6(1):e1137418. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2015.1137418.
- 240. Gregorio A, Corrias M v., Castriconi R, et al. Small round blue cell tumours: Diagnostic and prognostic usefulness of the expression of B7-H3 surface molecule. *Histopathology*. 2008;53(1):73-80. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2559.2008.03070.x.
- 241. Zhang F, Liu Y, Yang Y, Yang K. Development and validation of a fourteeninnate immunity-related gene pairs signature for predicting prognosis head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *BMC Cancer*. 2020;20(1):1015. doi:10.1186/s12885-020-07489-7.
- 242. Shen S, Wang G, Zhang R, et al. Development and validation of an immune geneset based Prognostic signature in ovarian cancer. *EBioMedicine*. 2019;40:318-326. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.12.054.
- 243. Shen C, Liu J, Wang J, et al. Development and validation of a prognostic immuneassociated gene signature in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Int Immunopharmacol*. 2020;81:106274. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2020.106274.
- 244. Shi X, Li R, Dong X, et al. IRGS: An immune-related gene classifier for lung adenocarcinoma prognosis. J Transl Med. 2020;18(1):55. doi:10.1186/s12967-020-02233-y.
- 245. Chen H, Chen Y, Liu H, Que Y, Zhang X, Zheng F. Integrated expression profiles analysis reveals correlations between the IL-33/ST2 axis and CD8+ T cells, regulatory T cells, and myeloid-derived suppressor cells in soft tissue sarcoma. *Front Immunol.* 2018;9:1179. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.01179.

- 246. Hu C, Chen B, Huang Z, et al. Comprehensive profiling of immune-related genes in soft tissue sarcoma patients. J Transl Med. 2020;18(1):337. doi:10.1186/s12967-020-02512-8.
- 247. Dufresne A, Lesluyes T, Ménétrier-Caux C, et al. Specific immune landscapes and immune checkpoint expressions in histotypes and molecular subtypes of sarcoma. *Oncoimmunology*. 2020;9(1):1792036. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2020.1792036.
- 248. Gu HY, Lin LL, Zhang C, Yang M, Zhong HC, Wei RX. The Potential of Five Immune-Related Prognostic Genes to Predict Survival and Response to Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors for Soft Tissue Sarcomas Based on Multi-Omic Study. *Front Oncol.* 2020;10:1317. doi:10.3389/fonc.2020.01317.
- 249. Bae JY, Choi KU, Kim A, et al. Evaluation of immune biomarker expression in high grade soft tissue sarcoma: HLA DQA1 expression as a prognostic marker. *Exp Ther Med.* 2020;20(5):107. doi:10.3892/etm.2020.9225.
- 250. Szkandera J, Gerger A, Liegl-Atzwanger B, et al. The lymphocyte/monocyte ratio predicts poor clinical outcome and improves the predictive accuracy in patients with soft tissue sarcomas. *Int J Cancer*. 2014;135(2):362-70. doi:10.1002/ijc.28677.
- 251. Mirili C, Paydas S, Guney IB, et al. Assessment of potential predictive value of peripheral blood inflammatory indexes in 26 cases with soft tissue sarcoma treated by pazopanib: A retrospective study. *Cancer Manag Res.* 2019;11:3445-3453. doi:10.2147/CMAR.S191199.
- 252. Liu G, Ke L, Sun S. Prognostic value of pretreatment neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio in patients with soft tissue sarcoma. *Medicine*. 2018;97(36):e12176. doi:10.1097/MD.00000000012176.
- 253. Li L-Q, Bai Z-H, Zhang L-H, et al. Meta-Analysis of Hematological Biomarkers as Reliable Indicators of Soft Tissue Sarcoma Prognosis. *Front Oncol.* 2020;10:30. doi:10.3389/fonc.2020.00030.
- 254. Kim Y, Kobayashi E, Suehara Y, et al. Immunological status of peripheral blood is associated with prognosis in patients with bone and soft-tissue sarcoma. *Oncol Lett.* 2021;21(3):212. doi:10.3892/ol.2021.12473.
- 255. Bücklein V, Adunka T, Mendler AN, et al. Progressive natural killer cell dysfunction associated with alterations in subset proportions and receptor expression in soft-tissue sarcoma patients. *Oncoimmunology*. 2016;5(7):e1178421. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2016.1178421.
- 256. Delahaye NF, Rusakiewicz S, Martins I, et al. Alternatively spliced NKp30 isoforms affect the prognosis of gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Nat Med.* 2011;17(6):700-7. doi:10.1038/nm.2366.
- 257. McKinnon KM. Flow cytometry: An overview. *Curr Protoc Immunol*. 2018;120:5.1.1-5.1.11. doi:10.1002/cpim.40.
- 258. Vandesompele J, de Preter K, Pattyn F, et al. Accurate normalization of real-time quantitative RT-PCR data by geometric averaging of multiple internal control

genes. Genome Biol. 2002;3(7): RESEARCH0034. doi:10.1186/gb-2002-3-7-research0034.

- 259. Skalnikova HK, Kepkova KV, Vodicka P. Luminex xMAP Assay to Quantify Cytokines in Cancer Patient Serum. *Methods Mol Biol.* 2020;2108:65-88. doi:10.1007/978-1-0716-0247-8_6.
- 260. Lu Y, Hu P, Zhou H, et al. Double-negative T Cells Inhibit Proliferation and Invasion of Human Pancreatic Cancer Cells in Co-culture. *Anticancer Res.* 2019;39(11):5911-5918. doi:10.21873/anticanres.13795.
- 261. Deniger DC, Moyes JS, Cooper LJN. Clinical Applications of Gamma Delta T Cells with Multivalent Immunity. *Front Immunol.* 2014;5:636. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00636.
- 262. D'Acquisto F, Crompton T. CD3+CD4–CD8– (double negative) T cells: Saviours or villains of the immune response? *Biochem Pharmacol*. 2011;82(4):333-40. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2011.05.019.
- 263. Merims S, Li X, Joe B, et al. Anti-leukemia effect of ex vivo expanded DNT cells from AML patients: a potential novel autologous T-cell adoptive immunotherapy. *Leukemia*. 2011;25(9):1415-22. doi:10.1038/leu.2011.99.
- 264. Yao J, Ly D, Dervovic D, et al. Human double negative T cells target lung cancer via ligand-dependent mechanisms that can be enhanced by IL-15. *J Immunother Cancer*. 2019;7(1):17. doi:10.1186/s40425-019-0507-2.
- Overgaard NH, Jung J-W, Steptoe RJ, Wells JW. CD4+/CD8+ double-positive T cells: more than just a developmental stage? *J Leukoc Biol.* 2015;97(1):31-8. doi:10.1189/jlb.1RU0814-382.
- 266. Sarrabayrouse G, Corvaisier M, Ouisse L-H, et al. Tumor-reactive CD4+CD8 $\alpha\beta$ + CD103+ $\alpha\beta$ T cells: A prevalent tumor-reactive T-cell subset in metastatic colorectal cancers. *Int J Cancer*. 2011;128(12):2923-32. doi:10.1002/ijc.25640.
- 267. Zheng B, Wang D, Qiu X, et al. Trajectory and Functional Analysis of PD-1 high CD4 + CD8 + T Cells in Hepatocellular Carcinoma by Single-Cell Cytometry and Transcriptome Sequencing. Adv Sci. 2020;7(13):200024. doi:10.1002/advs.202000224.
- 268. Borst J, Ahrends T, Bąbała N, Melief CJM, Kastenmüller W. CD4+ T cell help in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2018;18(10):635-647. doi:10.1038/s41577-018-0044-0.
- 269. Kagamu H, Kitano S, Yamaguchi O, et al. CD4+ T-cell Immunity in the Peripheral Blood Correlates with Response to Anti-PD-1 Therapy. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2020;8(3):334-344. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-19-0574.
- 270. Su S, Liao J, Liu J, et al. Blocking the recruitment of naive CD4+ T cells reverses immunosuppression in breast cancer. *Cell Res.* 2017;27(4):461-482. doi:10.1038/cr.2017.34.

- 271. Chiossone L, Dumas P-Y, Vienne M, Vivier E. Natural killer cells and other innate lymphoid cells in cancer. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2018;18(11):671-688. doi:10.1038/s41577-018-0061-z.
- Platonova S, Cherfils-Vicini J, Damotte D, et al. Profound Coordinated Alterations of Intratumoral NK Cell Phenotype and Function in Lung Carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 2011;71(16):5412-22. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4179.
- 273. Eckl J, Buchner A, Prinz PU, et al. Transcript signature predicts tissue NK cell content and defines renal cell carcinoma subgroups independent of TNM staging. *J Mol Med.* 2012;90(1):55-66. doi:10.1007/s00109-011-0806-7.
- 274. Gros A, Parkhurst MR, Tran E, et al. Prospective identification of neoantigenspecific lymphocytes in the peripheral blood of melanoma patients. *Nat Med.* 2016;22(4):433-8. doi:10.1038/nm.4051.
- 275. Mariotti FR, Petrini S, Ingegnere T, et al. PD-1 in human NK cells: evidence of cytoplasmic mRNA and protein expression. Oncoimmunology. 2019;8(3):1557030. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2018.1557030.
- 276. Kronenberg M. Toward an understanding of NKT cell biology: progress and paradoxes. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2005;23(1):877-900. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115742.
- 277. Bendelac A, Savage PB, Teyton L. The Biology of NKT Cells. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 2007;25(1):297-336. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141711.
- Peng L, Mao F, Zhao Y, et al. Altered phenotypic and functional characteristics of CD3+CD56+ NKT-like cells in human gastric cancer. *Oncotarget*. 2016;7(34):55222-55230. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.10484.
- 279. Dhodapkar M v., Geller MD, Chang DH, et al. A Reversible Defect in Natural Killer T Cell Function Characterizes the Progression of Premalignant to Malignant Multiple Myeloma. J Exp Med. 2003;197(12):1667-76. doi:10.1084/jem.20021650.
- 280. Pan K, Wang Q-J, Liu Q, et al. The phenotype of ex vivo generated cytokineinduced killer cells is associated with overall survival in patients with cancer. *Tumour Biol.* 2014;35(1):701-7. doi:10.1007/s13277-013-1096-1.
- 281. Bojarska-Junak. Natural killer-like T CD3+/CD16+CD56+ cells in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: Intracellular cytokine expression and relationship with clinical outcome. *Oncol Rep.* 2010;24(3):803-10. doi:10.3892/or_00000924.
- 282. Mitchell D, Chintala S, Dey M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cell in immunity and cancer. *J Neuroimmunol*. 2018;322:63-73. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.06.012.
- 283. Aspord C, Leccia M-T, Charles J, Plumas J. Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells Support Melanoma Progression by Promoting Th2 and Regulatory Immunity through OX40L and ICOSL. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2013;1(6):402-15. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-13-0114-T.

- 284. Labidi-Galy SI, Treilleux I, Goddard-Leon S, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells infiltrating ovarian cancer are associated with poor prognosis. *Oncoimmunology*. 2012;1(3):380-382. doi:10.4161/onci.18801.
- 285. Gousias K, von Ruecker A, Voulgari P, Simon M. Phenotypical analysis, relation to malignancy and prognostic relevance of ICOS+T regulatory and dendritic cells in patients with gliomas. *J Neuroimmunol*. 2013;264(1-2):84-90. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2013.09.001.
- 286. Hartmann E, Wollenberg B, Rothenfusser S, et al. Identification and Functional Analysis of Tumor-Infiltrating Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells in Head and Neck Cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2003;63(19):6478-87.
- 287. Zheng SG, Gray JD, Ohtsuka K, Yamagiwa S, Horwitz DA. Generation Ex Vivo of TGF-β-Producing Regulatory T Cells from CD4+ CD25- Precursors. J Immunol. 2002;169(8):4183-9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.169.8.4183.
- 288. Ghiringhelli F, Menard C, Puig PE, et al. Metronomic cyclophosphamide regimen selectively depletes CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells and restores T and NK effector functions in end stage cancer patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. 2007;56(5):641-8. doi:10.1007/s00262-006-0225-8.
- 289. Bronte V, Brandau S, Chen S-H, et al. Recommendations for myeloid-derived suppressor cell nomenclature and characterization standards. *Nat Commun*. 2016;7(1):12150. doi:10.1038/ncomms12150.
- 290. Li W, Wu K, Zhao E, et al. HMGB1 recruits myeloid derived suppressor cells to promote peritoneal dissemination of colon cancer after resection. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2013;436(2):156-61. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.04.109.
- 291. Umansky V, Sevko A, Gebhardt C, Utikal J. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in malignant melanoma. JDDG: *J Dtsch Dermatol Ges.* 2014;12(11):1021-7. doi:10.1111/ddg.12411.
- 292. Ma P, Beatty PL, McKolanis J, Brand R, Schoen RE, Finn OJ. Circulating Myeloid Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSC) That Accumulate in Premalignancy Share Phenotypic and Functional Characteristics With MDSC in Cancer. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10:1401. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.01401.
- 293. Lang S, Bruderek K, Kaspar C, et al. Clinical Relevance and Suppressive Capacity of Human Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Subsets. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2018;24(19):4834-4844. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-3726.
- 294. Santegoets SJAM, de Groot AF, Dijkgraaf EM, et al. The blood mMDSC to DC ratio is a sensitive and easy to assess independent predictive factor for epithelial ovarian cancer survival. *Oncoimmunology*. 2018;31(8):e1465166. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2018.1465166.
- 295. Okła K, Czerwonka A, Wawruszak A, et al. Clinical Relevance and Immunosuppressive Pattern of Circulating and Infiltrating Subsets of Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells (MDSCs) in Epithelial Ovarian Cancer. *Front Immunol*. 2019;10:691. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.00691.

- 296. Khan ANH, Emmons TR, Wong JT, et al. Quantification of Early-Stage Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cells in Cancer Requires Excluding Basophils. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2020;8(6):819-828. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-19-0556.
- 297. Aggen DH, Ager CR, Obradovic AZ, et al. Blocking IL1 Beta Promotes Tumor Regression and Remodeling of the Myeloid Compartment in a Renal Cell Carcinoma Model: Multidimensional Analyses. *Clin Cancer Res*. 2021;27(2):608-621. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-1610.
- 298. Chittezhath M, Dhillon MK, Lim JY, et al. Molecular Profiling Reveals a Tumor-Promoting Phenotype of Monocytes and Macrophages in Human Cancer Progression. *Immunity*. 2014;41(5):815-29. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.09.014.
- 299. Najjar YG, Rayman P, Jia X, et al. Myeloid-Derived Suppressor Cell Subset Accumulation in Renal Cell Carcinoma Parenchyma Is Associated with Intratumoral Expression of IL1β, IL8, CXCL5, and Mip-1a. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2017;23(9):2346-2355. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1823.
- 300. Kaplanov I, Carmi Y, Kornetsky R, et al. Blocking IL-1β reverses the immunosuppression in mouse breast cancer and synergizes with anti–PD-1 for tumor abrogation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2019;116(4):1361-1369. doi:10.1073/pnas.1812266115.
- 301. Herter S, Birk MC, Klein C, Gerdes C, Umana P, Bacac M. Glycoengineering of Therapeutic Antibodies Enhances Monocyte/Macrophage-Mediated Phagocytosis and Cytotoxicity. J Immunol. 2014;192(5):2252-60. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301249.
- 302. Flaherty MM, MacLachlan TK, Troutt M, et al. Nonclinical Evaluation of GMA161—An Antihuman CD16 (FcγRIII) Monoclonal Antibody for Treatment of Autoimmune Disorders in CD16 Transgenic Mice. *Toxicol Sci.* 2012;125(1):299-309. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kfr278.
- 303. Pahl JHW, Koch J, Götz J-J, et al. CD16A Activation of NK Cells Promotes NK Cell Proliferation and Memory-Like Cytotoxicity against Cancer Cells. *Cancer Immunol Res.* 2018;6(5):517-527. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0550.
- Barthel SR, Gavino JD, Descheny L, Dimitroff CJ. Targeting selectins and selectin ligands in inflammation and cancer. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*. 2007;11(11):1473-91. doi:10.1517/14728222.11.11.1473.
- 305. Qian F, Hanahan D, Weissman IL. L-selectin can facilitate metastasis to lymph nodes in a transgenic mouse model of carcinogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001;98(7):3976-81. doi:10.1073/pnas.061633698.
- 306. Witz IP. The involvement of selectins and their ligands in tumor-progression. *Immunol Lett.* 2006;104(1-2):89-93. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2005.11.008.
- 307. Tvaroška I, Selvaraj C, Koča J. Selectins—The Two Dr. Jekyll and Mr. Hyde Faces of Adhesion Molecules—A Review. *Molecules*. 2020;25(12):2835. doi:10.3390/molecules25122835.

- 308. Choudhary D, Hegde P, Voznesensky O, et al. Increased expression of L-selectin (CD62L) in high-grade urothelial carcinoma: A potential marker for metastatic disease. Urol Oncol. 2015;33(9):387.e17-27. doi:10.1016/j.urolonc.2014.12.009.
- 309. de la Fuente López M, Landskron G, Parada D, et al. The relationship between chemokines CCL2, CCL3, and CCL4 with the tumor microenvironment and tumor-associated macrophage markers in colorectal cancer. *Tumour Biol.* 2018;40(11):1010428318810059. doi:10.1177/1010428318810059.
- 310. Väyrynen JP, Kantola T, Väyrynen SA, et al. The relationships between serum cytokine levels and tumor infiltrating immune cells and their clinical significance in colorectal cancer. *Int J Cancer*. 2016;139(1):112-21. doi:10.1002/ijc.30040.
- 311. Mukaida N, Sasaki S, Baba T. CCL4 Signaling in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2020;1231:23-32. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-36667-4 3.
- 312. Lien M-Y, Tsai H-C, Chang A-C, et al. Chemokine CCL4 Induces Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor C Expression and Lymphangiogenesis by miR-195-3p in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Front Immunol.* 2018;9:412. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.00412.
- 313. Takahashi K, Sivina M, Hoellenriegel J, et al. CCL3 and CCL4 are biomarkers for B cell receptor pathway activation and prognostic serum markers in diffuse large B cell lymphoma. *Br J Haematol*. 2015;171(5):726-35. doi:10.1111/bjh.13659.
- 314. Cai D, Xu Y, Ding R, et al. Extensive serum biomarker analysis in patients with non-small-cell lung carcinoma. *Cytokine*. 2020;126:154868. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2019.154868.
- 315. Paganelli A, Garbarino F, Toto P, et al. Serological landscape of cytokines in cutaneous melanoma. *Cancer Biomark.* 2019;26(3):333-342. doi:10.3233/CBM-190370.
- 316. Aggarwal R, Ghobrial IM, Roodman GD. Chemokines in multiple myeloma. *Exp Hematol*. 2006;34(10):1289-95. doi:10.1016/j.exphem.2006.06.017.
- 317. Sivina M, Hartmann E, Kipps TJ, et al. CCL3 (MIP-1α) plasma levels and the risk for disease progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Blood*. 2011;117(5):1662-9. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-09-307249.
- 318. Li D, Zhang H, Ma L, et al. Associations between microRNA binding site SNPs in FGFs and FGFRs and the risk of non-syndromic orofacial cleft. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6(1):31054. doi:10.1038/srep31054.
- 319. Morrissey C, Corey E, Brown L, et al. Targeting the FGFR pathway in androgen receptor negative castration resistant prostate cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2017;77(13):2076-2076. doi:10.1158/1538-7445.AM2017-2076.
- 320. Moffett J, Kratz E, Florkiewicz R, Stachowiak MK. Promoter regions involved in density-dependent regulation of basic fibroblast growth factor gene expression in human astrocytic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1996;93(6):2470-5. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.6.2470.

- 321. Liu C, Guan H, Wang Y, et al. miR-195 Inhibits EMT by Targeting FGF2 in Prostate Cancer Cells. *PLoS One.* 2015;10(12):e0144073. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0144073.
- 322. Turner N, Grose R. Fibroblast growth factor signalling: from development to cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2010;10(2):116-29. doi:10.1038/nrc2780.
- 323. Li L, Zhang S, Wei L, et al. FGF2 and FGFR2 in patients with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis and lung cancer. *Oncol Lett.* 2018;16(2):2490-2494. doi:10.3892/ol.2018.8903.
- 324. Qi L, Zhou B, Chen J, et al. Significant prognostic values of differentially expressed-aberrantly methylated hub genes in breast cancer. *J Cancer*. 2019;10(26):6618-6634. doi:10.7150/jca.33433.
- 325. Ishibe T, Nakayama T, Okamoto T, et al. Disruption of Fibroblast Growth Factor Signal Pathway Inhibits the Growth of Synovial Sarcomas: Potential Application of Signal Inhibitors to Molecular Target Therapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2005;11(7):2702-12. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2057.
- 326. Zhuo C, Wu X, Li J, et al. Chemokine (C-X-C motif) ligand 1 is associated with tumor progression and poor prognosis in patients with colorectal cancer. *Biosci Rep.* 2018;38(4)BSR20180580. doi:10.1042/BSR20180580.
- 327. Strieter RM, Burdick MD, Mestas J, Gomperts B, Keane MP, Belperio JA. Cancer CXC chemokine networks and tumour angiogenesis. *Eur J Cancer*. 2006;42(6):768-78. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2006.01.006.
- 328. Do HTT, Lee CH, Cho J. Chemokines and their Receptors: Multifaceted Roles in Cancer Progression and Potential Value as Cancer Prognostic Markers. *Cancers*. 2020;12(2):287. doi:10.3390/cancers12020287.
- 329. Zhang Z, Chen Y, Jiang Y, Luo Y, Zhang H, Zhan Y. Prognostic and clinicopathological significance of CXCL1 in cancers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cancer Biol Ther.* 2019;20(11):1380-1388. doi:10.1080/15384047.2019.1647056.
- Highfill SL, Cui Y, Giles AJ, et al. Disruption of CXCR2-Mediated MDSC Tumor Trafficking Enhances Anti-PD1 Efficacy. *Sci Transl Med.* 2014;6(237):237-267. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3007974.
- 331. Dai S, Jia R, Zhang X, Fang Q, Huang L. The PD-1/PD-Ls pathway and autoimmune diseases. *Cell Immunol.* 2014;290(1):72-9. doi:10.1016/j.cellimm.2014.05.006.
- 332. Rozali EN, Hato S v., Robinson BW, Lake RA, Lesterhuis WJ. Programmed Death Ligand 2 in Cancer-Induced Immune Suppression. *Clin Dev Immunol*. 2012;2012:656340. doi:10.1155/2012/656340.
- 333. Nurieva R, Thomas S, Nguyen T, et al. T-cell tolerance or function is determined by combinatorial costimulatory signals. *EMBO J.* 2006;25(11):2623-33. doi:10.1038/sj.emboj.7601146.

- 334. Wang S, Zhu G, Chapoval AI, et al. Costimulation of T cells by B7-H2, a B7-like molecule that binds ICOS. *Blood*. 2000;96(8):2808-13. doi:10.1182/blood.V96.8.2808.
- 335. Schreiner B, Wischhusen J, Mitsdoerffer M, et al. Expression of the B7-related molecule ICOSL by human glioma cells in vitro and in vivo. *Glia*. 2003;44(3):296-301. doi:10.1002/glia.10291.
- 336. Chen X-L. In situ expression and significance of B7 costimulatory molecules within tissues of human gastric carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol*. 2003;9(6):1370-3. doi:10.3748/wjg.v9.i6.1370.
- 337. Tamura H, Dan K, Tamada K, et al. Expression of Functional B7-H2 and B7.2 Costimulatory Molecules and Their Prognostic Implications in De novo Acute Myeloid Leukemia. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2005;11(16):5708-17. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2672.
- 338. Flies DB, Chen L. Modulation of Immune Response by B7 Family Molecules in Tumor Microenvironments. *Immunol Invest.* 2006;35(3-4):395-418. doi:10.1080/08820130600755017.
- 339. Lee H, Kim JH, Yang SY, et al. Peripheral blood gene expression of B7 and CD28 family members associated with tumor progression and microscopic lymphovascular invasion in colon cancer patients. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol.* 2010;136(9):1445-52. doi:10.1007/s00432-010-0800-4.
- 340. Wang G, Guan J, Li G, et al. Effect of ORF7 of SARS-CoV-2 on the Chemotaxis of Monocytes and Neutrophils In Vitro. *Dis Markers*. 2021;2021:6803510. doi:10.1155/2021/6803510.
- 341. Fabian KPL, Chi-Sabins N, Taylor JL, Fecek R, Weinstein A, Storkus WJ. Therapeutic efficacy of combined vaccination against tumor pericyte-associated antigens DLK1 and DLK2 in mice. *Oncoimmunology*. 2017;6(3):e1290035. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2017.1290035.
- 342. Zhou X, Peng M, He Y, et al. CXC Chemokines as Therapeutic Targets and Prognostic Biomarkers in Skin Cutaneous Melanoma Microenvironment. *Front Oncol*. 2021;11:619003. doi:10.3389/fonc.2021.619003.
- 343. Yao Y, Deng Q, Song W, et al. MIF Plays a Key Role in Regulating Tissue-Specific Chondro-Osteogenic Differentiation Fate of Human Cartilage Endplate Stem Cells under Hypoxia. *Stem Cell Reports*. 2016;7(2):249-62. doi:10.1016/j.stemcr.2016.07.003.

Supplementary Material

Antibody	Conjugate	Clone	Brand	Cat#	
CD3	V450	UCHT1	BD Horizon [™]	561416	
CD3	APC-H7	SK7	BD Pharmingen [™]	560176	
CD3	PerCp-Cy5.5	HIT3a	BioLegend®	300328	
CD4	PerCp-Cy5.5	OKT4	BioLegend®	317428	
CD8	APC-H7	HIT8a	BDTM	641400	
CD11b	APC	ICRF44	BioLegend®	301310	
CD11c	PE/Cy7	B-ly6	BD Pharmingen [™]	561356	
CD14	V450	MOP9	BD Horizon [™]	560349	
CD15	PE/Cy7	HI98	BD Pharmingen [™]	560827	
CD16	APC-Cy7	3G8	BioLegend®	302018	
CD19	APC-H7	SJ2501	BD Pharmingen [™]	560177	
CD19	PerCp-Cy5.5	HIB19	BioLegend®	302230	
CD20	APC-H7	2H7	BD Pharmingen [™]	560734	
CD24	FITC	ML5	BD Pharmingen [™]	555427	
CD25	PE	M-A251	BD Pharmingen [™]	555432	
CD27	PE/Cy7	M-T271	BD Pharmingen [™]	560609	
CD33	PE	WM53	BD Pharmingen [™]	555450	
CD38	APC	HIT2	BD Pharmingen [™]	555462	
CD45	FITC	HI30	BD Pharmingen [™]	555482	
CD45RA	PE/Cy7	5H9	BD Pharmingen [™]	561216	
CD45RO	APC-H7	UCHL1	BD Pharmingen [™]	561137	
CD56	PerCp-Cy5.5	HCD56	BD Pharmingen [™]	560842	
CD56	PE	B159	BioLegend®	318306	
CD123	PerCp-Cy5.5	6H6	BioLegend®	306016	
CD127	AF647	HIL-7R-M21	BD Pharmingen [™]	558598	
CD183 (CXCR3)	PE	IC6/CXCR3	BD Pharmingen [™]	550633	
CD194 (CCR4)	PE/Cy7	IG1	BDTM	577864	
CD196 (CCR6)	PE/Cy7	11A9	BD Pharmingen [™]	560620	
CD197 (CCR7)	PE	150503	BD Pharmingen [™]	560765	
CD274 (PD-L1)	FITC	MIH1	BD Pharmingen [™]	558065	
CD279 (PD-1)	FITC	MIH4	BD Pharmingen [™]	557860	
CD279 (PD-1)	APC	MIH4	BD Pharmingen [™]	558694	
CD279 (PD-1)	PE	MIH4	BD Pharmingen [™]	557946	
HLA-DR	V500	G46-6	BD Horizon [™]	561224	
IgD	V500	IA6-2	BD Horizon [™]	561490	

Supplementary Table I | Monoclonal antibodies used for flow cytometry studies.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

GenBank NCBI PrimerBank Gene name Primer forward Primer reverse Accessior Gene ID ID or Ref. number Genes of interest ARG1 383 NM 000045 GTGGAAACTTGCATGGACAAC AATCCTGGCACATCGGGAATC 346986433c1 B3GAT1 27087 NM_018644 CCTGGCGTGGTCTACTTCG GCAGGTTGACGGCAAATCC 77695913c1 BTLA 151888 NM_001085357 CATCTTAGCAGGAGATCCCTTTG GACCCATTGTCATTAGGAAGCA 145580618c1 BTRC 8945 NM 003939 CCAGACTCTGCTTAAACCAAGAA GGGCACAATCATACTGGAAGTG 379030597c1 CCL11 6356 NM_002986 CCCCTTCAGCGACTAGAGAG TCTTGGGGTCGGCACAGAT 22538399c1 CCL2 6347 NM_002982 CAGCCAGATGCAATCAATGCC TGGAATCCTGAACCCACTTCT 4506841a1 6367 NM 002990 300360575c1 CCL22 GACGGTAACGGACGTAATCAC ATCGCCTACAGACTGCACTC CCL24 6369 NM_002991 ACATCATCCCTACGGGCTCT CTTGGGGTCGCCACAGAAC 22165426c1 CCL3 6348 NM 002983 AGTTCTCTGCATCACTTGCTG CGGCTTCGCTTGGTTAGGAA 4506843a1 NM 002984 CCL4 6351 CTGTGCTGATCCCAGTGAATC 4506845a1 TCAGTTCAGTTCCAGGTCATACA CCL7 6354 NM_006273 GACAAGAAAAACCCAAACTCCAAAG TCAAAACCCACCAAAATCCA 340 CCL8 6355 NM 005623 TGGAGAGCTACACAAGAATCACC TGGTCCAGATGCTTCATGGAA 22538815c1 **CD28** 940 NM 001243078 340545509c1 CTATTTCCCGGACCTTCTAAGCC GCGGGGGAGTCATGTTCATGTA CD27 939 NM_001242 CAGAGAGGCACTACTGGGCT CGGTATGCAAGGATCACACTG 117422442c1 CD274 29126 NM 014143 TGGCATTTGCTGAACGCATTT TGCAGCCAGGTCTAATTGTTTT 292658763c1 80381 CD276 NM 001024736 CTTGTTCGATGTTCACAGCG GCCGTAGAGCTGTCTTGGATC 341 CD3D 915 NM 001040651 ACTGGCTACCCTTCTCTCG CCGTTCCCTCTACCCATGTGA 98985800c1 CD3E 916 NM 000733 CCTCTTATCAGTTGGCGTTTGG TTCAGTGACAGGTGATCCTCA 166362733c1 CD3G 917 NM 000073 TGGCCCAGTCAATCAAAGGAA 166362738c1 CAAGTCAGAAGTACCGAACCATC CD40L TTCTCCCCG GCAAAAAGTGCTGACCCAATCA 58331233c1 TCATCGAGC 68223312c1 CD4 CTCATCCATACCACCGGATCT 365733591c1 CD48 GTGTCTGG AGTTGTTTGTAGTTCTCAGGCAG CCTCTCTACCTGCGTATCGTTTT 221554485c1 CD6 ATACACATT 93141044c1 CD96 AGGCTTCTT GGGGATGATAGACAGCAATCAG

Supplementary Table II | Primers used for the immune-related genes expression analysis.

CD3G	917	NM_000073	IUUCCCAUTCAATCAAAUUAA
CD40LG	959	NM_000074	ACATACAACCAAACTTCTCCCCG
CD47	961	NM_001777	AGAAGGTGAAACGATCATCGAGG
CD48	962	NM_001778	AGGTTGGGATTCGTGTCTGG
CD69	969	NM_001781	ATTGTCCAGGCCAATACACATT
CD96	10225	NM_198196	CAAACACAGACAGTAGGCTTCTT
CDH1	999	NM_004360	CGAGAGCTACACGTTCACGG
CSF1	1435	NM_172210	TGGCGAGCAGGAGTATCAC
CSF2	1437	NM_000758	TCCTGAACCTGAGTAGAGACAC
CSF3	1440	NM_001178147	GCTGCTTGAGCCAACTCCATA
CTLA-4	1493	NM_005214	GCCCTGCACTCTCCTGTTTTT
CX3CL1	6376	NM_002996	ACCACGGTGTGACGAAATG
CXCL1	2919	NM_001511	GCGCCCAAACCGAAGTCATA
CXCL10	3627	NM_001565	GTGGCATTCAAGGAGTACCTC
CXCL11	6373	NM_005409	GACGCTGTCTTTGCATAGGC
CXCL13	10563	NM_006419	GCTTGAGGTGTAGATGTGTCC
CXCL5	6374	NM_002994	AGCTGCGTTGCGTTTGTTTAC
CXCL9	4283	NM_002416	CCAGTAGTGAGAAAGGGTCGC
FCGR3A	2214	NM_000569	CCTCCTGTCTAGTCGGTTTGG
FGF2	2247	NM_002006	AGAAGAGCGACCCTCACATCA
GZMB	3002	NM_004131	CCCTGGGAAAACACTCACACA
HAVCR2	84868	NM_032782	CTGCTGCTACTACTTACAAGGTC
HGF	3082	NM_001010931	GCTATCGGGGTAAAGACCTACA

TGCTGCTTGTAGTGGCTGG 371502128c1 GAACGCGGTACGACACCTC 296011056c1 GGTTGCCGCACAGACTTCA 339276048c1 TGTTGATAGTGGATGAGCAAAGC 54111253c1 ATGGGGGGATGCAGGATTGAG 342 TGATGGCCTTCGATTCTGGATT 323422857c1 GGATTTAGGCATCGTTGTCCTTT 307611978c1 CCCACGGGGGCAAGATTTGAA 194733765c1 TGGCGAACACTTGCAGATTAC 41872613c1 AGGGCTTGGGGGCAAATTGTT 4505186c1 TCGAGCACCCTGTACCATTGA 24429586a1 CGGTTAGCACACACTCCTTTG 153285460c1 221625527c1 GCACAACTCAATGGTACTGTCG GCAGGGCAGATAGGCATTCT 354681988c1

58533162c1

169790842c1

166235149c1

GGGTGTCGAGGGAAAAATAGG

AGGTCTCCATCTGACTGTCAAT

CGTAGCGTACCTCTGGATTGC

HAVC

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

HLA-DRB1	3123	AJ297586	GAGCAGGTTAAACATGAGTGTCA	CTCTCCACAACCCCGTAGT	15387629a1
ICOSLG	23308	NM_015259	GCAGCCTTCGAGCTGATACTC	GTTTTCGACTCACTGGTTTGC	58331247c1
IDO1	3620	NM_002164	GCCAGCTTCGAGAAAGAGTTG	ATCCCAGAACTAGACGTGCAA	323668304c1
IFNA1	3439	NM_024013	GCCTCGCCCTTTGCTTTACT	CTGTGGGTCTCAGGGAGATCA	13128950a1
IFNG	3458	NM_000619	TCGGTAACTGACTTGAATGTCCA	TCGCTTCCCTGTTTTAGCTGC	56786137c1
IL10	3586	NM_000572	GACTTTAAGGGTTACCTGGGTTG	TCACATGCGCCTTGATGTCTG	24430216c1
IL12A	3592	NM_000882	CCTTGCACTTCTGAAGAGATTGA	ACAGGGCCATCATAAAAGAGGT	325974478c1
IL13	3596	NM_002188	CCTCATGGCGCTTTTGTTGAC	TCTGGTTCTGGGTGATGTTGA	26787977c1
IL15	3600	NM_172175	TTGGGAACCATAGATTTGTGCAG	GGGTGAACATCACTTTCCGTAT	26787986a1
IL16	3603	NM_172217	GCCGAAGACCCTTGGGTTAG	GCTGGCATTGGGCTGTAGA	289063450c1
IL17A	3605	NM_002190	TCCCACGAAATCCAGGATGC	GGATGTTCAGGTTGACCATCAC	27477085c1
IL18	3606	NM_001562	TCTTCATTGACCAAGGAAATCGG	TCCGGGGTGCATTATCTCTAC	342349317c1
IL1B	3553	NM_000576	ATGATGGCTTATTACAGTGGCAA	GTCGGAGATTCGTAGCTGGA	27894305c1
IL2	3558	M22005	TACAAGAACCCGAAACTGACTCG	ACATGAAGGTAGTCTCACTGCC	386818a1
IL20	50604	NM_018724	ATGAAAGCCTCTAGTCTTGCCT	GCCCCGTATCTCAGAAAATCC	50845426c1
IL21	59067	NM_021803	TAGAGACAAACTGTGAGTGGTCA	GGGCATGTTAGTCTGTGTTTCTG	365733583c1
IL23A	51561	NM_016584	CTCAGGGACAACAGTCAGTTC	ACAGGGCTATCAGGGAGCA	28144902c1
IL2RA	3559	NM_000417	GTGGGGACTGCTCACGTTC	CCCGCTTTTTATTCTGCGGAA	269973860c1
IL3	3562	NM_000588	CAGACAACGCCCTTGAAGACA	GCCCTGTTGAATGCCTCCA	28416914c1
IL31	386653	NM_001014336	CACGTTGCCCGTCCGTTTA	TCTTCGAGAGGGACTGTAATTCC	62122910c1
IL4	3565	NM_000589	CCAACTGCTTCCCCCTCTG	TCTGTTACGGTCAACTCGGTG	4504669a1
IL5	3567	NM_000879	TGGAGCTGCCTACGTGTATG	TTCGATGAGTAGAAAGCAGTGC	28559032c1
IL6	3569	NM_000600	ACTCACCTCTTCAGAACGAATTG	CCATCTTTGGAAGGTTCAGGTTG	224831235c1
IL7	3574	NM_000880	TTGGACTTCCTCCCCTGATCC	TCGATGCTGACCATTAGAACAC	4504677a1
IL8	3576	NM_000584	TTTTGCCAAGGAGTGCTAAAGA	AACCCTCTGCACCCAGTTTTC	10834978a1
IL9	3578	NM_000590	CTCTGTTTGGGCATTCCCTCT	GGGTATCTTGTTTGCATGGTGG	10834980a1
ITGAM	3684	NM_001145808	GCCTTGACCTTATGTCATGGG	CCTGTGCTGTAGTCGCACT	224831238c1
KLRC1	3821	NM_007328	AGCTCCATTTTAGCAACTGAACA	CAACTATCGTTACCACAGAGGC	283046824c1
KLRC2	3822	NM_002260	GCCAGCATTTTACCTTCCTCA	ACTGCACAGTTAAGTTCAGCAT	4504883a1
KLRD1	3824	NM_007334	CAGGACCCAACATAGAACTCCA	GGAAATGAAGTAACAGTTGCACC	167614494c1
KLRF1	51348	NM_016523	TACTGGGAATATCTGGAACCGT	TTGAGCCATTCTGATTGGCAT	7705573c1
LAG3	3902	NM_002286	GCGGGGGACTTCTCGCTATG	GGCTCTGAGAGATCCTGGGG	167614499c1
LAMP1	3916	NM_005561	TCTCAGTGAACTACGACACCA	AGTGTATGTCCTCTTCCAAAAGC	112380627c1
LIF	3976	NM_002309	CCAACGTGACGGACTTCCC	TACACGACTATGCGGTACAGC	380418322c1
LTA	4049	NM_000595	ATGACACCACCTGAACGTCTC	CTCTCCAGAGCAGTGAGTTCT	6806892c1
MIF	4282	NM_002415	GAACAACTCCACCTTCGCCT	CCGTTTATTTCTCCCCACCA	343
MMP1	4312	NM_002421	AAAATTACACGCCAGATTTGCC	GGTGTGACATTACTCCAGAGTTG	225543092c1
NCAM1	4684	NM_001076682	GGCATTTACAAGTGTGTGGGTTAC	TTGGCGCATTCTTGAACATGA	336285437c1
NCR1	9437	NM_001242357	TGGACCCGAAGTGATCTCG	TCCTTGAGCAGTAAGAACATGC	334358898c1
NCR2	9436	NM_004828	GGCTCTCAGGCACAATCCAAG	GCTGAAGCCTCCTTACACCA	153945781c1
NCR3	259197	NM_001145467	CCCCTGAGATTCGTACCCTG	CTCCACTCTGCACACGTAGAT	224586864c1
PDCD1	5133	NM_005018	CCAGGATGGTTCTTAGACTCCC	TTTAGCACGAAGCTCTCCGAT	167857791c1
PDCD1LDG2	80380	NM_025239	ATTGCAGCTTCACCAGATAGC	AAAGTTGCATTCCAGGGTCAC	190014604c1
PRF1	5551	NM_005041	GGCTGGACGTGACTCCTAAG	CTGGGTGGAGGCGTTGAAG	133908619c1
SELL	6402	NM_000655	ACCCAGAGGGACTTATGGAAC	GCAGAATCTTCTAGCCCTTTGC	262206314c1
SLAMF7	57823	NM_021181	ACCCTCATCTATATCCTTTGGCA	CACCAACGGAACCGACCAG	19923571c1

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

TIGIT	201633	NM_173799	TCTGCATCTATCACACCTACCC	CCACCACGATGACTGCTGT	256600227c1
TNF	7124	NM_000594	CCTCTCTCTAATCAGCCCTCTG	GAGGACCTGGGAGTAGATGAG	25952110c1
TNFRSF1B	7133	NM_001066	CGGGCCAACATGCAAAAGTC	CAGATGCGGTTCTGTTCCC	23312365c1
TNFRSF9	3604	NM_001561	AGCTGTTACAACATAGTAGCCAC	GGACAGGGACTGCAAATCTGAT	315259099c1
TNFSF10	8743	NM_001190942	TGCGTGCTGATCGTGATCTTC	GCTCGTTGGTAAAGTACACGTA	300193031c1
TNFSF12	8742	NM_003809	GAGGGGAAGGCTGTCTACCT	GAACCTGGAAGAGTCCGAAGTA	23510442c1
TNFSF13	8741	NM_172088	CTCTGCTGACCCAACAAACAG	GGAGGTGGCGTTAATGGGAAC	26051248a1
TNFSF13B	10673	NM_001145645	GGGAGCAGTCACGCCTTAC	GATCGGACAGAGGGGCTTT	325053721c1
TNFRSF8	943	NM_001243	TCCACGGAGCACACCAATAAC	ACTGAGAGCATGACATCGCTG	68348710c1
TNFSF9	8744	NM_003811	GGCTGGAGTCTACTATGTCTTCT	ACCTCGGTGAAGGGAGTCC	209954675c1
TSLP	85480	NM_138551	ATGTTCGCCATGAAAACTAAGGC	GCGACGCCACAATCCTTGTA	372466598c1
VEGFA	7422	NM_001171627	AGGGCAGAATCATCACGAAGT	AGGGTCTCGATTGGATGGCA	284172466c1
VEGFA Reference genes	7422 s	NM_001171627	AGGGCAGAATCATCACGAAGT	AGGGTCTCGATTGGATGGCA	284172466c1
VEGFA Reference genes ACTB	7422 s 60	NM_001171627	AGGGCAGAATCATCACGAAGT	AGGGTCTCGATTGGATGGCA	284172466c1 258
VEGFA Reference genes ACTB B2M	7422 s 60 567	NM_001171627 NM_001101 NM_004048	AGGGCAGAATCATCACGAAGT CTGGAACGGTGAAGGTGACA TGCTGTCTCCATGTTTGATGTATCT	AGGGTCTCGATTGGATGGCA	284172466c1 258 258
VEGFA Reference genes ACTB B2M GAPD	7422 s 60 567 2597	NM_001171627 NM_001101 NM_004048 NM_002046	AGGGCAGAATCATCACGAAGT CTGGAACGGTGAAGGTGACA TGCTGTCTCCATGTTTGATGTATCT TGCACCACCAACTGCTTAGC	AGGGTCTCGATTGGATGGCA AAGGGACTTCCTGTAACAATGCA TCTCTGCTCCCCACCTCTAAGT GGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGAG	284172466e1 258 258 258
VEGFA Reference genes ACTB B2M GAPD HMBS	7422 s 60 567 2597 3145	NM_001171627 NM_001101 NM_004048 NM_002046 NM_000190	AGGGCAGAATCATCACGAAGT CTGGAACGGTGAAGGTGACA TGCTGTCTCCATGTTTGATGTATCT TGCACCACCAACTGCTTAGC GGCAATGCGGCTGCAA	AGGGTCTCGATTGGATGGCA AAGGGACTTCCTGTAACAATGCA TCTCTGCTCCCCACCTCTAAGT GGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGAG GGGTACCCACGCGAATCAC	258 258 258 258 258 258
VEGFA Reference genes ACTB B2M GAPD HMBS HPRT1	7422 60 567 2597 3145 3251	NM_001171627 NM_001101 NM_004048 NM_002046 NM_000190 NM_000194	AGGGCAGAATCATCACGAAGT CTGGAACGGTGAAGGTGACA TGCTGTCTCCATGTTTGATGTATCT TGCACCACCAACTGCTTAGC GGCAATGCGGCTGCAA TGACACTGGCAAAACAATGCA	AGGGTCTCGATTGGATGGCA AAGGGACTTCCTGTAACAATGCA TCTCTGCTCCCCACCTCTAAGT GGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGAG GGGTACCCACGCGAATCAC GGTCCTTTTCACCAGCAAGCT	258 258 258 258 258 258 258 258
VEGFA Reference genes ACTB B2M GAPD HMBS HPRT1 RPL13A	7422 s 60 567 2597 3145 3251 23521	NM_001171627 NM_001101 NM_004048 NM_002046 NM_000190 NM_000194 NM_012423	AGGGCAGAATCATCACGAAGT CTGGAACGGTGAAGGTGACA TGCTGTCTCCATGTTTGATGTATCT TGCACCACCAACTGCTTAGC GGCAATGCGGCTGCAA TGACACTGGCAAAACAATGCA CCTGGAGGAGAAGAGGAAAGAGA	AGGGTCTCGATTGGATGGCA AAGGGACTTCCTGTAACAATGCA TCTCTGCTCCCCACCTCTAAGT GGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGAG GGGTACCCACGCGAATCAC GGTCCTTTTCACCAGCAAGCT TTGAGGACCTCTGTGTATTTGTCAA	258 258 258 258 258 258 258 258 258 258
VEGFA Reference genes ACTB B2M GAPD HMBS HPRT1 RPL13A SDHA	7422 s 60 567 2597 3145 3251 23521 6389	NM_001171627 NM_001101 NM_004048 NM_002046 NM_000190 NM_000194 NM_012423 NM_004168	AGGGCAGAATCATCACGAAGT CTGGAACGGTGAAGGTGACA TGCTGTCTCCATGTTTGATGTATCT TGCACCACCAACTGCTTAGC GGCAATGCGGCTGCAA TGACACTGGCAAAACAATGCA CCTGGAGGAGAAGAAGAGGAAAGAGA TGGGAACAAGAGGGCATCTG	AGGGTCTCGATTGGATGGCA AAGGGACTTCCTGTAACAATGCA TCTCTGCTCCCCACCTCTAAGT GGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGAG GGGTACCCACGCGAATCAC GGTCCTTTTCACCAGCAAGCT TTGAGGACCTCTGTGTATTTGTCAA CCACCACTGCATCAAATTCATG	258 258 258 258 258 258 258 258 258 258
VEGFA Reference genes ACTB B2M GAPD HMBS HPRT1 RPL13A SDHA UBC	7422 s 60 567 2597 3145 3251 23521 6389 7316	NM_001171627 NM_001101 NM_004048 NM_002046 NM_000190 NM_000194 NM_012423 NM_004168 M26880	AGGGCAGAATCATCACGAAGT CTGGAACGGTGAAGGTGACA TGCTGTCTCCATGTTTGATGTATCT TGCACCACCAACTGCTTAGC GGCAATGCGGCCTGCAA TGACACTGGCAAAACAATGCA CCTGGAAGAGAGAAAGAGGAAAGAGA TGGGAACAAGAGGGCATCTG ATTTGGGTCGCGGTTCTTG	AGGGTCTCGATTGGATGGCA AAGGGACTTCCTGTAACAATGCA TCTCTGCTCCCCACCTCTAAGT GGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGAG GGGTACCCACGCGAATCAC GGTCCTTTTCACCAGCAAGCT TTGAGGACCTCTGTGTATTTGTCAA CCACCACTGCATCAAATTCATG TGCCTTGACATTCTCGATGGT	258 258 258 258 258 258 258 258 258 258

Supplementary Table III | Analytes analyzed in ProcartaPlex Human Immune Monitoring 65-Plex Panel.

Analyte	Bead	[Std1]	LLOQ	ULOQ	Analyte	Bead	[Std1]	LLOQ	ULOQ
Analyte	Number	(pg/mL)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)	Analyte	Number	(pg/mL)	(pg/ml)	(pg/ml)
APRIL	88	452300	110	452300	IL-2R	9	397600	97	397600
BAFF	86	13000	3.17	13000	IL-3	73	112400	27	112400
BLC	29	46400	11	46400	IL-31	37	78900	19	78900
bNGF	55	22200	5.42	22200	IL-4	20	44600	11	44600
CD30	84	38600	9.42	38600	IL-5	21	29900	7.3	29900
CD40-Ligand	74	42400	10	42400	IL-6	25	58100	14	58100
ENA-78 (LIX)	82	37500	9.16	37500	IL-7	26	3100	0.76	3100
Eotaxin	33	6150	1.5	6150	IL-8	27	11700	2.86	11700
Eotaxin-2	30	15000	15	15000	IL-9	52	32600	7.96	32600
Eotaxin-3	49	6850	1.67	6850	IP-10	22	8200	2	8200
FGF-2	75	45000	11	45000	I-TAC	57	42900	10	42900
Fractalkine	59	9250	2.26	9250	LIF	15	16400	4	16400
G-CSF/CSF-3	42	52500	13	52500	MCP-1	51	10700	2.61	10700
GM-CSF	44	59700	15	59700	MCP-2	8	4150	1.01	1038
Gro-alpha/KC	61	16700	4.08	16700	MCP-3	68	16200	16	16200
HGF	46	21600	5.27	21600	M-CSF	67	57700	14	57700
IFN-alpha	48	29500	7.2	29500	MDC/CCL 22	87	56500	14	56500
IFN-gamma	43	54000	13	54000	MIF	53	3800	0.93	3800
IL-10	28	7350	1.79	7350	MIG	69	30200	7.37	30200
IL-12p70	34	26900	6.57	26900	MIP-1alpha	12	14500	3.54	3625
IL-13	35	20000	4.88	20000	MIP-1beta	47	34300	8.37	8575
IL-15	65	12000	2.93	12000	MIP-3alpha	56	39600	9.67	39600
IL-16	70	63300	15	63300	MMP-1	64	17200	4.2	17200
IL-17A	36	15800	3.86	15800	SCF	39	18900	4.61	18900
IL-18	66	39500	9.64	39500	SDF-1alpha	13	185400	45	185400
IL-1alpha	62	7100	1.73	7100	TNF-alpha	45	51600	13	51600
IL-1beta	18	25600	6.25	25600	TNF-beta	54	23600	5.76	23600
IL-2	19	30700	7.5	30700	TNF-RII	85	10700	2.61	10700
IL-20	81	58900	14	14725	TRAIL	58	13700	3.34	13700
IL-21	72	38700	9.45	38700	TSLP	80	19500	4.76	19500
IL-22	76	67700	17	67700	Tweak	97	393900	96	393900
IL-23	63	54400	13	54400	VEGF-A	78	27400	6.69	27400
IL-27	14	51700	13	51700					

ProcartaPlex	Human	Immune	Monitoring	65-Plex	Panel
I I Ocul tul lea	mannan	immune	110 micor mg	US I ICA	1 and

Supplementary Table IV | Analytes analyzed in ProcartaPlex Human Immuno-Oncology Checkpoint Panel 1, 2 and 3.

ProcartaPlex Human Immuno-Oncology							
Checkpoint Panel 1 14-Plex							
Analyte	Bead Number	[Std1] (pg/mL)	LLOQ (pg/ml)	ULOQ (pg/ml)			
BTLA	52	492500	120	492500			
GITR	57	85500	21	85500			
HVEM	36	59700	15	59700			
IDO	46	13200	3.22	13200			
LAG-3	47	43700	11	43700			
PD-1	65	30000	7.32	30000			
PD-L1	66	14500	3.54	14500			
PD-L2	67	189300	46	189300			
TIM-3	14	303700	74	303700			
CD28	15	132800	32	132800			
CD80	61	150700	37	150700			
CD137/4-1BB	26	47400	12	47400			
CD27	27	23900	5.83	23900			
CD152/CTLA4	33	34700	8.47	34700			

Panel 2 14-Plex							
Analyte	Bead Number	[Std1] (pg/mL)	LLOQ (pg/ml)	ULOQ (pg/ml)			
MICA	18	53100	13	53100			
MICB	21	30000	7.32	30000			
Nectin-2 (CD112)	29	152800	37	152800			
NT5E (CD73)	30	184800	45	184800			
PVR (CD155)	56	222500	54	222500			
Siglec-7	12	63000	62	63000			
Siglec-9	13	7600	1.86	7600			
ULBP-1	73	584700	143	584700			
ULBP-3	77	81000	79	81000			
Tactile (CD96)	35	291000	71	291000			
E-Cadherin	44	148600	36	148600			
Arginase	51	50000	12	50000			
ULBP-4	78	337100	82	337100			
Perforin	53	258700	63	258700			

ProcartaPlex Human Immuno-Oncology Checkpoint

ProcartaPlex Human Immuno-Oncology

Checkpoint Panel 3 10-Plex

Analyte	Bead Number	[Std1] (pg/mL)	LLOQ (pg/ml)	ULOQ (pg/ml)
B7-H6	42	485400	119	485400
CD134 (OX40)	55	30800	7.52	30800
CD276 (B7-H3)	72	584700	571	584700
CD47 (IAP)	74	25100	6.13	25100
CD48 (BLAST-1)	19	116400	28	116400
Galectin-9	38	9100	2.22	9100
ICOS Ligand (B7-H2)	34	37000	9.03	37000
S100A8/A9	76	249200	61	249200
TIMD-4	39	248600	61	248600
VISTA (B7-H5)	64	35400	8.64	35400

118